# Poplar as the Woody Plant Model Species for Science and Industrial Applications: Overviews, Problems and Perspectives

January 2016

Mitsuru NISHIGUCHI

# Poplar as the Woody Plant Model Species for Science and Industrial Applications: Overviews, Problems and Perspectives

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate School of Life and Environmental Sciences, the University of Tsukuba in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Biotechnology (Doctoral Program in Bioindustrial Sciences)

Mitsuru NISHIGUCHI

## Table of Contents

Table of	Contentsi
Abbrevia	tions iii
Abstract.	
Chapter 1	I Introduction
1.1	Taxonomy and distribution
1.2	Industrial applications
1.3	New industrial applications
1.4	Environmental applications
1.5	Biology of poplars 12
1.6	Biodiversity and conservation
1.7	Stress physiology
1.8	Genetics and genomics
1.9	Genetic engineering
1.10	Populus nigra
1.11	Objectives
Chapter 2	2 Elucidation of biological response to ionizing radiation in <i>Populus nigra</i> 34
2.1	Introduction
2.2	Materials and methods

2.3	Results	
2.4	Discussion	
2.5	Conclusion	
Chapter	3 An improved transformation system for <i>Populus nigra</i>	
3.1	Introduction	
3.2	Materials and methods	
3.3	Results and discussion	
3.4	Conclusion	
Chapter	4 Conclusion 68	
4.1	Conclusions and perspectives	
4.2	New plant breeding techniques (NPBT)75	
4.3	Risk assessment for transgenic poplars as living modified organisms	
4.4	The role of the poplar in science and its applications	
Acknowledgements		
References		
Publication lists		
Tables		
Figures.		

## Abbreviations

2,4-D	2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid
8-oxoG	7,8-dihydro-8-oxoguanine
BAP	6-benzylaminopurine
bp	base pairs
Cas9	CRISPR-associated protein 9
CRISPR	clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats
DDBJ	DNA Data Bank of Japan
DTT	dithiothreitol
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EGFP	enhanced green fluorescent protein
EST	expressed sequence tag
FRET	fluorescent resonance energy transfer
GFP	green fluorescent protein
GUS	β-glucuronidase
Gy	gray (the SI unit of absorbed dose)
ha	hectare (although not an SI unit, the commonly used metric unit of an
	area of land)
LEA	late embryogenesis abundant
LMO	living modified organism
MES	2-( <i>N</i> -morpholino)ethanesulfonic acid
MSBS	Murashige and Skoog basal salts

MSV	Murashige and Skoog vitamin
NCBI	National Center for Biotechnology Information
NPBT	new plant breeding techniques
NPTII	neomycin phosphotransferase II
PAR	photosynthetically active radiation
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
РНВ	poly-3-hydroxybutyrate
RIM	root-induction medium
ROS	reactive oxygen species
RT-PCR	reverse transcription PCR
RT-qPCR	reverse transcription quantitative real-time PCR
SAM	shoot apical meristem
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SIM	shoot-induction medium
TALEN	transcription activator-like effector nuclease

ZFN zinc finger nuclease

### Abstract

Poplar trees (from the genus *Populus*) have been utilized for industrial and environmental applications such as wood production, biomass feedstock, and environmental conservation and restoration throughout the ages. The practical importance and the biological properties of poplars have enhanced many fields of study such as physiology, ecology, molecular biology, genetic engineering, forestry, chemistry, wood science and environmental science. Thereby, poplars have been recognized as a woody plant model species. For the advancement of science and applications of poplars as the woody plant model species, it was thought to be important to pioneer new fields of study on poplars and develop new technologies for the study. Thus, the objectives of this study are to elucidate the biological response to ionizing radiation as an abiotic stress in *Populus nigra* and improve the transformation system for *P. nigra*.

Ionizing radiation is an environmental stress; however, little is known about its effects on poplars or the tolerance mechanism of woody plants to ionizing radiation. Therefore, in this study, we investigated the biological effects of  $\gamma$ -rays and the tolerance mechanism of *P. nigra* as a model species. Poplar plantlets irradiated with 50–100 gray (Gy) of  $\gamma$ -rays were able to survive, although growth inhibition or morphological abnormalities were observed. A total dose of 200–300 Gy of  $\gamma$ -rays killed almost all poplar samples. A high dose of  $\gamma$ -rays also inhibited the regeneration of the shoots and roots. Comet assays demonstrated that the  $\gamma$ -rays damaged the nuclear DNA of the irradiated cells. To characterize the tolerance mechanism to ionizing radiation stress, six DNA repair-related cDNAs, *PnLIG4*, *PnKU70*, *PnXRCC4*,

*PnRAD51*, *PnPCNA*, and *PnOGG1*, were isolated and structurally analyzed. The expression of *PnLIG4*, *PnKU70*, *PnXRCC4*, *PnRAD51*, and *PnPCNA* was upregulated by  $\gamma$ -irradiation in a dose-dependent manner, while *PnOGG1* was downregulated. The expression of *PnLIG4*, *PnKU70*, and *PnRAD51* was also upregulated by the treatment of a DNA cleavage agent. Accordingly, it is concluded that the gene expression of *PnLIG4*, *PnKU70*, and *PnRAD51* was directly induced by DNA strand breaks.

A highly efficient transformation system for *P. nigra* was required to further study the DNA repair-related genes that were regulated in response to ionizing radiation stress. To improve the transformation system for *P. nigra*, it was aimed to construct a new binary vector, to shorten the time required and increase the efficiency of transformation. The newly designed binary vector has 11 restriction enzyme sites for DNA cloning and demonstrated higher resistance to selective antibiotics. *P. nigra* was transformed by *Agrobacterium* harboring the new vector fused to the enhanced green fluorescent protein gene. Successful transformation was confirmed by polymerase chain reaction (PCR), fluorescence microscopy, immunoblotting, Southern blotting, and resistance to kanamycin and G418. The period of transformation was shortened to a minimum of approximately 4 months by the direct regeneration of transgenic shoots from the *Agrobacterium*-infected stems. In the co-cultivation of poplars stems and *Agrobacterium*, the addition of dithiothreitol to the medium increased the transformation efficiency by approximately 20%.

In the present study, the response and tolerance mechanisms of *P. nigra* to ionizing radiation stress were elucidated for the first time. In addition, the transformation system for *P. nigra* was effectively improved. In the future, these results may lead to the generation of useful transgenic poplars, the study of gene function,

2

applications in environmental conservation, or mutation breeding. Furthermore, the value of *P. nigra* as the woody plant model species has been enhanced by understanding radiation stress physiology as a new field of study and by the development of improved tools for genetic engineering. Poplars can thus play the key role as the model species for studying the science and technology of woody plants. In turn, it is hoped that the science and applications of poplar can contribute to the research of woody plant species, the supply of forest resources, and the conservation of the global environment.

要旨

ポプラは、木材生産やバイオマス原料、環境保護や環境修復といった産業分 野や環境分野で、長い間利用されてきた。ポプラの産業的な重要性と生物学的 な特徴が、生理学や生態学、分子生物学、遺伝子工学、林学、化学、木材科学、 環境科学など多くの研究を発展させてきた。それゆえ、ポプラは木本植物のモ デル生物種として認識されている。モデル生物種としてポプラの科学と応用を 進展させるためには、新しい研究分野を開拓すること、およびその研究に必要 な技術開発を進めることが重要と考えられた。そのため、放射線による Populus nigra (クロポプラ)の生物学的応答の解明と形質転換法の改良を研究の目的と した。

電離放射線ストレスは環境ストレスの一種である。しかし、ポプラにおける 電離放射線の影響、および木本植物における放射線ストレスの耐性機構はほと んど分かっていない。そのため、モデル生物種として P. nigra に対するガンマ線 の生物学的影響とその耐性機構を調べた。P. nigraの苗木は、50 グレイ(Gy)か ら 100Gy の高線量ガンマ線を急照射しても生き残ることができた。しかし、一 部の苗木には、成長の阻害や停止、形態的な異常が生じた。200Gy から 300Gy のガンマ線は、ほとんどの P. nigra を枯死させた。また、高線量のガンマ線は、 シュートや根の形成を阻害した。コメットアッセイ法により、ガンマ線を照射 した細胞では細胞核の損傷が生じていることが示された。電離放射線ストレス に対する耐性機構を解明するため、DNA 修復系タンパク質の6種の遺伝子、 PnLIG4、PnKU70、PnXRCC4、PnRAD51、PnPCNA、PnOGG1 の各 cDNA を P. nigra から単離し、構造を明らかにした。ガンマ線量に依存して、PnLIG4、PnKU70、 PnXRCC4、PnRAD51、PnPCNA の遺伝子発現が増加する一方で、PnOGG1 の発 現は減少することが分かった。PnLIG4、PnKU70、PnRAD51の発現は、DNAの 化学的切断処理によっても上昇することから、これらの遺伝子は DNA の切断損 傷が引き金となって発現が誘導されると結論された。

4

上記の放射線ストレスの研究を進めるため、遺伝子工学技術の進展が必要と された。P. nigra の形質転換法を改良するため、新しいベクターの構築、形質転 換にかかる期間の短縮、および形質転換効率の上昇を目指した。構築した新し いベクターは、遺伝子クローニングのための 11 の便利な制限酵素切断部位を有 し、選抜薬剤耐性を向上させることができた。この新しいベクターに緑色蛍光 タンパク質遺伝子を組み込み、アグロバクテリウム法を用いて P. nigra を形質転 換した。形質転換の成功は、PCR 法、蛍光顕微鏡観察、免疫ブロット法、サザ ンブロット法、およびカナマイシンと G418 に対する耐性で確認した。アグロバ クテリウムに感染した茎切片から、直接、遺伝子組換えシュートを再生させる ことにより、遺伝子組換えに必要な時間は最短で4か月に短縮できた。また、 アグロバクテリウム感染時に還元剤であるジチオスレイトールを添加すること により、形質転換効率を約 20%に上昇させることができた。

本研究により、P. nigra の電離放射線ストレスに対する応答と耐性機構が初め て解明された。また、形質転換法が効率的に改善された。将来的に、これらの 結果は有用な遺伝子組換えポプラの作出や、遺伝子機能の研究、環境保全への 応用、突然変異育種につなげることができる。さらに、新しい研究分野である 放射線ストレス生理学の開拓と遺伝子工学技術の進展は、木本植物のモデル生 物の一種として P. nigra の価値を高めたと考えられた。ポプラは木本植物の科学 と技術のためのモデル生物種として、鍵となる役割を果たすことができる。ポ プラの科学と応用が、木本植物の研究や森林資源の供給、地球環境の保全に貢 献することが望まれる。

5

### Chapter 1 Introduction

Poplars (also known as aspens or cottonwoods) are deciduous trees in the genus *Populus* (family Salicaceae), which consists of approximately 30 species. Poplar trees are familiar to humans and have been utilized since ancient times, appearing in Greek mythology and the Bible. They are important in industrial applications as a source of wood materials, paper, fuel, and forage. In addition, poplar trees have been utilized for the provision of preferable landscapes and farmland and in environmental conservation and restoration. These industrial, agricultural, and environmental uses of poplars have driven the investigation of their science; and improved scientific knowledge of these trees has led to them being recognized as model species for woody plants (Bradshaw et al. 2000; Taylor 2002; Jansson and Douglas 2007).

This chapter provides an overview of the science and applications of poplars. It includes a wide range of information about these trees, demonstrating why they are considered woody plant model species and are the subject of this thesis.

#### **1.1** Taxonomy and distribution

It has been proposed that the genus *Populus* consists of either 29 species (Eckenwalder 1996) or 32 species (Dickmann and Kuzovkina 2014), which are further classified into six sections (Table 1). Various hybrids of poplar exist in nature, because they have the ability to hybridize with other species from the same section or from closely related sections (Willing and Pryor 1976; Vanden Broeck et al. 2005). Artificial hybrids have also been produced for the improvement of their agronomic and industrial

traits. The International Poplar Commission (IPC) holds the International Cultivar Registration Authority (ICRA) for poplars and maintains the *Populus* Cultivar Register (Kuzovkina and Vietto 2014). A database of poplar cultivars is open to the public and available at http://www.populus.it/.

Poplar trees mostly inhabit the Northern Hemisphere, including Asia, Europe, North Africa, Russia, and North America (Dickmann and Kuzovkina 2014) (Table 1). However, poplars are planted in both the Northern and Southern Hemispheres. In 2011, the reported total area of poplars worldwide was estimated at 87.3 million ha (FAO 2012), which compares with a total forest area on Earth of 4.03 billion ha in 2010 (FAO 2010). Poplar forests mainly consist of indigenous forests, planted forests, and agroforests (Table 2). Indigenous poplar forests cover approximately 75.5 million ha, and are mostly found in Canada (30.3 million ha), the Russian Federation (24.8 million ha), the USA (17.7 million ha in 2008), and China (2.5 million ha). Planted poplar forests cover approximately 8.6 million ha and are mostly found in China (7.6 million ha), France (236,000 ha), Iran (150,000 ha), Turkey (125,000 ha), Spain (105,000 ha), and Italy (101,430 ha). The area of poplar plantations in China is increasing rapidly, because these plantations only covered 4.3 million ha in 2008 and 3.9 million ha in 2004. Planted poplar forests also occur in the Southern Hemisphere, being found in Argentina and Chile. In New Zealand, poplars are planted alongside willows (Salix spp.). In agroforestry systems, poplar trees are cultivated with herbaceous crops or livestock.

#### **1.2** Industrial applications

Poplars are used for fuel, timber, wood products, and environmental

conservation (Fig. 1). In 2011, the total amount of harvested poplar wood across the world (with the exception of Russia, China, and the USA) was 20.3 million m<sup>3</sup> (FAO 2012). The majority of this wood (17.4 million m<sup>3</sup>) originated from planted poplar forests in India (5.1 million m<sup>3</sup>), Iran (3.7 million m<sup>3</sup>), Turkey (3.5 million m<sup>3</sup>), Belgium (3.2 million m<sup>3</sup>), and Argentina (1.67 million m<sup>3</sup>), while the remaining 2.9 million m<sup>3</sup> originated from indigenous forests, mainly in Canada (2.8 million m<sup>3</sup>). In contrast, the global amount of forest products from poplar in 2011 was estimated to be at least 70.4 million m<sup>3</sup> (FAO 2012) (Table 3). Although China did not release figures for the amount of harvested poplar wood, it consumed 50 million m<sup>3</sup> of logs for the production of plywood and wood pulp. Russia and the USA have vast areas of poplar forest; however, their consumption of poplar wood has not been made publicly available.

Poplar has a number of uses in the industrial sector, including timber, veneer, plywood, wood composites, pulp, paper, chemicals, fuel, and energy. In 2011, 44 million m<sup>3</sup> of veneer and plywood, 16.6 million m<sup>3</sup> of pulp, 5.7 million m<sup>3</sup> of timber, 2.2 million m<sup>3</sup> of wood composite panels, and 1.7 million m<sup>3</sup> of fuel wood and chips were produced globally (FAO 2012) (Table 4). Poplar wood is important in the manufacture of forest products, including pulp and paper, timber, veneer and plywood, composite panels, structural composite timber, pallets, furniture components, fruit baskets, containers, and chopsticks (Balatinecz and Kretschmann 2001). Wood-based composites include various products, such as veneer, plywood, fiberboard (categorized as insulation board, medium-density fiberboard, and hardboard), particle board, oriented strandboard, wood-cement composites, wood-plastic composites, and glued timber (categorized as laminated strand lumber, paraller strand lumber, and laminated veneer lumber) (Balatinecz et al. 2014).

#### **1.3** New industrial applications

As new technologies are developed, new uses for poplar are being investigated. When used as a fuel source, poplars have traditionally been used in the form of firewood and branches. However, alternatives to fossil fuels are desired to meet increasing human demands and to mitigate global warming. One solution for this is the conversion of plant biomass to biofuels, and poplar is expected to be used as a feedstock for biofuels (Sannigrahi et al. 2010). An early experiment showed that when acid-treated hardwood of *Populus eugenii* DN34 (a hybrid of *P. deltoides*  $\times$  *P. nigra*) was saccharified and fermented with thermotolerant yeast species, ethanol was produced at a concentration of 10-14 g  $l^{-1}$  of medium (Kadam and Schmidt 1997). Since this experiment, the production of ethanol from poplar wood has continued to be refined (Negro et al. 2003; Wang et al. 2012c) and bioethanol has also been produced from the leaves of *P. nigra* (Gupta et al. 2014). Poplar trees have also been genetically modified to increase the efficiency of ethanol production. For example, transgenic P. alba that expressed Aspergillus aculeatus xyloglucanase had 10–15% higher ethanol productivity than the wild type (Kaida et al. 2009). Bioethanol productivity was also examined in the knockdown poplars of *p*-coumarate 3-hydroxylase by RNAi (reduction in lignin content) and in poplars that overexpressed ferulate 5-hydroxylase (reduction in guaiacyl lignin) (Mansfield et al. 2012). A reduction in the lignin content in P. tremula  $\times$ P. alba by the downregulation of cinnamoyl-CoA reductase improved the ethanol yield (Van Acker et al. 2014).

It is also expected that poplar will be able to be used as an ingredient for the production of bioplastics. Poly-3-hydroxybutyrate (PHB) is a biodegradable

thermoplastic material that is produced by bacteria such as *Pseudomonas oleovorans* (Anderson and Dawes 1990). PHB was successfully produced by the bacterial fermentation of a hydrolysate that was prepared from poplar wood (Dai et al. 2015). The hydrolysate, which included simple sugars, was prepared by soaking the wood in hot water at 200°C followed by treatment with lignocellulolytic enzymes. Mixed bacteria were then cultured in a bioreactor, using the hydrolysate as a carbon source. This resulted in the bacterial cells accumulating a maximum of 0.32 g of PHB per gram of bacteria (dry weight). An attempt has also been made to directly produce PHB in poplar plants by developing transgenic hybrid poplars (*P. tremula* × *P. alba*) that expressed three bacterial genes for PHB synthesis (Dalton et al. 2011). These transgenic poplars contained 1–2% (dry weight) PHB in their leaves, with the PHB granules being detected in the chloroplasts. The direct production of PHB in poplars could be less expensive than bacterial PHB production, which requires additional energy.

Phytochemicals from poplars are also expected to be utilized and commercialized in the future (Devappa et al. 2015). Poplars contain more than 160 types of chemicals, which have a number of useful functions, including pesticidal, antimicrobial, antioxidant, and anticancer properties. Although the wood of poplars is well utilized, the other parts are not. However, the value of bark, leaves, branches, and other residues including phytochemicals may be appreciated in the near future.

#### **1.4 Environmental applications**

Poplars are planted not only for wood production but also for environmental purposes (Fig. 1). For example, poplars are used as windbreaks and shelterbelts in Europe, North America, Russia, Chile, Argentina, northern India, and northern China (Isebrands et al. 2014). In China, the Three North Shelterbelt Program (the Green Great Wall), which started in 1978, has established a putative 20 million ha of tree plantations, including *P. simonii* in 1991 (Carle and Ma 2005), although this poplar planting had low genetic diversity and was attacked by insect pests and diseases. Since then, the improvement of poplar has been actively advanced to enhance its vigor, disease resistance, and stress tolerance.

Poplars are often utilized for the prevention of soil erosion by water or wind, as they are able to stabilize large amounts of soil due to their extensive root systems. For example, in New Zealand, which is a mountainous country that experiences heavy rainfall over short periods of time leading to soil erosion, over 2 million poplars were planted for erosion control during the 1960s and 1970s (Wilkinson 1999); and the Three North Shelterbelt Program in China aims to prevent soil erosion as a result of strong wind.

Native poplar forests are thought to be valuable for the original landscape in their natural habitats. Furthermore, both native and planted poplar forests contribute to the maintenance of biological diversity, carbon sequestration, and the supply of ecosystem services (Rotach 2004; Kuhn et al. 2011; Isebrands et al. 2014).

Poplars are also considered to be suitable for phytoremediation (defined as the use of green plants to remove, contain, or render harmless environmental contaminants (Cunningham and Berti 1993)) because of their rapid growth, perennial habit, and deeper root systems than herbaceous plants, and therefore, this has been the subject of several studies (Yadav et al. 2010; Marmiroli et al. 2011). It has also been recently suggested that parasitism by endophytes are involved in the tolerance of poplars to pollutants. Novel endophytes were isolated from poplar trees and were able to degrade

11

organic pollutants such as benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, xylene, and trichloroethylene (Moore et al. 2006; Taghavi et al. 2011; Van Aken et al. 2011; Kang et al. 2012). Furthermore, *P. trichocarpa* × *P. deltoides* trees that were inoculated with the endophyte *Burkholderia cepacia*, which normally parasitizes herbaceous yellow lupin (*Lupinus luteus*), exhibited a higher tolerance to toluene than non-inoculated poplars (Taghavi et al. 2005).

It is also intended that poplars will be used as biomonitors. The concentrations of trace elements in the leaves of *P. alba* are correlated with the levels of Cd, Zn, Mn, and Cu in surface soils and Cd, Zn, As, and Cu in deep soils (Madejon et al. 2004); and the concentrations of heavy metals in the bark of *P. nigra* have been investigated using neutron activation analysis to monitor the levels of air pollution (Berlizov et al. 2007). Chromosomal aberrations at the anaphase stage and the sterility of pollen in *P. simonii* were also attempted to be used as an indicator for assessing the levels of pollution in an urban area (Sluchyk et al. 2014). A technique that combines genetic engineering and a new technology, namely fluorescent resonance energy transfer (FRET), was recently invented for monitoring the levels of Zn in poplar (Adams et al. 2012). FRET is a fluorescent indicator that can be used to monitor the concentration of chemicals in a living cell. A FRET construct that was fused to the Zn transporter from *P. trichocarpa* was introduced into *P. tremula* × *P. alba*, following which the transgenic poplar leaves were treated with 1–10 mM Zn. The intracellular level of Zn was then detected as a change in the FRET fluorescence spectrum.

#### **1.5 Biology of poplars**

The biological properties of poplars are not only important for industry but are

also of interest as a model for other woody plant species (Table 5). The fast growth of poplars is one of the reasons they are frequently used in plantation forests. Poplars have very high growth rates in industrial plantations (Stanturf and Oosten 2014). For instance, an experiment with *P. trichocarpa*  $\times$  *P. deltoides* yielded 15.6–27.8 Mg dry weight ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> (Heilman and Stettler 1985). The rotation length in plantation forests varies depending on the purpose of production and the environmental conditions. For example, the rotation length is 12–15 years for log and veneer production in the western USA but a minimum of 2–3 years for a bioenergy system (Stanturf and Oosten 2014). The growth of poplar trees directly contributes to the production of woody biomass; therefore, poplar cultivars with higher growth potential have been produced through selective breeding and crossbreeding.

The ability of poplars to propagate vegetatively is useful in plantations. Vegetative (asexual) reproduction occurs naturally from crown breakage and treefall (Braatne et al. 1996). The broken branches become buried in the soil and then develop roots and shoots after a certain period of time. Any remaining tree stumps and roots are also able to produce adventitious shoots, and root suckers are formed under natural conditions. It is particularly easy to root cuttings from poplars belonging to sections *Aigeiros* and *Tacamahaca*; therefore, plantations of poplars outside these sections are less common globally (Dickmann and Kuzovkina 2014).

The major species of poplars can be artificially crossed (sexual reproduction) for breeding. Most poplar species are dioecious, but *P. lasiocarpa* is usually monoecious (Boes and Strauss 1994). The length of the juvenile stage, from germination to flowering, varies from 5 years to >10 years between species. In the reproductive stage, poplars bloom in early spring and have catkins (inflorescences) with many solitary

13

flowers. Poplars are wind-pollinated plants; therefore, their pollen can travel long distances. Following pollination and fructification, small seeds with hair-like cotton or silk are dispersed by the wind. The seeds of poplars are short lived and rapidly lose their germination ability (Popova et al. 2013). Intraspecific or interspecific crossing can be performed in some poplar species; however, self-fertilization is impossible due to the dioecism.

There is some controversy regarding sex determination in poplars. Chromosome 19 is responsible for sex determination, which occurs via a ZW system whereby the female is the heterogametic gender (Yin et al. 2008). In *P. tremula*  $\times$  *P.* tremuloides, the sex trait was mapped on a non-terminal position of the linkage group 19 on the male map (Pakull et al. 2009). Three putative transcription factor genes and four genes that were potentially involved in flower development were identified in this region in P. trichocarpa (Kersten et al. 2014), and a male-specific gene from the DNA pools of P. tremula and P. tremuloides accorded with one of these candidate genes (Pakull et al. 2015). This candidate gene corresponded to Potri.019G047300 (TOZ19) in trichocarpa and was homologous to Р. the Arabidopsis thaliana gene TORMOZEMBRYO DEFECTIVE (TOZ), which is involved in early embryo development and in meristem transition from the vegetative to reproductive phase in the early stages of flower development. Potri.019G047300 and Potri.014G155300 showed higher levels of expression in male *P. tremula* than in females (Robinson et al. 2014).

#### **1.6 Biodiversity and conservation**

Some native populations of poplar are threatened with extinction. One of the reasons for this is habitat destruction as a result of human activities such as agriculture,

14

deforestation, and urbanization. In addition, hybrid poplars compete with native poplars. Poplars have a high ability to cross with other *Populus* species to generate interspecific hybrids both naturally and artificially. Many hybrid poplars grow faster than native species. For example, the productivity of an indigenous *P. nigra* was lower than that of an interspecific hybrid (*P. maximowiczii*  $\times$  *P. trichocarpa*) under unfavorable soil and climate conditions but statistically no different under marginal or favorable conditions in the Czech Republic (Benetka et al. 2014).

Genetically, pure *P. nigra* trees have been in danger of extinction in Europe (Lefèvre et al. 1998; Smulders et al. 2008; Vanden Broeck et al. 2012); therefore, activities for their conservation and management are being continued by the European Forest Genetic Resources Programme (EUFORGEN) *Populus nigra* Network among European countries (Lefèvre et al. 2001; Koskela et al. 2004). To preserve the diversity of natural *Populus* species, the short- and long-term storage of seeds is being attempted. Seeds of *P. alba* × *Populus glandulosa* (*P. tremula* var. *glandulosa*) exhibited a high germination rate and the normal proportion of seedlings when stored at 5°C for 7–10 weeks (Popova et al. 2013), and the same seeds were also successfully cryopreserved in liquid nitrogen.

#### 1.7 Stress physiology

Higher plants such as poplars generally cannot move freely. These plants are exposed to a number of environmental stresses in their habitat through their lives; however, most are able to avoid the effects of these via stress response and tolerance mechanisms. Environmental stresses can mostly be divided into two groups: abiotic and biotic. Abiotic stresses includes physical, chemical, and meteorological stresses, such as light (intensity, spectrum, and time), temperature, humidity, hypoxia, gravity, ionizing radiation, gases, chemicals, salinity, nutrients and metals in the soil, and wind. In contrast, biotic stresses originate from living organisms and ecosystems in the plant's surroundings, including pests, herbivores, fungal and bacterial pathogens, parasites, and allelopathic organisms. The harmful effects of both abiotic and biotic stresses on woody plants can result in growth retardation, low productivity of timber, unsuitable quality of the wood, increased forestry costs, deterioration of biodiversity, and forest degradation. Therefore, it is extremely important that the various effects of environmental stresses and woody plant defense mechanisms are elucidated, as increased knowledge about stress physiology in woody plants will enable their defense mechanisms to be enhanced or utilized to better control any stress effects.

Many physiological studies of stress responses have been conducted in poplars. For instance, salinity stress as a result of a 0.5% NaCl solution affects growth, photosynthesis, stomatal resistance, leaf water potential, and leaf area in various poplar clones (Fung et al. 1998), while treatment with 100 mM NaCl reduced the height growth, photosynthetic rate, and stomatal conductance in *P. nigra* and *P. alba* (Mao et al. 2010). It has also been shown that salinity stress changes the cell wall composition through the induction of the genes involved in tension wood formation in *P. × canescens* (a hybrid clone of *P. alba × P. tremula*) and *P. euphratica* (Janz et al. 2012). The concentration of Na<sup>+</sup>, K<sup>+</sup>, and other ions and solutes has also been comprehensively investigated in *P. euphratica* under saline conditions (Zeng et al. 2009).

Different genotypes of P. × *euramericana* (P. *deltoides* × P. *nigra*) were also found to have different levels of productivity under drought conditions (Monclus et al. 2006), and chilling stress altered the soluble carbohydrate content and protein

expression in *P. tremula*  $\times$  *P. tremuloides* (Renaut et al. 2004). In addition, elevated CO<sub>2</sub> enhanced growth in *P. tremula*  $\times$  *P. alba*, while ozone exposure decreased it (Richet et al. 2012). Low nitrogen levels have also been shown to increase the growth of roots and the number of lateral roots in poplars (Wei et al. 2013), while cadmium caused leaf chlorosis, inhibited growth, and changed the expression of proteins (Marmiroli et al. 2013). For a more detailed review of the effects of abiotic stresses and the tolerance of poplars to these stresses, see Chen and Polle (2010), Harfouche et al. (2014), and Marron et al. (2014).

Frequently, poplars are eaten by herbivores or affected by disease. The main insects that harm poplars and their distributions, types of damage, and control methods are listed in de Tillesse et al. (2007) and Charles et al. (2014). Several studies have investigated the defense systems that poplars use to prevent these insects from causing serious damage. One such study showed that the expression of the *Win3* gene from *P. trichocarpa*  $\times$  *P. deltoides* was systemically induced by wounding (Bradshaw et al. 1990). The predicted Win3 protein is similar to Kunitz-type trypsin inhibitors, which have insecticidal and antifungal activity (Haq et al. 2004; Huang et al. 2010). Furthermore, wounding in *P. tremuloides* increased the number of transcripts of a dihydroflavonol reductase and thus, the concentration of condensed tannins, which are important for defense against herbivory (Peters and Constabel 2002). It has also been reported that *P. nigra* trees that were attacked by a herbivorous gypsy moth produced volatile compounds that attracted parasitic bees as parasitoids (Clavijo McCormick et al. 2014).

Poplars also become infected by many pathogenic fungi and bacteria (Anselmi 2009; Ostry et al. 2014), and specific elicitors derived from these pathogens are known

to initiate their defense system. For example, transcripts that code for 14-3-3 proteins in *P. trichocarpa*  $\times$  *P. deltoides* were induced by chitosan, which is a constituent of fungal cell walls (Lapointe et al. 2001). Several elicitors from pathogenic fungi and bacteria also activated mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) in *P. trichocarpa*  $\times$  *P. deltoides* (Hamel et al. 2005). Furthermore, rust disease, which is caused by pathogenic fungi and is the most important disease in poplars, induces oxidative stress, and has been shown to activate antioxidant enzymes (Zhang et al. 2010), as well as affecting carbohydrate metabolism, photosynthesis, and respiration (Major et al. 2010).

Comprehensive genetic resources are useful for investigating the stress physiology of poplars. Full-length cDNA libraries from poplars have been constructed for annotation and isolation of the genes involved in responses to abiotic stresses (Nanjo et al. 2004; Nanjo et al. 2007) and to insect herbivory (Ralph et al. 2006; Ralph et al. 2008). Stress-related small non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs), or microRNAs (miRNAs), have also been identified. The expression of small RNAs is regulated by mechanical, cold, heat, salt, and dehydration stresses in *P. trichocarpa* (Lu et al. 2005; Lu et al. 2008; Shuai et al. 2013), by UV-B stress in *P. tremula* (Jia et al. 2009), by a fungal pathogen stress in *P. cathayana* × *P. nigra* (Chen et al. 2012), and by salt stress in *P. euphratica* (Li et al. 2013a; Si et al. 2014). In addition, long intergenic non-coding RNAs (lincRNAs) of more than 200 base pairs (bp) in length were newly isolated from *P. trichocarpa* under drought stress, while six lincRNAs were upregulated following a drought treatment (Shuai et al. 2014). Therefore, in addition to the mRNAs that encode stress-related proteins, these non-coding RNAs probably play important roles in stress responses in poplars.

Advances in comprehensive analysis methods such as DNA microarray

analysis and next-generation sequencing technologies have allowed genome-wide transcriptome analysis to be performed to elucidate the stress response mechanisms in poplars. The first such study was conducted using a DNA microarray that consisted of 315 cDNAs to investigate salt stress and recovery in P. euphratica (Gu et al. 2004). Once the P. trichocarpa genome had been sequenced (Tuskan et al. 2006), a whole-genome array could be used to elucidate various stress responses in poplars, including defense mechanisms against a rust fungus in P. trichocarpa  $\times$  P. deltoides (Rinaldi et al. 2007), changes in gene expression in response to aluminum stress in P. tremula roots (Grisel et al. 2010), the comparison of two hybrid genotypes (P. deltoides  $\times$  *P. nigra*) with different drought tolerances (Cohen et al. 2010), gene regulation in the leaves of P. × euramericana that were subjected to excess zinc (Di Baccio et al. 2011), and drought and salt stress in *P. alba*  $\times$  *P. glandulos*a (Yoon et al. 2014). More recently, RNA-Seq by next-generation sequencing was used to investigate the salt stress response (Qiu et al. 2011), cold and chilling stress (Chen et al. 2014b), heat shock stress (Chen et al. 2014c), and rust infection response (Petre et al. 2012) in poplars. Genome-wide analysis can be used to examine the changes in several hundred to thousand genes as a result of environmental stress at a given time. All of this information is extremely valuable for elucidating the stress response and tolerance mechanisms in poplars.

#### **1.8** Genetics and genomics

Genetics and genomics have accelerated the development of model organisms for scientific studies. Poplars usually have two sets of 19 chromosomes (2n = 38) in the nucleus. However, triploid or tetraploid plants have occasionally been found (Smith 1943; Mock et al. 2012), and polyploidy can be artificially induced by crossbreeding (Bradshaw and Stettler 1993), colchicine treatment (Cai and Kang 2011), and high temperatures (Wang et al. 2012a). The segregation of many restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP), sequence-tagged site (STS), and random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) markers was used to develop a genetic map for *P. trichocarpa*  $\times$  *P. deltoides*, which resulted in the identification of 19 linkage groups (Bradshaw et al. 1994), indicating that the poplar genome consisted of 19 pairs of chromosomes. The genome size of poplars was also estimated to be approximately 1.2 pg (= 2C) in *P. deltoides* and 1.4 pg in *P. trichocarpa* (Bradshaw and Stettler 1993), which were relatively small in plants (Garcia et al. 2014). Recently, the 2C values of *P. trichocarpa* and *P. nigra* were reported to be 1.0 pg and 1.1 pg, respectively (Bennett and Leitch 2011).

The elucidation of the gene function in poplars began with a study on two wound-responsive genes from *P. trichocarpa*  $\times$  *P. deltoides* in the late 1980s (Parsons et al. 1989). Since then, many genes involved in wood and cell wall formation, biotic and abiotic stress responses, flowering, metabolism, and transcription have been isolated from various poplars using protein sequences or homologous genes from other species of plants, animals, and microorganisms. Analysis of the isolated genes was accelerated by the development of genetic engineering for *Populus* species. Furthermore, progress in automatic DNA sequencing made the high-speed reading of many genes possible. For instance, the cDNA from the cambium of *P. tremula*  $\times$  *P. tremuloides* and from the xylem of *P. trichocarpa* were analyzed, resulting in 5,692 expressed sequence tags (ESTs) being obtained (Sterky et al. 1998). Additional ESTs were then obtained to investigate leaf senescence (Bhalerao et al. 2003), the root system (Kohler et al. 2003), organs and tissues (Déjardin et al. 2004; Sterky et al. 2004), wound defense

(Christopher et al. 2004), and stress tolerance (Brosché et al. 2005). The full-length cDNA library was utilized not only for the collection of ESTs but also for the annotation of genes (Nanjo et al. 2004; Ralph et al. 2006; Nanjo et al. 2007; Ralph et al. 2008). The number of poplar ESTs registered in public databases has continued to increase, with the number of EST sequences in the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) increasing from 376,565 in August 2006 (Jansson and Douglas 2007) to 422,517 in August 2015.

In 2006, the genome of *P. trichocarpa* was revealed for the first time in woody plants (Tuskan et al. 2006). This was the third analysis of a genome in Spermatophyta, continuing on from work on *A. thaliana* (Arabidopsis Genome Initiative 2000) and rice (*Oryza sativa*) (Goff et al. 2002; Yu et al. 2002). The genome size of *P. trichocarpa* was initially estimated to be approximately 485 Mbp, and 45,555 protein-coding loci were identified. In addition, the chloroplast genome was estimated to be 157 kbp in length, including 101 genes, and the mitochondrial genome was estimated to be 803 kbp including 52 genes. The accuracy of genome sequencing and gene annotation have been gradually improved, and the latest version of the *P. trichocarpa* genome is open to the public through the Phytozome project (http://phytozome.jgi.doe.g.,ov/pz/portal.html). The assembled genome is approximately 423 Mbp, and 41,335 protein-coding loci and 73,013 protein-coding RNAs, including splicing variants, have been identified. The genome sequence of *P. euphratica* was also recently reported (Ma et al. 2013) and 34,279 protein-coding genes were predicted in this genome. Approximately 94% of these could be annotated using public databases.

The genome sequencing of *P. trichocarpa* enabled genome-wide comparative analyses to be conducted. Computational analyses and transcriptomics have been

vigorously conducted for the following specific gene families in *P. trichocarpa*, *A. thaliana*, *O. sativa*, as well as other plant species: protease family (García-Lorenzo et al. 2006), major intrinsic proteins including aquaporins (Gupta and Sankararamakrishnan 2009), CCCH zinc finger proteins (Chai et al. 2012), homeodomain-leucine zipper proteins (Hu et al. 2012), late embryogenesis abundant (LEA) proteins (Lan et al. 2013), leucine-rich repeat receptor-like protein kinases (Zan et al. 2013), WRKY transcription factors (Jiang et al. 2014a), and C2H2 zinc-finger transcription factors (Liu et al. 2015).

The genomics of poplars is progressing together with other areas in the omics field of study, including transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics. It is expected that the knowledge obtained from these studies will help provide us with a better understanding of the biology of poplars, which can then be applied to their breeding, conservation of their biological diversity, and the development of new industrial applications. Two commendable books have recently been published on the genomics of poplars (Jansson et al. 2010; Joshi et al. 2011).

#### **1.9** Genetic engineering

Poplar was the first woody plant to be successfully genetically transformed. Stems of the hybrid *P. trichocarpa*  $\times$  *P. deltoides* that had been infected with *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* were demonstrated to form tumors producing *Agrobacterium* strain-specific opines and containing T-DNA sequences (Parsons et al. 1986). Over the next year, transgenic shoots were successfully regenerated using *Agrobacterium rhizogenes* in *P. trichocarpa*  $\times$  *P. deltoides* (Pythoud et al. 1987) and *A. tumefaciens* in *P. alba*  $\times$  *P. grandidentata* (Fillatti et al. 1987). Since then, *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation has been applied to and advanced in other *Populus* species and hybrids, including *P. nigra* (Confalonieri et al. 1994), *P. tomentosa* (*P. alba* × *P. adenopoda*) (Wang et al. 1990), and *P. tremula* × *P. tremuloides* (Nilsson et al. 1992). The neomycin phosphotransferase II (*NPTII*) gene and kanamycin were initially used as the selectable marker and antibiotic, respectively, for the selection of transgenic poplar plants. Subsequently, several combinations of the phosphinothricin acetyltransferase (*bar*) gene and phosphinothricin (glufosinate) (De Block 1990), the hygromycin phosphotransferase (*HPT*) gene and hygromycin (Nilsson et al. 1992), and the mutant acetolactate synthase (*crsl-1*) gene and chlorsulfuron (Brasileiro et al. 1992) have also been utilized. Furthermore, marker-free transgenic *P. sieboldii* × *P. grandidentata* were generated using the isopentenyl transferase (*ipt*) gene and the *Ac* transposable element (Ebinuma et al. 1997).

A direct gene transfer method that does not use *Agrobacterium* has also been studied. Electric discharge particle acceleration was used to introduce a Cry toxin from *Bacillus thuringiensis* into a hybrid poplar (*P. alba*  $\times$  *P. grandidentata*), conferring pest resistance on the transgenic plants (McCown et al. 1991). Microprojectile DNA delivery by helium gas was also used to transform suspension-cultured cells of *P. nigra*  $\times$  *P. maximowiczii* (Devantier et al. 1993). Electroporation of the protoplast of *P. tremula*  $\times$  *P. alba* produced stable transgenic trees (Chupeau et al. 1994), and was also used for the transient expression of a foreign gene in *P. alba* protoplasts (Qiao et al. 1997). The microprojectile DNA delivery system was also used for the transformation of *P. alba* plastids, enabling the spectinomycin resistance gene and green fluorescent protein (*GFP*) gene to be integrated into the plastid genome (Okumura et al. 2006). However, these direct gene transfer systems are no longer greatly used due to the development of the *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation system. There are two main purposes of genetic engineering in poplar: to elucidate the function of the genes that are involved in various biological processes and to develop new, improved trees with excellent properties. Gene-specific overexpression (sense) and suppression (antisense and RNAi) techniques are often used to investigate gene functions in poplar. The modification of one particular gene sometimes confers multiple new traits, and in some cases, the genes from other plant species, animals or microorganisms are exploited in the development of useful transgenic poplars with new traits. Many types of transgenic poplar plants have been generated till date, information about which can be obtained from a number of comprehensive reviews (Busov et al. 2005; Ye et al. 2011; Dubouzet et al. 2013; Polle et al. 2013) and books (Klopfenstein et al. 1997; Fladung and Ewald 2006).

Wood formation is a typical property of woody plants, and therefore, the modification of wood properties is one of the main topics of interest for genetic engineering. Wood consists of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin, the synthesis and degradation of which are regulated by a number of enzymes. The pulp and paper industries desire a high cellulose content and low hemicellulose and lignin contents. One study showed that the downregulation of 4-coumarate:CoA ligase in *P. tremuloides* not only led to a 45% reduction in lignin but also a 9–15% increase in the cellulose content and enhanced growth (Hu et al. 1999). However, other studies reported that the reduction of 4-coumarate:CoA ligase by another distinct promoter did not lead to growth enhancement in transgenic poplars (Li et al. 2003; Voelker et al. 2010). When the *Arabidopsis* ferulate 5-hydroxylase (*F5H*) gene was introduced into *P. tremula* × *P. alba*, the resulting transgenic poplars showed a remarkable reduction in guaiacyl lignin (Franke et al. 2000). It has also been shown that transgenic *P. alba* expressing *A.* 

*aculeatus* xyloglucanase contained 10% more cellulose than the wild type (Park et al. 2004) and that the overexpression of cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum*) sucrose synthase in *P. alba*  $\times$  *P. grandidentata* increased the cellulose content by 2–6% (Coleman et al. 2009).

It is convenient to be able to artificially control morphogenesis and flowering in trees for forestry. For example, an increased number of branches is desirable to increase the leaf area and thus biomass production. It has been shown that *P. tremula*  $\times$  *P.* alba that overexpress the sweet chestnut (*Castanea sativa*) RAV1 gene exhibit the early formation of sylleptic branches (Moreno-Cortés et al. 2012). Some flowering-regulated genes have also been found in A. thaliana, mediating the analysis of many flowering mutants, and homologs of these flowering genes exist in poplars. The constitutive expression of the Arabidopsis LEAFY (LFY) gene in P. tremula  $\times$  P. tremuloides produced solitary lateral and terminal flowers on 5-month-old shoots (Weigel and Nilsson 1995), and male P. trichocarpa that overexpressed PtFT1 (P. trichocarpa FLOWERING LOCUS T homolog) produced normal flowers (inflorescences) with normal pollen within a year (Böhlenius et al. 2006). However, the overexpression of *PTLF* (*P. trichocarpa LFY* homolog) in *P. tremula*  $\times$  *P. tremuloides* was not particularly successful in promoting early flowering (Rottmann et al. 2000). Recently, an early flowering male P. tremula that had been transformed with the Arabidopsis FT (AtFT) gene was successfully crossed with a wild type female P. tremula, and approximately half of the F1 seedlings possessed AtFT (Hoenicka et al. 2014). This demonstrates that the juvenile phase of poplar can be shortened through genetic engineering and that the introduced foreign gene can be eliminated by crossing.

Abiotic and biotic stresses reduce the biomass of trees and, in extreme cases, may destroy the forest. Therefore, trees that are tolerant to a range of stresses have been bred, and genetic engineering provided the opportunity for the rapid breeding of such stress-tolerant trees. For example, the overexpression of a TaLEA gene from Tamarix androssowii in P. simonii  $\times$  P. nigra enhanced salt and drought tolerance (Gao et al. 2013); and Populus davidiana (P. tremula var. davidiana)  $\times$  Populus bolleana (P. alba var. *pyramidalis*) that overexpressed the type I proton pyrophosphatase gene produced 18-27% more fresh shoot mass than the wild type in the presence of 150 mM NaCl and showed a superior survival rate after the salt treatment (Yang et al. 2015). Transgenic P. tomentosa with introduced Arabidopsis homeodomain-START transcription factor, AtEDT1/HDG11 (ENHANCED DROUGHT TOLERANCE1/HOMEODOMAIN GLABROUS11), also exhibited significantly enhanced salt and drought stress tolerance (Yu et al. 2015). In addition, a synthetic antimicrobial peptide, D4E1, was expressed in P. tremula  $\times$  P. alba, conferring resistance to two bacterial pathogens, A. tumefaciens and Xanthomonas populi (Mentag et al. 2003).

Transgenic poplars that are tolerant to organic pollutants or heavy metals are believed to be more useful for phytoremediation. The hybrid *P. tremula* × *P. alba* with overexpressed  $\gamma$ -glutamylcysteine synthetase from *Escherichia coli* produced higher levels of glutathione, exhibited enhanced tolerance to chloroacetanilide herbicides, and accumulated more Cd in the root tissue than wild type plants (Gullner et al. 2001; Koprivova et al. 2002). In addition, transgenic *P. deltoides* expressing a modified mercuric ion reductase gene (*merA9* or *merA18*) were able to grow in the soil containing 400 ppm Hg<sup>2+</sup>, whereas the wild-type shoots died (Che et al. 2003); and *P. deltoides* that expressed both *merA9* and *merA18* were able to detoxify phenylmercury acetate (Lyyra et al. 2007). Furthermore, yeast cadmium factor 1 from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* conferred tolerance to high levels of As, Zn, Pb, and Cd in *P. alba* × *P.*  *tremula*, and the transgenic poplars had increased levels of Cd in their upper shoots and Cd, Zn, and Pb in their roots (Shim et al. 2013).

Genetic transformation has been successfully used to produce systematically tagged lines of poplars, similar to those produced for A. thaliana. Using the CaMV 35S enhancer, 627 activation-tagged transgenic P. tremula  $\times$  P. alba were generated, with nine lines exhibiting an obvious morphological change. Among these nine lines, a dwarf mutant was discovered in which the endogenous GA2-oxidase had been activated (Busov et al. 2003). Several phenotypic variants were also obtained from the transposon and T-DNA tagged lines of P. tremula and P. tremula  $\times$  P. tremuloides, and the tagged sites were sequenced (Fladung et al. 2004). To determine which genes were involved in the vascular system, 708 gene trap and 674 enhancer trap tagged trees of *P. tremula*  $\times$  *P.* alba were established, and the expression of  $\beta$ -glucuronidase (GUS) was detected in 55 and 455 lines, respectively (Groover et al. 2004). A total of 12,083 activation-tagged trees of P. tremula  $\times$  P. tremuloides have also been generated using the activation tagging Ds system with a heat-inducible Ac-transposase, which resulted in various types of phenotypic variation, including growth deficiency, chlorophyll abnormalities, and alterations in leaf form and shape (Fladung and Polak 2012). These tagged poplars are useful for clarifying the relationship between mutant phenotypes and the functions of unknown genes.

When transforming poplars, various factors need to be considered: suitable poplar clones or varieties; the type of initial explant (leaves, shoots or calli) for transformation; a plant regeneration system that is highly efficient and fast; a convenient vector for DNA manipulation; a method for selecting transgenic poplars; the selection of introduced genes controlling the target traits; and a regulation system for gene expression, such as a promoter and enhancer. There is currently no common solution for each of these; therefore, further development is required to help address these issues and to contribute to the utilization of poplar trees. Attention also needs to be paid to the inherent problems of transgenic poplars as living modified organisms (LMOs).

#### 1.10 Populus nigra

*Populus nigra* (black poplar) is one of the most important poplar species, having a wide range of applications. This species has a large distribution area throughout Europe, and is also found in North Africa and Central and West Asia (Vanden Broeck 2003). It is used for wood production, windbreaks, and landscaping all over the world. It has also often been used as a parent species for crossbreeding because of its excellent characteristics, such as wide adaptability to many environments, ease of rooting stem cuttings, and resistance to pests and pathogens (Cagelli and Lefèvre 1995), and the hybrid clones of *P. nigra* are planted widely worldwide. Native *P. nigra* is a typical pioneer tree that occurs in riparian areas. However, as described in section 1.6, native *P. nigra* forests are at a risk of extinction in Europe due to the reduction in riparian habitats and intercrossing with hybrid poplars. Therefore, measures to conserve native *P. nigra* have been taken by the EUFORGEN *Populus nigra* Network and individual country (Lefèvre et al. 2001; Koskela et al. 2004). Cryopreservation of the seeds has also been attempted to preserve the intraspecific diversity of this species (Suszka et al. 2014; Michalak et al. 2015).

*Populus nigra* was first imported to Japan in the middle Meiji era. Following World War II, *P. nigra* and improved hybrid poplars were imported once again, and planting tests were conducted. Poplar trees are familiar to Japanese people and are often admired in streets and parks, including the well-known rows of *P. nigra* trees in Hokkaido.

Similar to other poplar species, *P. nigra* is considered to be a suitable model species for woody plants (Fig. 2). This species can be grown quickly and is also easily propagated from stem cuttings, allowing the plantlets of *P. nigra* to be used as homogenous experimental materials. Furthermore, sterile cell- and tissue-culturing systems are available, and *in vitro* organogenesis, such as shoot regeneration and rooting, can be controlled. There are also rich genomic resources on *P. nigra*. For example, a total of 54,152 genes and ESTs of *P. nigra* were registered in the DNA Data Bank of Japan (DDBJ) as at December 2015. Studies on *P. nigra* have progressed around the world, including in Japan (Mohri et al. 1996; Mohri et al. 1999; Kato et al. 2001; Nishiguchi et al. 2002; Nanjo et al. 2004; Nanjo et al. 2007; Igasaki et al. 2008; Mao et al. 2010).

*Populus nigra* can be transformed using an *Agrobacterium*-mediated method (Confalonieri et al. 1994; Mohri et al. 1996). In this method, *A. tumefaciens* harboring a binary vector that includes the intended target genes and selection marker genes is inoculated into poplar explants, such as leaf discs or stem segments. The *Agrobacterium*-infected explants are then cultured for several days to transfer a T-DNA region from the *Agrobacterium* into the poplar cells. Subsequently, the explants are transferred into a selection medium containing antibiotics that will kill non-transgenic cells. The explants are then subcultured for several weeks, during which time they generate transgenic calli or shoots (the transgenic calli are able to regenerate into transferred into a root-induction medium (RIM).

Various transgenic trees of *P. nigra* have been generated, including those that contain the *GUS* gene (Confalonieri et al. 1994; Confalonieri et al. 1995; Mohri et al. 1996), a *B. thuringiensis* toxin gene that confers insect resistance (Wang et al. 1996), a soybean (*Glycine max*) Kunitz trypsin proteinase inhibitor gene (Confalonieri et al. 1998), and a rice homeodomain protein (*OSH1*) gene (Mohri et al. 1999). Hybrid clones from *P. nigra* have also been utilized for transformation (Han et al. 2000; Davis et al. 2006; Yevtushenko and Misra 2010; Gao et al. 2013).

As outlined in section 1.7, environmental stress often severely impacts the survival and growth of poplars. Various stress physiological studies have been conducted for P. nigra till date. For example, it was found that the expression of a lectin-like receptor protein kinase (PnLPK) gene from P. nigra was increased by wounding young leaves, suggesting that PnLPK is involved in the plant response to wounding (Nishiguchi et al. 2002). It was also shown that water limitation reduced the growth and photosynthetic rate of *P. nigra* and activated starch-degrading enzymes and peroxidase depending on the genotype (Regier et al. 2009). High temperatures have been linked to reduced photosynthesis, which is affected by water stress (Centritto et al. 2011); and treatment with high levels of nickel also resulted in reduced photosynthesis (Velikova et al. 2011). To elucidate the response mechanism to environmental stress, full-length cDNA libraries were constructed from various stress-treated P. nigra and approximately 20,000 ESTs were analyzed (Nanjo et al. 2004; Nanjo et al. 2007). In addition, the expression of two transcription factors, PnDREB68 and PnDREB69, was elevated by cold, salinity, and osmotic stress in the leaves and stems of P. nigra (Chu et al. 2014).
#### 1.11 Objectives

Many studies have been performed on poplars to date. Therefore, the question is what should be studied next to better understand the science of poplars as woody plant model species? One option is to use poplars to pioneer new fields of research on woody plants. A wide range of research topics have already been studied on woody plants, but unresolved issues and untouched areas of research remain. Therefore, such topics could be addressed using poplars, with their advanced technologies and research resources, and then applied to other woody plants. Another option is to further develop the technologies for poplars, including cultivation, biotechnology, genetic engineering, and other biological techniques, to support the research and application of poplars as model species. In this thesis, both of these options are explored by investigating the biological response of *P. nigra* to ionizing radiation as an abiotic stress and by improving the transformation system for this species (Fig. 3).

The effects of ionizing radiation on woody plants, including poplars, and their tolerance mechanisms for this remain to be understood in detail. Ionizing radiation is considered to be an inescapable abiotic stress. Almost all living organisms on Earth are exposed to natural ionizing radiation, such as cosmic radiation, terrestrial radiation, and internal radiation. The leaves of trees are estimated to generally be exposed to 0.6–7 mGy per year of natural radiation (UNSCEAR 1996) (Fig. 4). Because most woody plants are perennial and long lived, they are exposed to natural radiation over a long period of time. Therefore, it is assumed that woody plants must possess resistance mechanisms against ionizing radiation to avoid its harmful effects. In the 1960s and 1970s, the radiosensitivity of herbaceous and woody plants including poplar species were investigated (Scandalios 1964; Ohba and Murai 1966; Sparrow et al. 1968).

However, since then, the basic radiation biology of woody plants has not been advanced, with the exception of radiation breeding of fruit trees. Following the Chernobyl accident in 1986, the effects of ionizing radiation on local forest trees such as Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) were studied with respect to the protection of the environment from ionizing radiation. However, the response and tolerance mechanisms of poplars to ionizing radiation have not been studied.

We currently have some scientific knowledge about the effects of environmental stresses on poplars and also have many genomic resources. Both of these will be very useful for analyzing the molecular mechanism of the response of poplars to exposure to ionizing radiation. In addition, the genetic engineering techniques that have been developed for poplars can help to clarify the functions of genes that are involved in radiation stress. Elucidation of the response and tolerance mechanisms of poplars as model trees will be very valuable for understanding radiation stress in woody plants. Therefore, in this thesis, the various biological effects of  $\gamma$ -irradiation on *P. nigra* were examined, and the DNA-repair related genes were newly isolated and characterized (Fig. 3). The obtained results may be used for the radiological protection of woody plants, environmental application, mutation breeding, or the generation of stress-tolerant trees.

Genetic engineering is potentially a valuable tool for the elucidation of stress tolerance mechanisms. Transformation systems for *P. nigra* have been reported previously (Confalonieri et al. 1994; Confalonieri et al. 1995; Mohri et al. 1996), but these have some practical issues (Fig. 5). Firstly, the transformation efficiency of *P. nigra* is not sufficiently high, making it difficult to produce a large number of transgenic poplar plants. Secondly, the previous transgenic system, which uses callus regeneration, takes a long time, because callus-, shoot-, and root-induction require 1–2 months each,

32

meaning that it takes more than 6 months for the generation of transgenic *P. nigra*. A more convenient binary vector is also desirable for the transformation of plant species including poplars, which would have characteristics such as many cloning sites that are recognized by restriction enzymes; selection marker genes that are suitable for plant species and have high selectivity; timely and spatially regulated promoters; and stability in *E. coli* and *Agrobacterium*. Therefore, one of the goals of this thesis was to improve the transformation system for *P. nigra*, to give a higher transformation efficiency and a shorter regeneration time and to simultaneously design and construct a new binary vector for transformation (Fig. 3). It was considered that the improved transformation system and the advanced new vector would contribute to the development of genetic engineering of not only *P. nigra* but also other poplar and plant species.

As mentioned in section 1.10, *P. nigra* is considered to be one of the most suitable poplar species for use as an experimental model of woody plants. Therefore, the information obtained from studies on *P. nigra* can be generalized to other species of poplars or plants using comparative studies. Furthermore, although it may be difficult to directly apply a specific technology such as transformation to other plant species, the information that is obtained may be valuable as a reference for similar studies.

## Chapter 2 Elucidation of biological response to ionizing radiation in *Populus nigra*

#### 2.1 Introduction

Ionizing radiation has been shown to deleteriously affect the growth and reproduction of herbaceous and woody plants. Early studies made detailed examinations of the radiosensitivity of various herbaceous and woody plants to gamma (γ) rays (Sparrow and Sparrow 1965; Capella and Conger 1967; Sparrow et al. 1968; Sparrow et al. 1970). These studies showed that woody gymnosperms are generally more sensitive to ionizing radiation than woody angiosperms and that the radiosensitivity of plant species is affected by the interphase chromosome volume. Following the Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant accident in 1986, many important studies on the harmful effects of ionizing radiation and fallout on forest trees were performed (Arkhipov et al. 1994; Kaľchenko and Fedotov 2001; Kovalchuk et al. 2003; Tulik and Rusin 2005). Conversely, ionizing radiation has also been used as a tool for plant breeding. A total of 2,252 mutant varieties including woody plant species were recorded in the FAO/IAEA Mutant Varieties Database by the end of 2000, with 1,411 of these having been obtained using ionizing radiation as the mutagen (Maluszynski et al. 2000).

Ionizing radiation is considered an environmental stress alongside light, temperature, and water, with X- and  $\gamma$ -rays having been reported to cause DNA damage in plants such as *Vicia faba* (Koppen and Angelis 1998) and *Nicotiana tabacum* (Gichner et al. 2000). Ionizing radiation not only arises from human activities but also exists as natural background radiation, including cosmic and terrestrial radiation.

34

Almost all terrestrial plants are continuously exposed to natural background radiation during their growth and dormant periods. Although this natural background radiation is usually negligible, it is sufficient to ionize water and biological molecules such as DNA and proteins in cells; and if the free radicals and abnormal molecules that are generated by ionization increase and accumulate in such cells, they may be damaged and die. Perennial woody plants are particularly likely to be subjected to natural background radiation for an extended period due to their longevity and consequently, are likely to have developed adaptation and tolerance mechanisms to enable them to survive.

Versatile DNA repair systems have been reported as one of the mechanisms of radiation resistance. A wide range of DNA repair-related proteins for the detection and elimination of DNA damage and for DNA synthesis are believed to play an important role in maintaining genome stability. Consequently, activation of the genes that encode each of these proteins is considered to be a key event in the mechanism for tolerating ionizing radiation. The genes that encode DNA repair-related proteins have been isolated from plants such as *A. thaliana*. (Bleuyard et al. 2006), rice (Kimura and Sakaguchi 2006), and moss (*Physcomitrella patens*) (Ayora et al. 2002), and it has been shown that the knockout of these DNA repair-related genes partially reduces the tolerance of the knockout plants to  $\gamma$ -irradiation (Riha et al. 2002; Osakabe et al. 2005). However, to the best of our knowledge, DNA repair-related proteins in woody plants have not been studied in detail.

In the present study, *P. nigra* was acutely exposed to  $\gamma$ -rays to examine the adaptation and tolerance mechanisms to ionizing radiation in woody plants. *Populus nigra* is considered a good model for woody plant biology because of its rapid growth, the ease of clonal propagation, the ability to use *in vitro* cultured-plants and cells, the

advanced level of genetic engineering, and the abundance of molecular biological information about this species, as outlined in Chapter 1. Although various stress responses of this species have been elucidated, there has been very little study on the biological effects of ionizing radiation on *P. nigra* (Scandalios 1964) or other species of poplar (Ohba and Murai 1966; Stettler and Guries 1976). In this study, it was found that exposure of *P. nigra* to various doses of acute  $\gamma$ -irradiation caused morphological changes, delayed growth, withering, and nuclear DNA breaks, and that  $\gamma$ -rays or a DNA cleavage agent affected the gene expression of several DNA repair-related proteins, the cDNAs of which were newly isolated from this species.

#### 2.2 Materials and methods

#### 2.2.1 Plant materials

Young branches of *P. nigra* that were approximately 10 cm in length were excised and rooted in moist vermiculite. The rooted branches were then grown in a growth chamber (phytotron) at 25°C and 70% relative humidity under metal halide lamps (500  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> of photosynthetically active radiation (PAR), 16:8 h light:dark photoperiod). An aseptic tissue culture of the *P. nigra* plants was also maintained in RIM containing 20 mM 2-(*N*-morpholino)ethanesulfonic acid (MES)-KOH (pH 5.8), 0.5 × Murashige and Skoog Basal Salts (MSBS) (Murashige and Skoog 1962), 1 × Murashige and Skoog vitamin (MSV), 3% sucrose, 0.5 mg l<sup>-1</sup> indole-3-butyric acid, 0.02 mg l<sup>-1</sup> 1-naphthaleneacetic acid, and 0.6% (w/v) Phytagar (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA).

#### 2.2.2 Gamma irradiation

Poplar plantlets that were approximately 15 cm in height (6 weeks after excision) were used for the  $\gamma$ -irradiation experiments. The plantlets were transplanted into a Wagner pot and concomitantly exposed to  $\gamma$ -rays at doses of 0 (control), 10, 20, 50, 100, 200, and 300 Gy (dose rates ranged from 0.5 to 15 Gy h<sup>-1</sup>) for 20 h in the cobalt-60 (<sup>60</sup>Co) gamma room at the Institute of Radiation Breeding (Hitachiohmiya, Japan). Following  $\gamma$ -exposure, the irradiated plants were returned to the phytotron. For RNA isolation, shoots were harvested from each plantlet 1, 6, and 24 h after the end of  $\gamma$ -irradiation and frozen in liquid nitrogen. The other irradiated plants were allowed to continue to grow in the phytotron to observe and measure their growth. Each  $\gamma$ -irradiation treatment was replicated twice.

For *in vitro* organogenesis, the stems, petioles, and shoots of the tissue-cultured poplar plants were excised aseptically and exposed to  $\gamma$ -rays. The  $\gamma$ -irradiated stems and petioles were then transferred onto a new shoot-induction medium (SIM) containing 20 mM MES-KOH (pH 5.8), 1 × MSBS, 1 × MSV, 3% sucrose, 0.5 mg l<sup>-1</sup> *trans*-zeatin, 0.1 mg l<sup>-1</sup> 6-benzylaminopurine (BAP), and 0.8% (w/v) Bacto<sup>TM</sup> Agar (BD Diagnostic Systems, Sparks, MD, USA). The  $\gamma$ -irradiated-shoots were planted in a new RIM for the regeneration of roots. They were cultured at 25°C under cool white fluorescent light.

#### 2.2.3 Measurement of growth

The plant height and stem diameter at ground level of the control (non-irradiated) and  $\gamma$ -irradiated poplar plants were measured immediately after irradiation and at weekly intervals for 10 weeks. The dry mass of the roots, stems, and leaves was also measured by harvesting these parts 10 weeks after  $\gamma$ -irradiation or when

the whole plant had turned brown and drying each sample at 60°C to a constant weight.

2.2.4 Treatment of suspension-cultured poplar cells with  $\gamma$ -rays and a DNA cleavage agent

Suspension-cultured poplar cells were derived from sterile calli (Nishiguchi et al. 2002) of *P. nigra* in a liquid medium containing 20 mM MES-KOH (pH 5.8),  $1 \times$  MSBS,  $1 \times$  MSV, 3% (w/v) sucrose, and 2 mg 1<sup>-1</sup> 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D). The suspension-cultured cells were cultivated in 100-ml Erlenmeyer flasks on orbital shakers (120 rpm) in the dark, and 1 ml of the cell suspension was subcultured every 14 days in 25 ml of the same fresh medium. For the  $\gamma$ -irradiation experiments, the cells were transferred into a thin-walled plastic flask 7 days after subculturing and exposed to  $\gamma$ -rays for 20 h. The irradiated cells were collected 1 h after the end of  $\gamma$ -irradiation and cooled on ice for a Comet assay. To treat the cells with a DNA cleavage agent, Zeocin<sup>TM</sup> (Invitrogen) was added to the medium at a concentration of 10, 50, or 250 µg ml<sup>-1</sup> 7 days after subculturing. The cells were collected after being cultivated with Zeocin for 1, 6, and 24 h, and were either cooled on ice for the Comet assay or frozen in liquid nitrogen for RNA preparation.

#### 2.2.5 Comet assay

Nuclei were isolated from the suspension-cultured poplar cells using a previously reported method with modifications (Ptáček et al. 2001). The cells were harvested using a cell strainer with 40-µm pores (BD Falcon, Bedford, MA, USA), and sliced with a razor blade in 50 mM sodium phosphate buffer (pH 6.8) containing 1 mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) and 0.5% (v/v) dimethyl sulfoxide in a Petri

38

dish kept on ice. The released nuclei were separated from the cell debris using a cell strainer. A Comet assay was performed using a CometAssay Kit (Trevigen, Gaithersburg, MD, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Following alkaline electrophoresis, the nuclei were stained with SYBR® Green I and observed by fluorescence microscopy. Images of the nuclear DNA were taken with a digital camera and analyzed using the CASP Program (Comet Assay Software Project, http://casp.sourceforge.net/) for semi-quantification of the DNA damage based on the amount of DNA in the tail.

#### 2.2.6 RNA preparation

Total RNA was prepared from each frozen sample as described by Shinohara and Murakami (1996), with the following modifications. The samples were ground in liquid nitrogen and subsequently mixed with 10 volumes (v/w) of a lysis solution of 100 mМ Tris-HCl (pH 9.5), 20 mMEDTA, 1.4 M NaCl, 2% (w/v)hexadecyltrimethylammonium bromide, and 2% (v/v) 2-mercaptoethanol. This mixture was then heated at 65°C for 10 min. Following extraction with chloroform: isoamyl alcohol (24:1) and centrifugation, the supernatant was mixed with one-quarter of the volume of ice-cold 10 M LiCl and stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C for 2 h or overnight. The precipitated RNA was recovered by centrifugation and dissolved in an SV RNA lysis buffer from the SV Total RNA Isolation System (Promega, Madison, WI, USA). The RNA was then further purified to remove contaminated DNA and polysaccharides according to the manufacturer's instructions. Quantification of RNA was performed using a Quant-iT<sup>™</sup> RiboGreen® RNA Assay Kit (Invitrogen).

#### 2.2.7 cDNA cloning of DNA repair-related genes

*PnRAD51, PnKU70,* and *PnLIG4* cDNAs were cloned by reverse transcription PCR (RT-PCR) using the total RNA from the apical buds of *P. nigra.* Reverse transcription was performed using Transcriptor Reverse Transcriptase (Roche Applied Science, Penzberg, Germany) and oligo(dT)<sub>18</sub> primers. The genome sequence of *P. trichocarpa* (Tuskan et al. 2006) was used to design specific primer sets for PCR amplification of each target cDNA (Table 6). PCR was performed with the first-strand cDNA using KOD Plus DNA Polymerase (Toyobo, Osaka, Japan). The amplified DNA fragments were then cloned into pBluescript II KS(+) (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA, USA) and sequenced. The 5' and 3'-end sequences of each cDNA were obtained using a 5'/3' RACE Kit (Roche Applied Science). *PnXRCC4* and *PnOGG1* cDNAs were identified by screening the full-length cDNA library of *P. nigra* (Nanjo et al. 2007) using the BLAST program. *PnPCNA* cDNA was obtained from our previous cDNA library from poplar buds (Nishiguchi et al. 2002).

The DNA sequences were analyzed using GENETYX (Genetyx, Tokyo, Japan), EMBOSS (Rice et al. 2000), and InterProScan (Quevillon et al. 2005). Multiple alignments of protein sequences were conducted using MAFFT (Katoh and Toh 2008). The cloned DNA sequences were submitted to DDBJ, and their accession numbers are shown in Table 7.

#### 2.2.8 Semi-quantitative low-cycle RT-PCR and Southern blot assay

RT-PCR was performed with 1 µg RNA and gene-specific primers (Table 6), using the AccessQuick<sup>™</sup> RT-PCR System (Promega) and 13 PCR cycles, to avoid reaching the plateau phase. The amplified DNA (which was not visible on ethidium

40

bromide-stained gel) was separated by 1% agarose gel electrophoresis and transferred onto a positively charged nylon membrane. Gene-specific DIG-labeled probes were synthesized with the same primers that were used for each RT-PCR from each cDNA using a PCR DIG Probe Synthesis Kit (Roche Applied Science). Hybridization and chemiluminescent detection were performed using CDP-Star® according to the manufacturer's instructions.

#### 2.2.9 Reverse transcription quantitative real time PCR (RT-qPCR)

First-strand cDNA was synthesized from 2  $\mu$ g of total RNA using a AffinityScript QPCR cDNA Synthesis Kit (Stratagene), and a mixture of oligo(dT) and random primers according to the manufacturer's instructions. RT-qPCR was performed using the Mx3000P Real-Time PCR System (Stratagene) and the Brilliant II SYBR Green QPCR Master Mix (Stratagene). The sequences of the primers used for RT-qPCR are shown in Table 6. The RT-qPCR reaction conditions were as follows: 95°C for 10 min, followed by 40 cycles of 95°C for 30 s, 58°C for 1 min, and 72°C for 30 s. Three biological replicates were conducted. The specificity of each amplified DNA fragment was checked with a heat dissociation curve (55–95°C), and by agarose gel electrophoresis and DNA sequencing. The relative mRNA level was calculated by the standard curve method using serial dilution of the cDNA and was normalized to the mRNA level of the poplar ubiquitin gene homolog (GenBank ID: DB883027 and DB901131) of the *Arabidopsis UBQ5* gene (TAIR ID: AT3G62250).

#### 2.3 Results

#### 2.3.1 Morphological change in the $\gamma$ -irradiated poplars

*Populus nigra* plantlets were first irradiated with a dose of 10 or 20 Gy of  ${}^{60}$ Co  $\gamma$ -rays for 20 h. However, this had no visible effects on tree growth. Therefore, the poplar plantlets were subsequently exposed to 50–300 Gy of  $\gamma$ -rays, which led to changes in their growth and development (Fig. 6).

The growth of poplar plantlets was markedly suppressed by high doses of  $\gamma$ -irradiation (Figs. 6 and 7). There were no significant differences in height, stem diameter, or biomass between the non-irradiated control poplars and the 50 Gy  $\gamma$ -irradiated poplars. However, the 100 Gy  $\gamma$ -irradiated poplars fell into two groups. In the first group (shown as 100-A in Fig. 7), tree growth was arrested for approximately 3 weeks after  $\gamma$ -irradiation, following which the apical bud and axillary buds slowly developed, and new leaves were formed. Consequently, these plants had lower plant heights, stem diameters, and biomasses than the control trees 10 weeks after irradiation. In the second group (shown as 100-B in Fig. 7), tree growth was completely aborted but the leaves remained green for 10 weeks after  $\gamma$ -irradiation. None of the trees in this group died; however, because new shoots sprouted from the underground stems of all plants 4–10 weeks after  $\gamma$ -irradiation. All plantlets that received doses of 200 or 300 Gy of  $\gamma$ -rays stopped growing, and 87.5% (7/8) and 100% of these, respectively, turned brown and withered 4–10 weeks after  $\gamma$ -irradiation.

Morphological changes were also detected in the leaves of some of the poplar plants that were irradiated with 50 or 100 Gy of  $\gamma$ -rays, including the production of oblanceolate, lobed, or cleft leaves (Fig. 8B), whereas non-irradiated control plants produced normal deltoid-shaped leaves (Fig. 8A). Moreover, two types of unusual leaves that had a petiole with two leaf blades developed in the  $\gamma$ -irradiated plants. The first type had adaxial surfaces that were in the same direction (Fig. 8C), while the second had abaxial surfaces that were opposite to each other and partially coalesced (Fig. 8D). Asymmetric and curved leaves with severely bent petioles (Fig. 8E) and a mosaic pale green leaf (Fig. 8F) were also observed.

Morphological changes in organs other than the leaves also occurred. In some cases, the internodes were partly shortened, as if there was an opposite or whorled phyllotaxis (Fig. 8G), whereas *P. nigra* leaves are usually arranged in a spiral pattern. Branching at an internode was also occasionally observed (Fig. 8H), the lower part of which fused and was somewhat fasciated. The time of occurrence of these morphological changes was restricted to around 4–6 weeks after 50 Gy of  $\gamma$ -irradiation, following which normal new leaves and stems developed. In some poplar plants that were irradiated with 100 Gy of  $\gamma$ -rays, apical growth was arrested, resulting in axillary buds developing and elongating (Fig. 8I). No change in plant shape was detected in plants that were irradiated with 200 or 300 Gy of  $\gamma$ -rays because all of these plants stopped growing, and therefore, no new stems and leaves developed (Fig. 6).

#### 2.3.2 Inhibitory effect of $\gamma$ -rays on organogenesis of the shoots and roots

 $\gamma$ -irradiation affected the growth and morphogenesis of poplar plantlets, as outlined in section 2.3.1. In the next experiments, it was investigated whether  $\gamma$ -rays affected the *in vitro* organogenesis of the shoots or roots. The stems, petioles, and shoots from tissue-cultured poplar plants were aseptically exposed to  $\gamma$ -rays. The formation of new shoots was inhibited in a dose-dependent manner in  $\gamma$ -irradiated stems and petioles (Fig. 9). A total of 200 Gy of  $\gamma$ -rays resulted in the complete arrest of regeneration and elongation of new shoots 4 weeks after irradiation. By contrast, 100 or 200 Gy of  $\gamma$ -rays suppressed the regeneration of new roots from the shoots (Fig. 10), while new roots were formed following 50 Gy of  $\gamma$ -rays. These results demonstrate that high doses of  $\gamma$ -rays have harmful effects on the organogenesis of shoots and roots in *P. nigra*.

#### 2.3.3 Nuclear DNA damage induced by $\gamma$ -irradiation

It has previously been reported that ionizing radiation causes DNA damage in some plant species (Koppen and Angelis 1998; Gichner et al. 2000). To investigate whether  $\gamma$ -rays cause nuclear DNA damage in poplar cells, a Comet assay (alkaline single-cell gel electrophoresis assay) was performed, a test that is used to investigate the genotoxicity of physical and chemical factors (Hartmann et al. 2003). The suspension-cultured cells of *P. nigra* were used as the experimental materials for the Comet assay due to the difficulty in isolating intact nuclei from the leaves of poplar plantlets. DNA damage was evaluated based on the percentage of DNA in the tail (%T) as compared with the total DNA in the head and the tail.

The Comet assay showed that the nuclear DNA in the suspension-cultured poplar cells was broken by  $\gamma$ -irradiation (Fig. 11A). Approximately 36% of the total nuclei examined in the non-irradiated control cells were within the range of 0–20%T, indicating that these nuclei were undamaged (Fig. 11B and Table 8). Similarly, in the 50 Gy  $\gamma$ -irradiated poplar cells, approximately 49% of the nuclei ranged from 0 to 20%T. However, only 6.6% of the 100 Gy, 7.7% of the 200 Gy, and 4.9% of the 300 Gy  $\gamma$ -irradiated cells fell within the same range of 0–20%T. When compared with the total nuclei examined, the mean values of %T were 27.2 ± 14.6 for the control group and 24.3 ± 16.4 for the 50 Gy  $\gamma$ -irradiated poplar cells, which were not significantly different (non-parametric Steel-Dwass test, p = 0.088). By contrast, the mean values

of %T for the other treatment groups were  $43.0 \pm 15.7$  for 100 Gy,  $38.6 \pm 14.9$  for 200 Gy, and  $36.7 \pm 12.0$  for 300 Gy  $\gamma$ -irradiated cells, with the 100 Gy group being significantly higher than the 50 Gy group (p = 9.7E-07). These results indicate that the nuclear DNA in the poplar cells was severely damaged by exposure to 100–300 Gy of  $\gamma$ -rays.

2.3.4 Cloning and sequence analysis of cDNAs encoding DNA repair-related proteins

There were obvious harmful effects of  $\gamma$ -irradiation on the growth, morphology, and DNA structure of poplar trees, as outlined in sections 2.3.1–2.3.3. Therefore, it was predicted that the  $\gamma$ -irradiated poplar plants would change the pattern of gene expression to protect themselves from the harmful effects of  $\gamma$ -rays. The expression of genes encoding DNA repair-related proteins was particularly focused on because DNA double-strand breaks induced by ionizing radiation are one of the most serious threats to cells and lead to cell death (Kobayashi et al. 2008), and the observed abnormalities in the  $\gamma$ -irradiated poplar plants were likely caused by DNA double-strand breaks induced by the  $\gamma$ -rays (Fig. 11). The repair of DNA damage is mediated by various DNA repair systems in living organisms and is vital for maintaining cellular function and ensuring cell survival (Fleck and Nielsen 2004) (Fig. 12). However, no information concerning the genes for DNA repair-related proteins in woody plants has been reported to date.

To investigate the expression of genes encoding DNA-repair related proteins in the  $\gamma$ -irradiated poplars, six cDNAs from *P. nigra* were newly cloned and sequenced (Table 7 and Fig. 13). The *PnRAD51* cDNA encoded the RAD51-homologous protein, and in the budding yeast (*S. cerevisiae*), the *RAD51* gene is involved in mitotic recombination and DNA repair, as well as in meiosis (Shinohara et al. 1992). The *PnLIG4*, *PnKU70*, and *PnXRCC4* cDNAs encoded DNA ligase IV, the Ku70 protein, and the XRCC4 protein, respectively, all three of which are involved in the repair of DNA double-strand breaks by mediating non-homologous end-joining (Sancar et al. 2004). The *PnOGG1* cDNA encoded an 8-oxoguanine DNA glycosylase; this enzyme removes 7,8-dihydro-8-oxoguanine (8-oxoG) (Van Der Kemp et al. 1996), which is an oxidative DNA damage and is generated by ionizing radiation (Cadet et al. 2004). The *PnPCNA* cDNA encoded the proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) protein, which is a member of the DNA sliding clamp family; this protein binds to the DNA and is essential for providing DNA polymerase with high processivity in DNA synthesis (Maga and Hübscher 2003).

The predicted amino acid sequences of the DNA repair-related proteins from *P. nigra* were compared with those from *P. trichocarpa*, *A. thaliana*, humans, and budding yeast (Table 7 and Figs. 14–19). The degree of homology of each protein varied widely between species. For example, the PnRAD51 protein showed high identity with the RAD51 proteins from *P. trichocarpa* (91.9%), *A. thaliana* (90.4%), humans (68.9%), and the yeast (53.5%), whereas the PnXRCC4 protein showed a much lower degree of identity with the XRCC4 proteins from humans (19.9%) and budding yeast (10.9%) but correlated well with the XRCC4 proteins from *P. trichocarpa* (84.0%) and *A. thaliana* (58.2%). Each DNA repair-related protein was well conserved across the three plant species, however, with 58–99% identity.

#### 2.3.5 Expression of the DNA repair-related genes in *P. nigra*

To explore the expression patterns of the cloned DNA repair-related genes

under normal growth conditions in *P. nigra*, low-cycle RT-PCR followed by Southern blotting was conducted for semi-quantitative evaluation. Each gene exhibited a diverse expression pattern across various organs and cells (Fig. 20). *PnLIG4*, *PnKU70*, *PnXRCC4*, *PnPCNA*, and *PnOGG1* were detected in all of the sampled organs and cells, i.e., the roots, stems, leaves, apical buds, calli, and suspension-cultured cells. The expression levels of *PnRAD51*, *PnKU70*, *PnXRCC4*, and *PnPCNA* were highest in the apical buds, with little to no mRNA of *PnRAD51* in the leaves.

#### 2.3.6 Effect of γ-irradiation on the expression of DNA repair-related genes

To investigate the effect of  $\gamma$ -irradiation on the expression of genes encoding the DNA repair-related proteins, RNA was prepared from non-irradiated and  $\gamma$ -irradiated poplar shoots that included a stem, an apical bud, and three or four leaves. The mRNA levels of each DNA repair-related protein were then quantified using RT-qPCR.

The expression of the *PnKU70* and *PnLIG4* genes was found to have increased markedly 1 h after the shoots had been exposed to  $\gamma$ -irradiation for 20 h (Fig. 21). For example, the expression of *PnKU70* in the 200 Gy  $\gamma$ -irradiated shoots was approximately 48-fold higher than that in the non-irradiated poplars, and the expression of *PnLIG4* was also approximately 26-fold higher in the 200 Gy group. These increased levels of mRNA of *PnKU70* and *PnLIG4* were dependent on an increase in the dose of  $\gamma$ -rays up to 200 Gy. The elevated expression levels of both *PnKU70* and *PnLIG4* were found to have decreased 6 h after the end of  $\gamma$ -irradiation, but even after 24 h, their expression remained significantly higher in the  $\gamma$ -irradiated poplars than in the non-irradiated poplars. The expression of *PnXRCC4*, *PnPCNA*, and *PnRAD51* was also upregulated by  $\gamma$ -irradiation, although to a lesser extent than that of *PnKU70* and *PnLIG4*. One hour after the end of  $\gamma$ -irradiation, their expression had increased by 1.9–2.9-fold for *PnXRCC4*, 2.1–4.0-fold for *PnPCNA*, and 1.6–2.4-fold for *PnRAD51*, with the increase largely depending on the radiation dose. The expression levels of *PnXRCC4* and *PnPCNA* remained high 24 h after the end of  $\gamma$ -irradiation, whereas that of *PnRAD51* returned to the basal level.

In contrast, the expression of *PnOGG1* decreased to approximately 30% of the non-irradiated control 1 h after the end of  $\gamma$ -irradiation. The downregulation of *PnOGG1* was observed across all doses of  $\gamma$ -rays (50–300 Gy). These reduced expression levels then gradually elevated and had almost returned to the basal level after 24 h.

#### 2.3.7 Effect of treatment with Zeocin on the expression of DNA repair-related genes

To determine whether the change in gene expression caused by  $\gamma$ -irradiation was due to DNA strand breaks, the effect of the DNA cleavage agent Zeocin (phleomycin D1) on the gene expression was examined. Zeocin is a glycopeptide antibiotic of the bleomycin/phleomycin family, which causes single- and double-strand breaks in DNA (Huang et al. 1981). The addition of Zeocin to the medium fragmented the nuclei of suspension-cultured cells of *P. nigra* (Fig. 22A). Thus, it was inferred that Zeocin cleaved nuclear DNA in poplar cells, although the type of DNA strand breaks caused by Zeocin may not be exactly the same as that by  $\gamma$ -rays.

Treatment of the suspension-cultured cells with Zeocin significantly affected the expression of the genes encoding DNA repair-related proteins (Fig. 22B). One hour

48

after the addition of Zeocin, the expression levels of *PnKU70* and *PnLIG4* in Zeocin-treated cells were the same as that in the control cells with the addition of sterile water. However, 6 hours after the addition of Zeocin, the mRNA level of *PnKU70* increased by approximately 1.2-, 1.5-, and 3.5-fold in 10, 50, and 250  $\mu$ g/ml of Zeocin-treated cells, respectively, in comparison to the control cells; and similarly, the expression of *PnLIG4* increased by approximately 1.3-, 1.4-, and 3.8-fold in 10, 50, and 250  $\mu$ g/ml of Zeocin-treated cells, respectively. The expression levels of both genes remained substantially elevated 24 h after the addition of Zeocin.

The transcription of *PnRAD51* was also induced by Zeocin treatment, with poplar cells that were exposed to 250 µg/ml of Zeocin for 6 h showing an approximately 1.8-fold increase in expression compared with the control cells, which was a statistically significant change (two-way ANOVA, p = 1.61E-3) In contrast, the expression of *PnPCNA*, *PnXRCC4*, and *PnOGG1* appeared to be unaffected by Zeocin (two-way ANOVA, p > 0.05). Therefore, it was concluded that the expression of *PnKU70*, *PnLIG4*, and *PnRAD51* was induced by DNA strand breaks, whereas the expression of *PnPCNA*, *PnXRCC4*, and *PnOGG1* was not.

#### 2.4 Discussion

The effects of ionizing radiation on the growth and morphology of many plant species have previously been reported and reviewed (Gunckel 1957; Sparrow et al. 1971; Holst and Nagel 1997; De Micco et al. 2011). In the present study, the biological effects of  $\gamma$ -rays on *P. nigra* plants were investigated in detail (Table 8), because despite the genus *Populus* having been extensively studied as a model organism for woody plant biology, very few studies have investigated the effects of  $\gamma$ -rays on these trees.

<sup>60</sup>Co-gamma irradiation of *P. nigra* plantlets induced various morphological abnormalities, such as reduced growth, abnormally shaped leaves, distorted venation, fused leaf blades, chlorosis, stunted shoots, and fasciation (Fig. 8). These malformations were roughly similar to those observed in other plant species exposed to  $\gamma$ - or X-rays.

The poplar plantlets that had been exposed to 100 Gy (dose rate, 5 Gy h<sup>-1</sup>) of  $\gamma$ -rays exhibited two types of growth: transient growth arrest (group 100-A in Fig. 7) and complete growth arrest (group 100-B in Fig. 7). However, all of these plants survived, and even in the completely growth-arrested 100-B group, new shoots sprouted on the lower parts of the  $\gamma$ -irradiated stems 4–10 weeks after  $\gamma$ -irradiation. These two different types of abnormal growth are believed to have arisen due to the differences in the viability of  $\gamma$ -irradiated cells in the shoot apical meristem (SAM). As in other higher plants, the SAM of poplars consists of many proliferating cells, the nuclear DNA of which is damaged by  $\gamma$ -rays. Although slight DNA damage is completely repaired, severe DNA damage is not, and any remaining DNA damage triggers cell death. If the number of cells in the SAM is greatly reduced by  $\gamma$ -rays, it will take a significant length of time for them to recover, resulting in an apparent cessation in shoot growth. It is likely that the surviving cells proliferated to reform the SAM, resulting in the  $\gamma$ -irradiated shoots starting to grow. However, if all of the cells in the SAM are killed by  $\gamma$ -rays, the SAM will surely lose its function, preventing the shoot from elongating.

Almost all of the poplar plantlets that were exposed to 200 Gy (10 Gy h<sup>-1</sup>) or 300 Gy (15 Gy h<sup>-1</sup>) of  $\gamma$ -rays stopped growing and then withered within 10 weeks of  $\gamma$ -irradiation. Sparrow et al. (1968) determined the LD<sub>50</sub> (dose at which 50% of subjects will die) of  $\gamma$ -rays for many woody plant species based on the relationship between  $\gamma$ -ray survival curves and interphase chromosome volumes for each species. For quaking aspen (*P. tremuloides*), which belongs to the same genus as *P. nigra*, the LD<sub>50</sub> was predicted to be 4,800 roentgen for acute <sup>60</sup>Co- $\gamma$ -irradiation (16 h), which corresponds to approximately 46.8 Gy (2.93 Gy h<sup>-1</sup>) in terms of the absorbed dose to water. In the present experiment, however, 50 Gy (2.5 Gy h<sup>-1</sup>) of  $\gamma$ -irradiation did not cause any withering in *P. nigra*. Although this result did not necessarily match the prediction of Sparrow et al. (1968), the biological effects of ionizing radiation have been shown to vary depending on the biological, radiological, and environmental factors (Sparrow et al. 1971). Therefore, the value of the lethal dose probably varies even within the genus *Populus* due to the differences between species, individual plants (e.g., size and age differences), and abiotic factors.

A Comet assay indicated that poplar cells that were exposed to  $\gamma$ -rays at doses of 100–300 Gy exhibited increased levels of DNA damage, while non-irradiated control cells and 50 Gy-irradiated cells were hardly damaged (Fig. 11). These results suggest that  $\gamma$ -rays have a dose-dependent biological effect on the growth and development of poplar plantlets. However, it was difficult to clearly quantify the degree of DNA damage in a dose-dependent manner in the  $\gamma$ -irradiated poplar cells. One possible explanation for this is that the DNA damage caused by  $\gamma$ -rays may be rapidly repaired during and after  $\gamma$ -irradiation. It has previously been reported that the time taken to repair 50% of the DNA damage after  $\gamma$ -irradiation is approximately 50 min in *N. tabacum* seedlings (Ptáček et al. 2001) and approximately 100 min in *Calamagrostis epigejos* leaves (Ptáček et al. 2002). In the present experiment, the  $\gamma$ -irradiation occurred for 20 h, following which the irradiated cells were harvested and analyzed using a Comet assay. Because the upregulation of the expression of the genes encoding DNA repair-related proteins was detected 1 h after the end of  $\gamma$ -irradiation (Fig. 21), it seems that these genes were already activated during  $\gamma$ -irradiation, and thus it is likely that the DNA damage had started to be repaired.

Six cDNAs of DNA repair-related proteins were isolated from P. nigra and their gene expression patterns were investigated. It was found that the PnLIG4, PnKU70, *PnXRCC4*, *PnPCNA*, and *PnRAD51* genes were upregulated by  $\gamma$ -irradiation, whereas the *PnOGG1* gene was downregulated (Fig. 21). The five upregulated genes are likely to be involved in adaptation and tolerance to  $\gamma$ -rays based on protein function prediction, although the degree of increase in gene expression varied considerably for each of these genes. The expression of *PnLIG4* and *PnKU70* peaked 1 h after the end of  $\gamma$ -irradiation for each dose and then gradually declined, although the expression levels were still significantly higher than in the non-irradiated poplars 24 h after irradiation. In contrast, the highest level of mRNA expression of PnRAD51 also occurred 1 h after the end of  $\gamma$ -irradiation, but this had almost returned to the original expression level 6–24 h after irradiation; and the high level of expression observed in PnXRCC4 and PnPCNA remained constant even 24 h after the end of  $\gamma$ -irradiation. Expression of the AtRAD51, AtLIG4, and AtXRCC4 genes in A. thaliana have previously been reported to increase in response to  $\gamma$ -irradiation (Doutriaux et al. 1998; West et al. 2000); however, it was unclear whether the upregulated gene expression was sustained at a high level, because gene expression was only investigated 1–6 h after the start of  $\gamma$ -irradiation. In the present study, PnLIG4, PnKU70, PnXRCC4, and PnPCNA remained activated until 24 h after the end of  $\gamma$ -irradiation, suggesting that DNA damage by  $\gamma$ -rays continues during this time.

The regulation of gene expression by  $\gamma$ -irradiation did not necessarily match that by Zeocin, a DNA breaking agent that is similar to bleomycin. Comet assay

analysis revealed that treatment with Zeocin caused nuclear DNA breaks in the poplar cells, as observed with  $\gamma$ -rays (Fig. 22A). Furthermore, Zeocin treatment led to an increase in the expression of the three genes *PnLIG4*, *PnKU70*, and *PnRAD51* (Fig. 22B), suggesting that either Zeocin itself or the DNA strand breaks and triggers the expression of these genes. It has previously been reported that bleomycin treatment results in an increase in the expression of *AtKu70* in *A. thaliana* (Tamura et al. 2002); however, this is the first study to demonstrate that a DNA breaking agent induces the expression of the genes encoding DNA ligase IV and RAD51 from plant species. Based on the findings of this study, it was concluded that the expression of *PnLIG4*, *PnKU70*, and *PnRAD51* are directly induced by DNA strand breaks, because all three of these genes are upregulated by both  $\gamma$ -rays and Zeocin. In contrast, the expression of *PnXRCC4* and *PnPCNA* was not elevated by treatment with Zeocin, despite both genes being upregulated by  $\gamma$ -rays, suggesting that neither of these genes are directly induced by DNA strand breaks.

The expression pattern of *PnOGG1* was completely different from the five  $\gamma$ -ray-induced genes. The OGG1 protein is an important DNA glycosylase that removes 8-oxoG (Van Der Kemp et al. 1996), which is generated by hydroxyl radicals produced in the  $\gamma$ -radiolysis of water, and is an oxidative DNA damage (Cadet et al. 2004). *PnOGG1* was predicted to encode an 8-oxoguanine DNA glycosylase and was expressed in *P. nigra* under normal conditions (Figs. 20 and 21). However,  $\gamma$ -irradiation reduced the expression level of *PnOGG1* and the subsequent disappearance of  $\gamma$ -rays increased the mRNA of *PnOGG1*. These observations imply that the *PnOGG1* gene is not required for the repair of oxidative DNA damage by  $\gamma$ -rays. In *A. thaliana*, AtOGG1 is capable of nicking an oligonucleotide duplex containing a single 8-oxoG, but its

expression is not influenced by either  $\gamma$ -rays or hydrogen peroxide (Dany and Tissier 2001). However, *A. thaliana* also possesses the *AtMMH/AtFPG* gene, which encodes a formamidopyrimidine-DNA glycosylase (Gao and Murphy 2001; Ohtsubo et al. 1998). AtMMH/AtFPG is not homologous to AtOGG1 but is able to nick double-stranded oligonucleotides containing 8-oxoG. Therefore, although it is presently unclear why *P. nigra* that were exposed to  $\gamma$ -irradiation had reduced the levels of *PnOGG1* mRNA, it is possible that an as yet unknown poplar homolog of AtMMH/AtFPG is involved in the cellular response to oxidative DNA damage by  $\gamma$ -rays.

It was initially speculated that any induced gene expression would reflect part of the defense mechanisms of *P. nigra* against  $\gamma$ -irradiation. However, the obtained data are insufficient to explain the response mechanism to ionizing radiation stress in poplars because more than 45,000 protein-coding genes have been predicted to exist in the *Populus* nuclear genome (Tuskan et al. 2006). In the future, it will be possible to use gene expression profiling by DNA microarray analysis or transgenic technology to identify the genes that are involved in the adaptation to ionizing radiation stress.

#### 2.5 Conclusion

In this study, the biological effects of  $\gamma$ -rays on *P. nigra* were investigated to elucidate the mechanisms of adaptation and tolerance to ionizing radiation in woody plants. The  $\gamma$ -irradiated poplar plants exhibited abnormal leaf shapes and colors, fusion, distorted venation, shortened internodes, fasciation of the stems, and the induction of axillary shoots. In addition, acute  $\gamma$ -irradiation at a dose of 100 Gy greatly reduced the height, stem diameter, and biomass of poplar plantlets; and after receiving doses of 200 and 300 Gy, all of the plantlets stopped growing, and most withered 4–10 weeks after

 $\gamma$ -irradiation. Comet assays showed that the nuclear DNA in suspension-cultured poplar cells was damaged by  $\gamma$ -rays. To determine whether DNA repair-related proteins are involved in the response to  $\gamma$ -rays in *P. nigra*, the cDNAs of *PnRAD51*, *PnLIG4*, *PnKU70*, *PnXRCC4*, *PnPCNA*, and *PnOGG1* were cloned and their mRNA expressions were investigated. The *PnRAD51*, *PnLIG4*, *PnKU70*, *PnXRCC4*, and *PnPCNA* mRNAs were increased by  $\gamma$ -rays, but the *PnOGG1* mRNA was decreased. Moreover, the expression of *PnLIG4*, *PnKU70*, and *PnRAD51* was upregulated by Zeocin, which is a known DNA cleavage agent. These observations suggest that morphogenesis, growth, and protective gene expression are severely affected by DNA damage and unknown cellular events that are caused by  $\gamma$ -irradiation in *P. nigra*.

# Chapter 3 An improved transformation system for

Populus nigra

### 3.1 Introduction

Genetic engineering can allow the selective improvement of individual traits in forest trees without losing any of the desirable traits of the parental line and is thought to be useful for overcoming the difficulties associated with breeding long-lived perennials, which take a long time to produce progeny. *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation has traditionally been the preferred method for introducing foreign genes into plants. Numerous plant species, including a wide range of woody species, are susceptible to infection by the genus *Agrobacterium* (Gelvin 2003). However, many difficulties have been encountered when attempting to regenerate transgenic woody plants and, in many cases, appropriate regeneration systems have not yet been established. Efficient and reproducible transformation systems have been reported for a limited number of broadleaved trees, however, including poplars.

Efforts to develop a model tree have focused on the genus *Populus* (Bradshaw et al. 2000; Nanjo et al. 2004). This genus consists of six sections: *Abaso, Turanga, Leucoides, Aigeiros* (cottonwoods), *Tacamahaca* (balsam poplars), and *Populus* (aspens and white poplars) (Eckenwalder 1996). Because *Aigeiros* and *Tacamahaca* can hybridize with each other, both are termed cottonwoods in some instances. The frequency of successful transformation varies between *Populus* species. In general, aspens have a much higher transformation frequency than cottonwoods; for example, the transformation frequency in aspens is 25-75% in *P. tremula*  $\times$  *P. tremuloides* 

56

(Nilsson et al. 1992), 80% in *P. tremula* (Tzfira et al. 1997a), and 40% in *P. sieboldii* × *P. grandidentata* (Ebinuma et al. 1997), while that in cottonwoods is 10% in *P. trichocarpa* × *P. deltoids* (De Block 1990), 2% in *P.* × *euramericana* (Heuchelin et al. 1997), and 2% in a wide variety of other cottonwood genotypes (*P. deltoides*, *P. deltoides* × *P. nigra*, and *P. trichocarpa* × *P. deltoides*) (Han et al. 2000).

*Populus nigra* is one of the important trees for forestry and is also an appropriate species for scientific research, as described in Chapter 1. Some transformation systems for *P. nigra* have previously been reported for leaves (Confalonieri et al. 1994; Confalonieri et al. 1995) or stems (Mohri et al. 1996). In these systems, however, a long time is required for the regeneration of the transgenic plants because calli need to form in the *Agrobacterium*-infected leaves and stems (Fig. 5). Furthermore, the efficiency of the transformation is not sufficiently high and non-transgenic poplar plants often appear. To facilitate the development of molecular biology and molecular breeding of *P. nigra*, a highly efficient and reproducible transformation system is required for this species. Therefore, in this study, a novel binary vector was designed and constructed, and an improved procedure for *A. tumefaciens*-mediated transformation of *P. nigra* was developed, which used the direct regeneration of adventitious shoots rather than relying on the formation of calli.

#### **3.2** Materials and methods

#### 3.2.1 Plant Material

*Populus nigra* plants were propagated by excising young branches and rooting these in moist vermiculite. Rooted branches were then grown in a phytotron at 25°C and 70% relative humidity under metal halide lamps (500  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> of PAR, 16:8 h

light:dark photoperiod). Young stems that were approximately 2 weeks old were used as the explants in the transformation experiment.

#### 3.2.2 Construction of binary vectors

The binary vector pBI121 (Jefferson et al. 1987) was digested with *Sma*I and *Sac*I, and then ligated to a DNA linker that had been prepared by annealing two synthetic oligonucleotides, BF-1 (5'-GGGTCGACGGTACCTAGGCGTACGACTAGT CTCGAGTATACGAGCT-3') and BF-2 (5'-CGTATACTCGAGACTAGTCGTACGCCT AGGTACCGTCGACCC-3'). The resulting binary vector, which was designated pBF1, had lost the *GUS* gene and instead carried 11 unique recognition sites for restriction enzymes.

Following the digestion of pBF1 with *Apa*I and *Not*I, the excised DNA fragment (4 kbp) that contained the *NPTII* gene was inserted into the *Apa*I and *Not*I sites of pBluescript II KS(+) (Stratagene). The resulting plasmid, pBS2NPT, was then digested with *Apa*I and *Pst*I, and the excised DNA fragment (0.9 kbp) was newly inserted into the *Apa*I and *Pst*I sites of another pBluescript II KS(+). This plasmid was digested with *Nco*I and *Sph*I for the removal of the mutation site, and then ligated to a DNA linker that had been prepared by annealing two oligonucleotides, TTOG1 (5'-CCCGACGGCGAGGATCTCGTCGTGACC-3') and TTOG2 (5'-CATGGGTCACG ACGAGATCCTCGCCGTCGGGCATG-3'). The resulting plasmid was digested with *Apa*I and *Pst*I, and the excised DNA fragment (0.9 kbp) was inserted again into *Apa*I and *Pst*I predigested pBS2NPT. Following the digestion of this plasmid with *Apa*I and *Not*I digested pBF1. The resulting fragment (4 kbp) was reinserted into the first *Apa*I and *Not*I digested pBF1.

To use the enhanced green fluorescent protein (*EGFP*) gene as a reporter gene, pBF2::EGFP was constructed. A fragment of the *EGFP* gene was amplified by means of PCR using pEGFP (Clontech, Palo Alto, CA, USA), and the oligonucleotide primers GFP1 (5'-GGATCCCCGGGTACC-3') and GFP2 (5'-ACGAGCTCAGTTGGTAATGG TAGCGA-3'). Following digestion of the amplified DNA fragment with *Bam*HI and *Sac*I, the excised fragment was inserted into the *Bam*HI and *Sac*I sites of pBF2. The sequence of each constructed plasmid was confirmed by DNA sequencing.

#### 3.2.3 Transformation of *P. nigra*

Agrobacterium tumefaciens EHA105 (Hood et al. 1993) harboring either pBF2::EGFP or pIG121Hm (Ohta et al. 1990) was grown in 2 × YT liquid medium (Sambrook and Russell 2001) containing 20 mg  $l^{-1}$  rifampicin and 50 mg  $l^{-1}$  kanamycin at 28°C for 24 h. The cells were harvested by centrifugation and suspended to an optical density of 600 nm (OD<sub>600</sub>) = 0.5 in 20 mM MES-KOH (pH 5.8), 200 mM glucose, 1 × MSBS, and 1 × MSV.

Stems of *P. nigra* were sterilized with sodium hypochlorite solution (approximately 1% active chlorine) for 10 min, and then washed with sterile water. Following this, 1-cm-long segments were excised from the stems (avoiding the nodes) and divided in half vertically. The stem segments were soaked for 30 min in the bacterial suspension. The inoculated explants were then cultured on a cocultivation medium containing 20 mM MES-KOH (pH 5.8),  $1 \times MSBS$ ,  $1 \times MSV$ , 3% sucrose, 50 mM glucose, 0.5 mg 1<sup>-1</sup> 2,4-D, 1 mg 1<sup>-1</sup> BAP, 5 mM dithiothreitol (DTT), 40 mg 1<sup>-1</sup> acetosyringone (4-hydroxy-3,5-dimethoxyacetophenone), and 0.8% Bacto Agar at 25°C in the dark for 3 days. Next, they were washed three times with sterilized water and

once with a mixture of 20 mM MES-KOH (pH 5.8),  $1 \times$  MSBS,  $1 \times$  MSV, and 500 mg  $I^{-1}$  cefotaxime. The washed explants were transferred into a bactericidal medium containing 20 mM MES-KOH (pH 5.8),  $1 \times$  MSBS,  $1 \times$  MSV, 3% sucrose, 0.5 mg  $I^{-1}$  2,4-D, 1 mg  $I^{-1}$  BAP, 5 mM DTT, 500 mg  $I^{-1}$  cefotaxime, and 0.8% Bacto Agar, and were then incubated at 25°C in the dark for a further 3 days.

For regeneration of the transgenic shoots, the explants were subcultured every 2 weeks on SIM (Table 9) containing 20 mM MES-KOH (pH 5.8),  $1 \times MSBS$ ,  $1 \times MSV$ , 3% sucrose, 0.5 mg l<sup>-1</sup> *trans*-zeatin, 0.1 mg l<sup>-1</sup> BAP, and 0.8% Bacto Agar with the appropriate antibiotics, as follows: 50 mg l<sup>-1</sup> kanamycin and 500 mg l<sup>-1</sup> cefotaxime at 25°C under cool white fluorescent light (approximately 6 µmol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> of PAR, 16:8 h light:dark photoperiod) in weeks 1 and 2; 100 mg l<sup>-1</sup> kanamycin and 500 mg l<sup>-1</sup> cefotaxime under the same temperature and light conditions in weeks 3 and 4; and 100 mg l<sup>-1</sup> kanamycin and 500 mg l<sup>-1</sup> cefotaxime under the same temperature but stronger light (approximately 60 µmol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> of PAR, 16:8 h light:dark photoperiod) from week 5 onward. Regenerated shoots were excised and transferred into RIM (Table 10) containing 20 mM MES-KOH (pH 5.8), 0.5 × MSBS, 1 × MSV, 3% sucrose, 0.5 mg l<sup>-1</sup> indole-3-butyric acid, 0.02 mg l<sup>-1</sup> cefotaxime in a Petri dish. After 4 weeks, each rooted shoot was transferred into RIM containing 10 mg l<sup>-1</sup> kanamycin in a plastic plant culture jar, in which the shoots continued to be incubated.

#### 3.2.4 Fluorescent microscopy

Expression of the *EGFP* gene in the transgenic poplar plants was detected using an SZX12 stereomicroscope (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan) equipped with an epifluorescence attachment. A GFP filter set (a 460–490 nm excitation filter and a 510-nm long-pass emission filter) was used for detection.

#### 3.2.5 Protein analysis

A crude protein solution was prepared from the leaves of the transgenic poplar plants as follows. The leaves were frozen in liquid nitrogen and then ground using a cell disruptor (Yasui Kikai, Osaka, Japan). The disrupted leaves were mixed with an extraction buffer containing 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5), 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, 1% (w/v) Nonidet P-40, 2 mM DTT, and cOmplete<sup>™</sup>, EDTA-free Protease Inhibitors (Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany) at 4°C for 15 min. Following centrifugation at 18,000 g for 10 min, the crude protein solution was obtained. The protein concentration was determined using the Coomassie Plus Protein Assay Reagent (Pierce, Rockford, IL, USA), with bovine serum albumin as the standard. The crude protein was subjected to sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) on 12% gels. The fractionated proteins were then stained with Coomassie blue R-350 or blotted onto polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membranes. Immunoblotting was performed using either the Living Colors® A.v. Peptide antibody (Clontech) against EGFP or immunoglobulin G (IgG) (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR, USA) against GUS. The signal was detected using the ECL Plus Western Blotting Detection Reagent (Amersham Biosciences, Piscataway, NJ, USA).

#### 3.2.6 DNA analysis

Genomic DNA was isolated from leaves of the transgenic poplar plants using a DNeasy Plant Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). The foreign *NPTII* gene was

detected by PCR using two primers, the NPT2U primer (5'-GCTATTCGGCTATGACT GG-3') and the NPT2R primer (5'-ATAGAAGGCGATGCGCTG-3'). Southern hybridization was performed using <sup>32</sup>P-labeled *NPTII*, *GUS*, and *EGFP* genes as the probes (Nishiguchi et al. 2002).

#### **3.3** Results and discussion

#### 3.3.1 Construction of a new binary vector

A new binary vector, pBF2, was designed and constructed to enable versatile DNA cloning and to enhance the resistance of transformed plants to antibiotics (Fig. 23). The pBI121 vector, which has generally been used for the transformation of plants including *P. nigra*, contains only four restriction enzyme sites (*XbaI*, *Bam*HI, *SmaI*, and *SacI*) for DNA cloning (Fig. 23). By substituting the DNA cloning site of pBI121, the recognition sites of seven restriction enzymes (*SalI*, *KpnI*, *BlnI*, *Bsi*WI, *SpeI*, *XhoI*, and *Bst*1107I) were added to the pBF2 vector, allowing 11 unique restriction enzyme sites to be utilized for DNA cloning. Among these restriction enzymes, *XbaI*, *BlnI*, and *SpeI* produce the common cleaved ends, which can ligate to each other. *SalI* and *XhoI* generate other common cleaved ends, while *SmaI* and *Bst*1107I produce blunt ends. The arrangement of these restriction enzyme sites will likely facilitate the cloning of various DNA fragments into pBF2 (Fig. 24).

The *NPTII* gene in pBI121 is known to contain a mutation. The resulting mutant NPTII enzyme exhibits lower levels of kanamycin phosphorylation than the normal NPTII enzyme (Yenofsky et al. 1990). Since this reduced activity decreases resistance to antibiotics, it may explain the low transformation efficiency in *Brassica napus* (Datla et al. 1992). To improve the activity of the mutant NPTII, the aspartic acid

residue at position 182 in the mutant NPTII enzyme was replaced with glutamic acid during the construction of the pBF2 vector. The normal NPTII enzyme can inactivate not only kanamycin but also G418 (Geneticin®), which is an aminoglycoside antibiotic similar to kanamycin. It was demonstrated that *E. coli* JM109 harboring pBF2 could survive in the presence of 50 mg  $l^{-1}$  kanamycin or 20 mg  $l^{-1}$  G418, while *E. coli* harboring pBI121 could not grow on G418 (Fig. 25), demonstrating that the reverse mutation of NPTII succeeded and that the activity of NPTII from pBF2 is higher than that from pBI121.

#### 3.3.2 Improvement of the transformation process

It usually takes 1–2 months to induce the formation of calli and increase their size, and a similar period to regenerate and elongate shoots in the transformation of *P. nigra* (Mohri et al. 1996). In addition, the appearance of non-transformed cells and somaclonal variation has been detected in the regeneration of organs from calli (Tzfira et al. 1997b). To reduce the time required for transformation and to avoid these risks, the present study attempted to directly induce adventitious shoots from poplar explants rather than from calli (Fig. 26).

*Populus nigra* explants were infected with *A. tumefaciens* EHA105 harboring either pBF2::EGFP or pIG121Hm (Fig. 27) as the control, and were then subcultured in SIM containing kanamycin along with *trans*-zeatin and BAP. This mixture induced the production of adventitious shoots within 1–2 months (Fig. 28A). These shoots were then excised and transferred into RIM supplemented with kanamycin, which resulted in approximately 20% of the shoots rooting within 4 weeks (Fig. 28B and Table 11). PCR showed that almost all of the rooted plants contained the *NPTII* gene (Fig. 29).

#### 3.3.3 Characterization of the transgenic poplars

All of the regenerated transgenic poplar plants exhibited normal growth, without any obvious morphological changes (Fig. 28C–D). The expression of EGFP in the pBF2::EGFP-transformed poplars was mainly detected in the roots and at the edges of the leaves (Fig. 30). The fluorescent segments along the leaf edges were considered to be hydathodes (Curtis and Lersten 1974; Wilson et al. 1991). The GFP fluorescence was not observed in the stems or the mesophyll cells in the leaves likely due to the strong intrinsic fluorescence of the chlorophylls interfering with the detection of the emitted EGFP signal in these parts.

To examine the protein levels in the transgenic poplars, immunoblotting was performed with antibodies against EGFP and GUS. Nine of 18 transgenic poplars harboring the *GUS* gene expressed GUS (Fig. 31A), and 12 of 18 randomly selected transgenic poplars harboring the *EGFP* gene expressed EGFP (Fig. 31B). This demonstrates that the levels of protein expression varied among the transgenic lines, with the GUS or EGFP proteins not being detected in several transgenic plants. To estimate the copy number of the introduced foreign genes, Southern blotting was performed using the probes of the *EGFP*, *NPTII*, or *GUS* genes (Fig. 32). Based on the number of signals detected, it was estimated that one to multiple copies of these genes had been inserted in the transgenic plants. Thus, not all of the transgenic poplars harboring the foreign gene were able to produce the foreign proteins.

It was found that most of the transgenic poplars carrying the multicopy transgenes did not express GUS (lines 3-1, 3-6, 3-30, and 3-33) or EGFP (lines 4-9, 4-13, 4-20, 4-26, and 4-31) (Figs. 31 and 32). One possible explanation for this may be epigenetic

gene silencing by multicopy integration of the transgenes (Rajeevkumar et al. 2015). However, some of the transgenic poplars that only contained one copy of the transgene also did not express the gene (lines 3-4 and 3-14). The reason for this is unknown, but the findings infer that there may be a position effect on expression, as the upstream or downstream region of integrated foreign genes affects their expression (Gallie 1998; Matzke and Matzke 1998). Although the dispersion of the expression levels of transgenes cannot be completely controlled at present, the high productivity of transgenic plants contributes to the acquisition of suitable transformants. As an alternate approach, heterogeneity in protein expression may be eliminated by using a more potent promoter or several matrix attachment regions (Han et al. 1997).

#### 3.3.4 Increased efficiency of transformation of *P. nigra*

Each transgenic poplar was regarded as a different genotype based on the differences in the signal patterns in the Southern blots (Fig. 32). The transformation frequency was calculated by dividing the number of genetically independent transformants by the number of infected explants (Table 11), which provided values of 11.7% with the pBF2::EGFP vector and 6.6% with the pIG121Hm vector, in the absence of DTT. The elevated transformation frequency with pBF2::EGFP may have resulted from the use of the improved *NPTII* gene. These results are consistent with transformation frequency values for *B. napus* (Datla et al. 1992).

To further increase the transformation efficiency of *P. nigra*, the use of reducing agents was investigated. Several antioxidants have been shown to increase the efficiency of *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation of soybean (Olhoft et al. 2003) and maize (*Zea mays*) (Frame et al. 2002). The presence of DTT in the cocultivation and

bactericidal media increased the transformation frequency to 19.4% with pBF2::EGFP and 21.4% with pIG121Hm (Table 11). The positive effect of antioxidants on the transformation of grape (*Vitis vinifera*) has been explained by the reduction in tissue necrosis caused by a hypersensitive response and increased peroxidase activity (Perl et al. 1996). Thus, DTT may also prevent the necrosis of *Agrobacterium*-infected poplar cells, increasing the number of viable cells.

#### 3.3.5 pBF2-conferred resistance to G418

As described in section 3.3.1, *E. coli* harboring pBF2 exhibited resistance to G418 (Fig. 25). G418 is an antibiotic that is similar to kanamycin or gentamycin, and which inhibits cell proliferation in tobacco (*N. tabacum*) (Ursic et al. 1981), *A. thaliana* (Sheikholeslam and Weeks 1987), and rice (Dekeyser et al. 1989). Normal NPTII can inactivate G418 and therefore, has sometimes been used for plant transformation. To reconfirm the antibiotic resistance of the regenerated transgenic poplars, the effects of kanamycin and G418 on callus formation and organogenesis were examined (Fig. 33). The cell growth of non-transgenic *P. nigra* was inhibited by 20 mg l<sup>-1</sup> G418 (data not shown). The petioles and stems of transgenic poplars with the pBF2::EGFP vector could produce calli and adventitious shoots, respectively, in the presence of 50 mg l<sup>-1</sup> G418 or 100 mg l<sup>-1</sup> kanamycin. In contrast, the segments of transformants with the pIG121Hm vector were unable to produce calli or shoots in the presence of G418 but could grow in kanamycin. These results indicate that the pBF2 binary vector provided resistance to both G418 and kanamycin in the transgenic poplars, maybe allowing G418 to be used as a selection agent in the transformation of *P. nigra*.
### 3.4 Conclusion

In the present study, an improved transformation system was developed for *P. nigra*. A new binary vector, pBF2, was constructed, which contained 11 unique restriction enzyme sites and the normal *NPTII* gene. Stem segments were cocultivated with *A. tumefaciens* EHA105 harboring pBF2 inserted in the *EGFP* gene. Genetically transformed adventitious shoots were directly regenerated from the stem segments and rooted. Successful transformation was confirmed by demonstrating resistance to kanamycin and G418 and performing PCR, fluorescence microscopy, immunoblotting, and Southern blotting analyses. Furthermore, when explants were incubated in a medium containing DTT, the transformation frequency increased to approximately 20%. This improved transformation system requires less time for the regeneration of transgenic shoots and thus is valuable for efficiently generating transgenic poplar plants in a short time. This, in turn, will facilitate the genetic improvement of traits through the introduction of useful genes involved in growth, wood formation, flowering, tolerance to environmental stress, and resistance to pests and disease.

## Chapter 4 Conclusion

#### 4.1 Conclusions and perspectives

As described in Chapter 1, research into the biology and utilization of poplars is a topic of great interest. Poplar research includes a wide range of studies in areas such as physiology, ecology, molecular biology, genetic engineering, forestry, chemistry, wood science, and environmental science. This wide range of research is due to the fact that poplars are not only important in industrial applications but are also key model organisms representing woody plants. To promote the usage of poplars as a model species, it is important to pioneer new fields of poplar research and develop new technologies for their study. Therefore, the elucidation of its biological response to ionizing radiation and the improvement of the transformation system for *P. nigra* were performed in this thesis (Fig. 3).

In Chapter 2, ionizing radiation was used as an abiotic stress to study the biological effects on *P. nigra*. Various abiotic and biotic stresses have been examined in *Populus* species; however, the effects of ionizing radiation have not been well studied. All living organisms on Earth are exposed to ionizing radiation and should be influenced by it. Many organisms are equipped with response and tolerance mechanisms to deal with the harmful effects of ionizing radiation. Understanding the biological response to ionizing radiation in *P. nigra* is important to understand its adaptive strategy not only under ionizing radiation stress, but also under various other environmental stresses. Moreover,  $\gamma$ -irradiated *P. nigra* trees showed growth retardation, withering, morphological changes and the suppression of organ regeneration in a dose-dependent

manner (Table 8 and Figs. 6–10). Nuclear DNA was damaged by the  $\gamma$ -rays (Table 8 and Fig. 11). Six cDNAs of the DNA repair-related proteins, PnRAD51, PnLIG4, PnKU70, PnXRCC4, PnOGG1, and PnPCNA were isolated and structurally analyzed (Figs. 13–19). *PnRAD51*, *PnLIG4*, *PnKU70*, *PnXRCC4*, and *PnPCNA* were upregulated by  $\gamma$ -irradiation, whereas *PnOGG1* was downregulated (Fig. 21). The expression of *PnLIG4*, *PnKU70*, and *PnRAD51* was also increased in cells with DNA damage induced by Zeocin, therefore, it was concluded that these three genes were induced by DNA cleavage (Fig. 22).

To the best of our knowledge, for the first time, these results demonstrated that  $\gamma$ -rays are a genotoxic stress for *P. nigra* and that *P. nigra* probably has a defense mechanism against them (Fig. 34). *P. nigra* was able to survive in 50–100 Gy of  $\gamma$ -irradiation. Considering the dose of natural radiation that wild woody plants are exposed to (Fig. 4), *P. nigra* has a high and excessive tolerance to  $\gamma$ -rays. Furthermore, in comparison to other woody plant species, *P. nigra* is thought to possess a higher tolerance to ionizing radiation (Table 12). As the nuclear DNA content of a cell becomes larger, the radiation sensitivity is generally considered to increase (Sparrow and Miksche 1961). Therefore, one of the reasons for the high tolerance of *P. nigra* to ionizing radiation may be due to the smaller genome size of poplars as compared to other woody plant species, which are more sensitive to ionizing radiation.

On the other hand, almost all the poplar plantlets died under a higher dose (200–300 Gy) of  $\gamma$ -irradiation. However, the Comet assay showed that the DNA damage suffered by poplar cells under this amount of  $\gamma$ -irradiation was the same as that under 100 Gy (Table 8 and Fig. 11). Although the Comet assay is able to determine DNA cleavage, it cannot usually find any qualitative DNA damage such as DNA oxidation by

 $\gamma$ -rays-induced reactive oxygen species (ROS). In addition, the lethal effect of  $\gamma$ -rays probably depends not only on DNA damage but also on the synergistic effect of damage and other adverse reactions induced by radiation. For example, the higher dose of  $\gamma$ -rays may directly destroy not only DNA but also other intracellular molecules or organelles. A larger amount of ROS, which is generated by high doses of  $\gamma$ -rays, may more intensely damage lipids or proteins in poplar cells.

Although the isolated DNA-repair related proteins have been thought to be involved in the tolerance response to genotoxic stress via DNA repair, the function and relationships of these proteins need to be clarified to better understand the poplar defense mechanisms against genotoxic stress. In addition to DNA repair-related proteins, many other proteins perhaps are involved in the tolerance response to genotoxic stress. *P. nigra*, as well as *P. trichocarpa*, is expected to have many genes encoding proteins (Tuskan et al. 2006; Nanjo et al. 2007). For instance, enzymes that remove ROS are potential candidates for mediators of radiation tolerance. The relationship between such candidate proteins and tolerance to genotoxic stress should be investigated to better understand stress tolerance mechanisms.

Genetic engineering has been crucial for investigating tolerance mechanisms including assaying DNA repair-related proteins. However, further development was required to make these studies possible in *P. nigra* (Fig. 5), although the transformation of *P. nigra* has been reported previously (Confalonieri et al. 1994; Confalonieri et al. 1995; Mohri et al. 1996). In Chapter 3, the transformation system for *P. nigra* was originally improved, via the creation of a new binary vector, and the transformation process was examined (Fig. 35). The transformation efficiency improved to approximately 20% of the infected explants using DTT (Table 11). The raised efficiency

was estimated to be 1.6- to 3.2-fold higher compared with experiments without DTT. It was difficult to directly compare the improved method to previous methods, because the clone of *P. nigra* utilized was different from those in previously reported studies. Due to the omission of callus induction, the regeneration time of transgenic poplar plants was shortened from approximately 6 months to 4 months, thus, it is reported to be an approximately 1.5-fold rise in transgenic efficiency. Consequently, the productivity of transgenic *P. nigra* was computationally estimated to increase to 2.4- to 4.8-fold per year by the improved method (Fig. 35).

The newly constructed vector, pBF2, has many restriction enzyme sites (Fig. 23). Some restriction enzymes give compatible ends in pBF2 (Fig. 24). For example, *XbaI*, *BlnI* and *SpeI* produce the same cleaved ends, which can ligate to each other. *SalI* and *XhoI* also generate common cleaved ends. On the other hand, *SmaI* and *Bst*1107I create blunt ends. The design of pBF2 is convenient for ligating foreign DNA fragments. Thus, pBF2 should be useful for the transformation of not only *P. nigra* but also other plant species. The pBF2 vector also conferred G418 resistance in addition to kanamycin resistance on the transformants (Figs. 25 and 33). These results were probably caused by the reverse mutation of the *NPTII* gene on pBF2. G418 has not been previously reported as a selection reagent for transgenic poplars. Although G418 is assumed to be used as a selection reagent for the poplar transformation, the appropriate concentration of G418 for the selection of transgenic poplars remains to be examined.

By improving the transformation system, *P. nigra* is easier to transform than that reported previously, enhancing the value of *P. nigra* as a woody plant model species. The improved system is available for the study of gene function and for the generation of transgenic poplars. However, some limitations remain. The established

71

transformation system may require modification for other clones or hybrids of *P. nigra*. Unlike general herbaceous model plants such as *A. thaliana* and rice, poplar plants are heterozygous genotypically. Poplars with different genotypes may show different responses during regeneration and antibiotic selection; thus, their transformation efficiency may be reduced. Moreover, in comparison with herbaceous model plants, few promoters and enhancers that regulate gene expression have been isolated and characterized from poplars. To control gene expression and avoid adverse effects, various promoters or enhancers with distinct expression patterns are needed. On the other hand, although the traits of transgenic poplars are controlled by introduced transgenes, reliable methods for the selection of useful transgenes have not been established. These difficult problems must be resolved to optimally utilize not only *P. nigra* but also other *Populus* species as woody plant models.

In terms of practical applications, the tolerance of poplars to ionizing radiation is higher than that of humans, a trait that may prove beneficial. P. nigra trees can survive under >50 Gy of  $\gamma$ -irradiation, although the radiation doses at which 10%, 50% and 90% of humans die after whole body exposure are estimated to be 1-2 Gy, 4 Gy and 5–7 Gy, respectively (ICRP 2007). Thereby, poplar trees are able to grow where humans cannot continuously live due to ionizing radiation above the natural background, such as at uranium ore mines or atomic accident locations that are cited as radioactively-contaminated areas. The phytoremediation of radionuclides in the soil has been studied (Dushenkov 2003; Gupta and Walther 2014; Sharma et al. 2015). As described in Chapter 1, poplars are suitable plants for phytoremediation because they are perennials with rapid growth and deep root systems. Therefore, if poplar trees are planted in such places, they may enhance the accumulation and elimination of

72

radionuclides. Moreover, using genetic engineering, transgenic poplars with higher tolerance to ionizing radiation may enhance environmental restoration in higher-dose regions polluted by radionuclides.

To biologically monitor radiation dose, chromosomal aberrations in living organisms have often been employed. After the Chernobyl accident in 1986, transgenic plants were tested for their use in radiation monitoring. To analyze the influence of chronic irradiation from radioactive-contaminated soil, the transgenic *A. thaliana* plant harboring a chimeric *GUS* gene was generated as a bioindicator (Kovalchuk et al. 1998). In this transgenic line, the chimeric *GUS* gene was repaired by homologous recombinational repair, stimulated by ionizing radiation. Radioactive pollution could be significantly detected from 3,700 Bq m<sup>-2</sup> to 33 MBq m<sup>-2</sup>. On the other hand, a  $\gamma$ -irradiation hypersensitive mutant of *A. thaliana* was used for the detection of  $\gamma$ -rays (Peng et al. 2014). AtATM is a DNA repair-related protein, and an *AtATM*-disrupted mutant does not have a functioning DNA repair system. Subsequently, the *GFP* gene was introduced into the *AtATM* mutant. In this transgenic *A. thaliana* line, the radiation-damage *GFP* was not adequately repaired, and thus, the quenching of GFP was utilized to monitor  $\gamma$ -ray exposure.

As described in Chapter 1, poplar trees have been utilized as environmental monitors. Genes encoding DNA repair-related proteins from *P. nigra* may also be utilized for radiation monitoring. The expression of *PnLIG4* and *PnKU70* increased under exposure to  $\gamma$ -rays or Zeocin (Figs. 21 and 22). These results show that the promoters of *PnLIG4* and *PnKU70* are activated by genotoxic stress. If the promoters of these genes are fused to a suitable reporter gene, and the fused genes are introduced into poplars, it may become possible to generate transgenic genotoxic-monitoring trees that

recognize  $\gamma$ -rays or genotoxic agents and express the reporter gene of interest. By combining genetic engineering technology and DNA repair-related genes, the monitoring of genotoxic environmental pollution by radioactive substances or chemical carcinogens may be possible by transgenic poplars.

The control and utilization of DNA repair mechanisms may make mutation breeding advantageous. Although ionizing radiation has often been utilized for mutation breeding, the probability of a mutation occurring in a target gene is low, because radiation randomly damages DNA, and the induced DNA damage is mostly repaired. A higher dose of ionizing radiation raises the efficiency of generating mutations; however, it also increases harmful effects such as protein and membrane lipid damage, excessive ROS production and death of the irradiated cells in the extreme case. Therefore, a high frequency of mutation should be balanced with the the mitigation of cell damage by ionizing radiation. If the DNA repair system is temporarily weakened by genetic engineering during irradiation, a lower radiation level may be sufficiently able to cause the desired mutation.

Consequently, the present study increased the value of *P. nigra* as a woody plant model species by pioneering a new field of study, radiation stress physiology, and the development of better genetic engineering technologies (Fig. 36). In addition, synergy between a greater understanding of stress physiology and improved genetic engineering has the potential to spark the creation of new technology and applications for poplars. However, transgenic poplars, which are generated by modern genetic engineering techniques, have intrinsic and difficult limitations that are related to biosafety. For the practical utilization of transgenic poplars, these problems must be resolved. In the later sections, new technology beyond traditional genetic engineering methods and the assessment of risk in the use of transgenic poplars will be addressed.

#### 4.2 New plant breeding techniques (NPBT)

NPBT are expected to substitute for conventional mutation breeding or transgenic technology, because some NPBT allow site-specific and targeted changes in the genome with no traces of the foreign gene (Lusser et al. 2011). Zinc finger nuclease (ZFN) technology is an NPBT that introduces site-specific mutations into the plant genome or allows the site-specific integration of genes (Lloyd et al. 2005). In addition, TAL effector nuclease (TALEN) technology (Cermak et al. 2011) and the clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR) and CRISPR-associated protein 9 (Cas9) system (Li et al. 2013b) were recently developed as tools for genome editing in plants.

The CRISPR/Cas9 system was used to independently disrupt two 4-coumarate:CoA ligase genes (4*CL1* and 4*CL2*) in *P. tremula*  $\times$  *P. alba* (Zhou et al. 2015), resulting in the lignin content being reduced in the 4*CL1* mutants but remaining the same as control plants in the 4*CL2* mutants. The CRISPR/Cas9 system was also used to disrupt the phytoene desaturase (*PDS*) gene in *P. tomentosa*, leading to albino shoots being formed that had lost their green color (Fan et al. 2015).

Virus-induced gene silencing or gene expression is also an NPBT, which uses a virus that cannot be integrated into the host genome as the vector. Gene silencing based on the tobacco rattle virus led to a reduction in the phytoene desaturase in *P. tomentosa* (Jiang et al. 2014b), and in *P. euphratica* and *P. × canescens* (Shen et al. 2015). Another NPBT is the grafting of a non-transgenic scion on a transgenic rootstock. Here, the scion does not contain the foreign gene. However, one study showed that the Bt toxin

protein that was expressed in transgenic rootstock poplars was translocated within the phloem and detected in the grafted scion, resulting in the leaves of the grafted scion having a lethal effect on herbivorous larvae (Wang et al. 2012b).

Although NPBT are very useful for gene targeting or for the introduction of new traits, there is controversy over whether NPBT products lack foreign genes such as *NPTII* are LMOs (Podevin et al. 2012; Heap 2013; Hartung and Schiemann 2014). Each country independently regulates LMOs through process- or product-based regulatory frameworks; however, the regulation of NPBT remains under consideration (Araki and Ishii 2015). If the new annual crops that are produced by NPBT possess no foreign genes, they may not be treated as LMOs for agriculture and commerce in the future. However, the improved trees produced by NPBT may need to be assessed in terms of safety and risk due to their perennial longevity.

#### 4.3 Risk assessment for transgenic poplars as living modified organisms

The planted area of living modified crops for commercialization reached 181.5 million ha across 28 countries in 2014 (James 2014). However, genetically engineered forest trees, including transgenic poplars, are hardly used for practical purposes. For example, the only country that has commercially planted transgenic poplars is China, where trees expressing *B. thuringiensis* toxin genes were first planted in 2002. The plantation area of the transgenic poplars has since increased, reaching 490 ha in 2011 (Hu et al. 2014); and in 2015, the commercial cultivation of transgenic eucalyptus (*Eucalyptus* spp.) was approved in Brazil (ISAAA 2015). One of the reasons why transgenic trees are less popular than transgenic herbaceous crops is likely due to the difficulties in assessing their risks as LMOs to the environment.

The issue of LMOs was first addressed at the Convention on Biological Diversity at the Rio Earth Summit in 1992 (UN 1992). Following this, the Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety defined an LMO as any living organism that possesses a novel combination of genetic material obtained through the use of modern biotechnology such as *in vitro* nucleic acid techniques (SCBD 2000). The original aim of the Cartagena Protocol was to prevent LMOs from having an impact on biological diversity. Because transgenic poplars are LMOs, their generation, utilization, and management should be conducted with a consideration for biological diversity and according to their regulatory framework. Therefore, the risks and environmental impacts of transgenic poplars need to be assessed in the laboratory, greenhouse, and field, according to the laws of each country.

Gene flow and transfer from LMOs may affect other plants, animals, and microorganisms. Recombinant DNA is discharged from transgenic poplars into the soil through their elongated roots, and fallen leaves and branches; for example, the DNA sequences of the introduced T-DNA were detected in the soil of cultivated transgenic *P. alba* using PCR/Southern blot hybridization (Bonadei et al. 2009). However, any DNA that is present in the soil is not consistently transferred into other organisms. For example, in the case of transgenic *P. tomentosa* containing the introduced *Atriplex hortensis DREB1* (*AhDREB1*) gene and the *NPTII* gene, 37 species of microorganisms in the planted soil showed a tolerance to kanamycin, but none contained the introduced *NPTII* gene (Lu et al. 2014). The transfer of the *bar* gene from transgenic poplars to *Amanita muscaria*, an ectomycorrhizal fungus, was also examined, which showed that 35,000 ectomycorrhizas did not show phosphinothricin resistance, and 102 of these did not possess the *bar* gene (Zhang et al. 2005). Horizontal gene transfer between

transgenic poplars and other organisms is crucial for biosafety; therefore, this should be tested and challenged continuously.

The pollen of poplars is wind-dispersed and can be spread widely, with estimates including 7.6 km (Slavov et al. 2009) and 8.2 km (Rathmacher et al. 2010). The seeds of poplars are also very small and have light hair, allowing them to be transferred a great distance from the mother tree. The seeds of *P. nigra* have been reported to move more than 100 km along an entire river system (Imbert and Lefèvre 2003). Moreover, vegetative reproduction by root suckers (root sprouts) is well known in some poplar species. Therefore, to avoid hybridization between transgenic and non-transgenic poplars, transgenic poplars should be cultivated in a confined field that is a sufficient distance from natural poplar trees and that is surrounded by an impermeable barrier. Moreover, any disused transgenic poplars should be cut down and completely withered by a herbicide. Transgenic sterility has also been studied to prevent the dispersal of pollen and seed. For example, male sterile transgenic poplars harboring tapetum-specific promoter-driven barnase (ribonulease) were produced, and the barnase-expressed poplars did not produce pollen for 4 years in the field (Elorriaga et al. 2014).

Investigation of the effects of transgenic poplars on biological diversity is essential. The environmental impact of transgenic *P. alba*  $\times$  *P. glandulosa* that expressed insecticidal proteins, Bt-Cry3A, and oryzacystatin I was investigated in field studies over 3 years, which showed that they had no effect on non-target pests and other arthropods (Zhang et al. 2011a; Zhang et al. 2011b). Similarly, transgenic *P. tremula*  $\times$  *P. alba* with modified lignin metabolism had no effect on the fungal communities in the roots or soil (Danielsen et al. 2012). However, the fallen leaves of the Bt-Cry3A

78

expressed *P. tremula*  $\times$ *P. tremuloides* were reported to affect aquatic insect communities (Axelsson et al. 2011). Because different transgenic poplars are likely to have different impacts on biological diversity, these should be investigated carefully over long time periods.

Poplar is likely to continue to be planted for many years both for commercial cultivation and environmental conservation. Therefore, when utilizing transgenic poplars, it is essential that the stability of the transgenes is investigated. Transgenic P. tremula  $\times P$ . alba expressing cytosolic pine glutamine synthetase exhibited a higher growth rate than wild type trees for 3 years in a field test, and the amount of glutamine synthetase also remained at a higher level (Jing et al. 2004); and 3 years later, the fiber length of the transgenic poplars was still longer than that of the wild type (Coleman et al. 2012). Similarly, 2,256 transgenic P. tremula  $\times$  P. tremuloides and P. tremula  $\times$  P. alba that were planted and grown in a greenhouse and in the field expressed the *rbcS* promoter-driven bar gene and the CaMV 35S promoter-driven GFP gene for 3 years (Li et al. 2009); expression of the Agrobacterium rolC gene in transgenic P. tremula  $\times$  P. tremuloides was detected in 19-year-old tissue cultures and more than 18-year-old trees in a glasshouse (Fladung et al. 2013); and the AhDREB gene in transgenic P. tomentosa was expressed 7 years after cultivation in the field (Lu et al. 2014). These results suggest that transgenes are stably maintained and expressed in transgenic poplars over a long time period.

The results obtained in the laboratory do not always match those in the greenhouse or field. For instance, transgenic *P. alba* overexpressing *Aspergillus* xyloglucanase exhibited faster growth than non-transgenic poplars in a growth chamber (Park et al. 2004); however, both types exhibited similar growth in a greenhouse

(Taniguchi et al. 2008), and the transgenic poplars exhibited slower growth than the non-transgenic poplars in the field (Taniguchi et al. 2012). It was also found that although transgenic *P. trichocarpa* had a lower lignin content than the wild type in a greenhouse, this increased in field trials (Stout et al. 2014). These differences between laboratory and field results may be attributed to differences in the environmental conditions, but are not yet fully understood.

There are many things that we do not yet understand about the risks of living modified trees to the environment and to humans. Therefore, assessment of the environmental impacts of transgenic poplars is important and related research into the practical utilization of transgenic poplars should continue. The risk assessment of transgenic poplars is also considered to be of great importance and value for the assessment of transgenic trees of other woody plant species.

#### 4.4 The role of the poplar in science and its applications

In 1990, the total forested area in the world was 4.17 billion ha. Due to deforestation, the forested area decreased to 4.03 billion ha in 2010 (FAO 2010). A total of 135 million ha of forest disappeared in 1990–2010. The deforested area is equal to 5.4-fold of the total forested area in Japan (approximately 25 million ha). Deforestation was particularly prevalent in South America, Africa, and Oceania. The world's forests accumulate enormous biomass and contribute to carbon sequestration. In addition, the total biomass in the world's forests has been estimated to be 600 gigatons (Gt) in dry weight (FAO 2010). The carbon stock pooled in biomass, soil, and other factors in forests have further been calculated as 289, 292, and 72 Gt, respectively. Accordingly, the decrease in the world's forests led to the reduction of available woody biomass and

the progress of global warming by the emission of carbon. Furthermore, an increasing human population requires the products and services of forests more than ever.

Under these circumstances, the advancement of the science of woody plants is significantly important for resource and environmental conservation. The study of woody plants is required for optimizing the high productivity of tree biomass, the quality of wood, accessible resources, economic benefits, greening, environmental protection and restoration, and sustainable ecosystem services. However, most forest tree species remain underrepresented in biological research, with less scientific knowledge about them than poplar trees. For instance, adequate genomic resources such as molecular markers, ESTs, and genomic sequences are unavailable, and experimental techniques such as cell engineering or genetic engineering remain underdeveloped for many tree species. Therefore, it is often difficult to study various problems directly using such forest tree species.

Poplars can play a key role as the woody plant model species for developing the science and technology of these forest trees. Various studies on poplars have been widely performed and can provide not only poplar biologists but also other many scientists with useful information. For example, the number of studies including the term "*Populus*" per year in NCBI Medline increased nearly tenfold from 1998 to 2006 (Jansson and Douglas 2007). In 2014, this number was approximately 2-fold more than that in 2006, representing over 400 publications/year. Moreover, poplar research has incorporated innovative concepts and technologies such as genomics, other omics, NPBT, and systems biology approaches (Street et al. 2011; Chen et al. 2014a; Dash et al. 2015). As in this thesis that focuses on studying ionizing radiation stress, a large number of genomic resources for poplar research is also available for research into various other fields. Genetic engineering of poplars can be used to develop experimental tools for the investigation of genes not only from poplars but also from other woody plants. Thus, the knowledge gained from studying poplars should be applied to research other woody plants.

However, poplars also have limitations as a model species. Bradshaw et al. (2000) explained that because of the long juvenile period, it takes long time to select homozygous mutants by mutagenesis and crossing. In addition, self-fertilization cannot occur due to dioecism; and thus, backcrosses must be performed for the production of inbred lines. The experimental cultivation of poplars requires large facilities or fields. From the viewpoint of industrial application, poplars are regarded as less important than eucalyptus for paper production or softwoods such as pines and cedars for wood materials. In addition to these factors, poplars are often difficult to use as model plants as they do not always have the characteristic properties of the target woody plant such as chemical composition or specific stress tolerance. Considering these problems, it is better to consider poplars as experimental materials.

On the other hand, in industrial applications using poplars, various issues of forestry and economy remain, such as productivity and wood quality, control of pests and disease, stressful environmental conditions, labor, costs, industrial demand and the environmental impact of poplar plantations. The developing science and technology of poplars as a model species are also likely to be useful for the solution of these practical problems. Further development of the science and application of poplars will likely contribute to the sustainable supply of forest resources and the conservation of the global environment.

# Acknowledgements

I am very grateful to my supervisor, Prof. Dr. Kazuo Watanabe (University of Tsukuba) for the critical advice on the writing of this dissertation in the course of the doctoral degree. I would like to express my gratitude to Prof. Dr. Kouji Nakamura (Univ. of Tsukuba) for the guidance during the college days and for the useful advice as a sub-supervisor in the course of the doctoral degree. I am also gratefyl to Assoc. Prof. Dr. Akira Kikuchi (Univ. of Tsukuba) and Assoc. Prof. Dr. Michiyuki Ono (Univ. of Tsukuba) for their helpful advice and comments as sub-supervisor. I specially thank Dr. Kazumasa Yoshida (Forestry and Forest Products Research Institute, FFPRI), Dr. Kenji Shinohara (FFPRI at that time and RIKEN), Dr. Tokihiko Nanjo (FFPRI), Dr. Takeshi Mohri (FFPRI), and Dr. Tomohiro Igasaki (FFPRI) for their valuable collaboration, Dr. Kiyoshi Tazaki (FFPRI at that time) for his helpful discussions, Ms. Aiko Kameshiro (FFPRI at that time) for her helpful assistance, and the staff of FFPRI and the Institute of Radiation Breeding for their kind cooperation. I wish to thank Dr. Elizabeth E. Hood (Arkansas State University), Dr. Masao Iwamoto (National Institute of Agrobiological Sciences), and Dr. Masashi Ugaki (University of Tokyo) for kindly providing A. tumefaciens strain EHA105. Finally, I express my appreciation for the support and encouragement by my family.

## References

- Adams, J.P., Adeli, A., Hsu, C.-Y., Harkess, R.L., Page, G.P., dePamphilis, C.W., et al. (2012) Plant-based FRET biosensor discriminates environmental zinc levels. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* 10: 207-216.
- Anderson, A.J. and Dawes, E.A. (1990) Occurrence, metabolism, metabolic role, and industrial uses of bacterial polyhydroxyalkanoates. *Microbiol. Rev.* 54: 450-472.
- Anselmi, N. (2009) Diseases of poplars and willows. In FAO International Workshop (Izmit, Turkey, 27-31 July 2009). Improve the contribution of poplars and willows in meeting sustainable livelihoods and land-use in selected Mediterranean and Central Asian countries.
- Arabidopsis Genome Initiative (2000) Analysis of the genome sequence of the flowering plant *Arabidopsis thaliana. Nature* 408: 796-815.
- Araki, M. and Ishii, T. (2015) Towards social acceptance of plant breeding by genome editing. *Trends Plant Sci.* 20: 145-149.
- Arkhipov, N.P., Kuchma, N.D., Askbrant, S., Pasternak, P.S. and Musica, V.V. (1994) Acute and long-term effects of irradiation on pine (*Pinus silvestris*) strands post-Chernobyl. *Sci. Total Environ.* 157: 383-386.
- Axelsson, E.P., Hjältén, J., LeRoy, C.J., Whitham, T.G., Julkunen-Tiitto, R. and Wennström, A. (2011) Leaf litter from insect-resistant transgenic trees causes changes in aquatic insect community composition. J. Appl. Ecol. 48: 1472-1479.
- Ayora, S., Piruat, J.I., Luna, R., Reiss, B., Russo, V.E., Aguilera, A., et al. (2002) Characterization of two highly similar Rad51 homologs of *Physcomitrella patens*. J. Mol. Biol. 316: 35-49.
- Böhlenius, H., Huang, T., Charbonnel-Campaa, L., Brunner, A.M., Jansson, S., Strauss, S.H., et al. (2006) *CO/FT* regulatory module controls timing of flowering and seasonal growth cessation in trees. *Science* 312: 1040-1043.
- Bai, C., Alverson, W.S., Follansbee, A. and Waller, D.M. (2012) New reports of nuclear DNA content for 407 vascular plant taxa from the United States. *Ann. Bot.* 110: 1623-1629.
- Balatinecz, J., Mertens, P., De Boever, L., Yukun, H., Jin, J. and van Acker, J. (2014) Properties, processing and utilization. In *Poplars and Willows: Trees for Society and the Environment*. Edited by Isebrands, J.G. and Richardson, J. pp. 527-561. CAB International and FAO, Rome.
- Balatinecz, J.J. and Kretschmann, D.E. (2001) Properties and utilization of poplar wood. In *Poplar culture in North America*. Edited by Dickmann, D.I., Isebrands, J.G., Eckenwalder, J.E. and Richardson, J. pp. 277-291. NRC Research Press, Ottawa, Ontario.
- Benetka, V., Novotná, K. and Štochlová, P. (2014) Biomass production of Populus nigra L. clones

grown in short rotation coppice systems in three different environments over four rotations. *IFOREST* 7: 233-239.

- Bennett, M.D. and Leitch, I.J. (2011) Nuclear DNA amounts in angiosperms: targets, trends and tomorrow. *Ann. Bot.* 107: 467-590.
- Berlizov, A.N., Blum, O.B., Filby, R.H., Malyuk, I.A. and Tryshyn, V.V. (2007) Testing applicability of black poplar (*Populus nigra* L.) bark to heavy metal air pollution monitoring in urban and industrial regions. *Sci. Total Environ.* 372: 693-706.
- Bhalerao, R., Keskitalo, J., Sterky, F., Erlandsson, R., Bjorkbacka, H., Birve, S.J., et al. (2003) Gene expression in autumn leaves. *Plant Physiol*. 131: 430-442.
- Bleuyard, J.Y., Gallego, M.E. and White, C.I. (2006) Recent advances in understanding of the DNA double-strand break repair machinery of plants. *DNA Repair (Amst.)* 5: 1-12.
- Boes, T.K. and Strauss, S.H. (1994) Floral phenology and morphology of black cottonwood, *Populus trichocarpa (Salicaceae). Am. J. Bot.* 81: 562-567.
- Bonadei, M., Balestrazzi, A., Frigerio, B. and Carbonera, D. (2009) Soil persistence of DNA from transgenic poplar. *Environ. Biosafety Res.* 8: 79-86.
- Braatne, J.H., Rood, S.B. and Heilman, P.E. (1996) Life history, ecology, and conservation of riparian cottonwoods in North America. In *Biology of Populus and its Implications for Management and Conservation*. Edited by Stettler, R., Bradshaw, H.D., Jr., Heilman, P.E. and Hinckley, T.M. pp. 57-85. NRC Research Press, Ottawa, Ontario.
- Bradshaw, H.D., Jr., Hollick, J.B., Parsons, T.J., Clarke, H.R. and Gordon, M.P. (1990) Systemically wound-responsive genes in poplar trees encode proteins similar to sweet potato sporamins and legume Kunitz trypsin inhibitors. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 14: 51-59.
- Bradshaw, H.D., Jr. and Stettler, R.F. (1993) Molecular genetics of growth and development in *Populus*. I. Triploidy in hybrid poplars. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 86: 301-307.
- Bradshaw, H.D., Jr., Villar, M., Watson, B.D., Otto, K.G., Stewart, S. and Stettler, R.F. (1994)
  Molecular genetics of growth and development in Populus. III. A genetic linkage map of a hybrid poplar composed of RFLP, STS, and RAPD markers. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 89: 167-178.
- Bradshaw, H.D., Jr., Ceulemans, R., Davis, J. and Stettler, R. (2000) Emerging model systems in plant biology: poplar (*Populus*) as a model forest tree. *J. Plant Growth Regul.* 19: 306-313.
- Brasileiro, A., Tourneur, C., Leplé, J.-C., Combes, V. and Jouanin, L. (1992) Expression of the mutant *Arabidopsis thaliana* acetolactate synthase gene confers chlorsulfuron resistance to transgenic poplar plants. *Transgenic Res.* 1: 133-141.
- Brosché, M., Vinocur, B., Alatalo, E., Lamminmäki, A., Teichmann, T., Ottow, E., et al. (2005) Gene expression and metabolite profiling of *Populus euphratica* growing in the Negev desert. *Genome Biol.* 6: R101.
- Busov, V.B., Meilan, R., Pearce, D.W., Ma, C., Rood, S.B. and Strauss, S.H. (2003) Activation

tagging of a dominant gibberellin catabolism gene (GA 2-oxidase) from poplar that regulates tree stature. *Plant Physiol.* 132: 1283-1291.

- Busov, V.B., Brunner, A.M., Meilan, R., Filichkin, S., Ganio, L., Gandhi, S., et al. (2005) Genetic transformation: a powerful tool for dissection of adaptive traits in trees. *New Phytol.* 167: 9-18.
- Cadet, J., Bellon, S., Douki, T., Frelon, S., Gasparutto, D., Muller, E., et al. (2004) Radiation-induced DNA damage: formation, measurement, and biochemical features. J. Environ. Pathol. Toxicol. Oncol. 23: 33-43.
- Cagelli, L. and Lefèvre, F. (1995) The conservation of *Populus nigra* L. and gene flow with cultivated poplars in Europe. *For. Genet.* 2: 135-144.
- Cai, X. and Kang, X.Y. (2011) In vitro tetraploid induction from leaf explants of *Populus* pseudo-simonii Kitag. *Plant Cell Rep.* 30: 1771-1778.
- Capella, J.A. and Conger, A.D. (1967) Radiosensitivity and interphase chromosome volume in the gymnosperms. *Radiat. Bot.* 7: 137-149.
- Carle, J. and Ma, Q. (2005) Challenges of translating science into practice: poplars and other species in the three north region of China. *Unasylva* 56: 31-37.
- Centritto, M., Brilli, F., Fodale, R. and Loreto, F. (2011) Different sensitivity of isoprene emission, respiration and photosynthesis to high growth temperature coupled with drought stress in black poplar (*Populus nigra*) saplings. *Tree Physiol.* 31: 275-286.
- Cermak, T., Doyle, E.L., Christian, M., Wang, L., Zhang, Y., Schmidt, C., et al. (2011) Efficient design and assembly of custom TALEN and other TAL effector-based constructs for DNA targeting. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39: e82.
- Chai, G., Hu, R., Zhang, D., Qi, G., Zuo, R., Cao, Y., et al. (2012) Comprehensive analysis of CCCH zinc finger family in poplar (*Populus trichocarpa*). *BMC Genomics* 13: 253.
- Charles, J.G., Nef, L., Allegro, G., Collins, C.M., Delplanque, A., Gimenez, R., et al. (2014) Insect and other pests of poplars and willows. In *Poplars and Willows: Trees for Society and the Environment*. Edited by Isebrands, J.G. and Richardson, J. pp. 459-526. CAB International and FAO, Rome.
- Che, D., Meagher, R.B., Heaton, A.C., Lima, A., Rugh, C.L. and Merkle, S.A. (2003) Expression of mercuric ion reductase in Eastern cottonwood (*Populus deltoides*) confers mercuric ion reduction and resistance. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* 1: 311-319.
- Chen, H.C., Song, J., Wang, J.P., Lin, Y.C., Ducoste, J., Shuford, C.M., et al. (2014a) Systems biology of lignin biosynthesis in *Populus trichocarpa*: heteromeric 4-coumaric acid:coenzyme A ligase protein complex formation, regulation, and numerical modeling. *Plant Cell* 26: 876-893.
- Chen, J., Tian, Q., Pang, T., Jiang, L., Wu, R., Xia, X., et al. (2014b) Deep-sequencing transcriptome

analysis of low temperature perception in a desert tree, *Populus euphratica*. *BMC Genomics* 15: 326.

- Chen, J., Yin, W. and Xia, X. (2014c) Transcriptome profiles of *Populus euphratica* upon heat shock stress. *Curr. Genomics* 15: 326-340.
- Chen, L., Ren, Y., Zhang, Y., Xu, J., Zhang, Z. and Wang, Y. (2012) Genome-wide profiling of novel and conserved *Populus* microRNAs involved in pathogen stress response by deep sequencing. *Planta* 235: 873-883.
- Chen, S. and Polle, A. (2010) Salinity tolerance of Populus. Plant Biol. (Stuttg) 12: 317-333.
- Christopher, M.E., Miranda, M., Major, I.T. and Constabel, C.P. (2004) Gene expression profiling of systemically wound-induced defenses in hybrid poplar. *Planta* 219: 936-947.
- Chu, Y., Huang, Q., Zhang, B., Ding, C. and Su, X. (2014) Expression and molecular evolution of two *DREB1* genes in black poplar (*Populus nigra*). *PLoS ONE* 9: e98334.
- Chupeau, M.-C., Pautot, V. and Chupeau, Y. (1994) Recovery of transgenic trees after electroporation of poplar protoplasts. *Transgenic Res.* 3: 13-19.
- Clavijo McCormick, A., Irmisch, S., Reinecke, A., Boeckler, G.A., Veit, D., Reichelt, M., et al. (2014) Herbivore-induced volatile emission in black poplar: regulation and role in attracting herbivore enemies. *Plant Cell Environ.* 37: 1909-1923.
- Cohen, D., Bogeat-Triboulot, M.B., Tisserant, E., Balzergue, S., Martin-Magniette, M.L., Lelandais,
   G., et al. (2010) Comparative transcriptomics of drought responses in *Populus*: a meta-analysis of genome-wide expression profiling in mature leaves and root apices across two genotypes. *BMC Genomics* 11: 630.
- Coleman, H.D., Yan, J. and Mansfield, S.D. (2009) Sucrose synthase affects carbon partitioning to increase cellulose production and altered cell wall ultrastructure. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 106: 13118-13123.
- Coleman, H.D., Canovas, F.M., Man, H., Kirby, E.G. and Mansfield, S.D. (2012) Enhanced expression of glutamine synthetase (*GS1a*) confers altered fibre and wood chemistry in field grown hybrid poplar (*Populus tremula* × *alba*) (717-1B4). *Plant Biotechnol. J.* 10: 883-889.
- Confalonieri, M., Balestrazzi, A. and Bisoffi, S. (1994) Genetic transformation of *Populus nigra* by *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. *Plant Cell Rep.* 13: 256-261.
- Confalonieri, M., Balestrazzi, A., Bisoffi, S. and Cella, R. (1995) Factors affecting Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated transformation in several black poplar clones. *Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult.* 43: 215-222.
- Confalonieri, M., Allegro, G., Balestrazzi, A., Fogher, C. and Delledonne, M. (1998) Regeneration of *Populus nigra* transgenic plants expressing a Kunitz proteinase inhibitor (*KTi*<sub>3</sub>) gene. *Mol. Breed.* 4: 137-145.
- Cunningham, S. and Berti, W. (1993) Remediation of contaminated soils with green plants: an

overview. In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Plant 29: 207-212.

- Curtis, J.D. and Lersten, N.R. (1974) Morphology, seasonal variation, and function of resin glands on buds and leaves of *Populus deltoides* (Salicaceae). *Am. J. Bot.* 61: 835-845.
- Déjardin, A., Leplé, J.C., Lesage-Descauses, M.C., Costa, G. and Pilate, G. (2004) Expressed sequence tags from poplar wood tissues--a comparative analysis from multiple libraries. *Plant Biol.* (*Stuttg*) 6: 55-64.
- Dai, J., Gliniewicz, K., Settles, M.L., Coats, E.R. and McDonald, A.G. (2015) Influence of organic loading rate and solid retention time on polyhydroxybutyrate production from hybrid poplar hydrolysates using mixed microbial cultures. *Bioresour. Technol.* 175: 23-33.
- Dalton, D.A., Ma, C., Shrestha, S., Kitin, P. and Strauss, S.H. (2011) Trade-offs between biomass growth and inducible biosynthesis of polyhydroxybutyrate in transgenic poplar. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* 9: 759-767.
- Danielsen, L., Thürmer, A., Meinicke, P., Buée, M., Morin, E., Martin, F., et al. (2012) Fungal soil communities in a young transgenic poplar plantation form a rich reservoir for fungal root communities. *Ecol. Evol.* 2: 1935-1948.
- Dany, A.L. and Tissier, A. (2001) A functional *OGG1* homologue from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Mol. Genet. Genomics* 265: 293-301.
- Dash, M., Yordanov, Y.S., Georgieva, T., Kumari, S., Wei, H. and Busov, V. (2015) A systems biology approach identifies new regulators of poplar root development under low nitrogen. *Plant J.* 84: 335-346.
- Datla, R.S.S., Hammerlindl, J.K., Panchuk, B., Pelcher, L.E. and Keller, W. (1992) Modified binary plant transformation vectors with the wild-type gene encoding NPTII. *Gene* 122: 383-384.
- Davis, M.F., Tuskan, G.A., Payne, P., Tschaplinski, T.J. and Meilan, R. (2006) Assessment of *Populus* wood chemistry following the introduction of a Bt toxin gene. *Tree Physiol.* 26: 557-564.
- De Block, M. (1990) Factors influencing the tissue culture and the Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated transformation of hybrid aspen and poplar clones. Plant Physiol. 93: 1110-1116.
- De Micco, V., Arena, C., Pignalosa, D. and Durante, M. (2011) Effects of sparsely and densely ionizing radiation on plants. *Radiat. Environ. Biophys.* 50: 1-19.
- de Tillesse, V., Nef, L., Charles, J., Hopkin, A. and Augustin, S. (2007) Damaging Poplar Insects. Internationally Important Species. p. 105. FAO, Rome.
- Dekeyser, R., Claes, B., Marichal, M., Van Montagu, M. and Caplan, A. (1989) Evaluation of selectable markers for rice transformation. *Plant Physiol.* 90: 217-223.
- Devantier, Y.A., Moffatt, B., Jones, C. and Charest, P.J. (1993) Microprojectile-mediated DNA delivery to the Salicaceae family. *Can. J. Bot.* 71: 1458-1466.

- Devappa, R.K., Rakshit, S.K. and Dekker, R.F.H. (2015) Forest biorefinery: potential of poplar phytochemicals as value-added co-products. *Biotechnol. Adv.* 33: 681-716.
- Di Baccio, D., Galla, G., Bracci, T., Andreucci, A., Barcaccia, G., Tognetti, R., et al. (2011) Transcriptome analyses of *Populus × euramericana* clone I-214 leaves exposed to excess zinc. *Tree Physiol.* 31: 1293-1308.
- Dickmann, D.I. and Kuzovkina, J. (2014) Poplars and willows of the world, with emphasis on silviculturally important species. In *Poplars and Willows: Trees for Society and the Environment*. Edited by Isebrands, J.G. and Richardson, J. pp. 8-91. CAB International and FAO, Rome.
- Doutriaux, M.P., Couteau, F., Bergounioux, C. and White, C. (1998) Isolation and characterisation of the *RAD51* and *DMC1* homologs from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 257: 283-291.
- Dubouzet, J.G., Strabala, T.J. and Wagner, A. (2013) Potential transgenic routes to increase tree biomass. *Plant Sci.* 212: 72-101.
- Dushenkov, S. (2003) Trends in phytoremediation of radionuclides. Plant Soil 249: 167-175.
- Ebinuma, H., Sugita, K., Matsunaga, E. and Yamakado, M. (1997) Selection of marker-free transgenic plants using the isopentenyl transferase gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 94: 2117-2121.
- Eckenwalder, J.E. (1996) Systematics and evolution of *Populus*. In *Biology of Populus and its Implications for Management and Conservation*. Edited by Stettler, R.F., Bradshaw, H.D., Jr., Heilman, P.E. and Hinckley, T.M. pp. 7-32. NRC Research Press, Ottawa, Ontario.
- Elorriaga, E., Meilan, R., Ma, C., Skinner, J., Etherington, E., Brunner, A., et al. (2014) A tapetal ablation transgene induces stable male sterility and slows field growth in *Populus*. *Tree Genet*. *Genomes* 10: 1583-1593.
- Fan, D., Liu, T., Li, C., Jiao, B., Li, S., Hou, Y., et al. (2015) Efficient CRISPR/Cas9-mediated targeted mutagenesis in *Populus* in the first generation. *Sci. Rep.* 5: 12217.
- FAO (2010) Global Forest Resources Assessment 2010. Main Report. p. 340. FAO, Rome.
- FAO (2012) Improving lives with poplars and willows. Synthesis of Country Progress Reports. 24th Session of the International Poplar Commission, Dehradun, India, 30 Oct-2 Nov 2012. Forest Assessment, Management and Conservation Division, FAO, Rome.
- Fillatti, J.J., Sellmer, J., McCown, B., Haissig, B. and Comai, L. (1987) *Agrobacterium* mediated transformation and regeneration of *Populus*. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 206: 192-199.
- Fladung, M., Deutsch, F., Honicka, H. and Kumar, S. (2004) T-DNA and transposon tagging in aspen. *Plant Biol. (Stuttg)* 6: 5-11.
- Fladung, M. and Ewald, D., eds. (2006) Tree Transgenesis. Recent Developments. p. 357. Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg.
- Fladung, M. and Polak, O. (2012) Ac/Ds-transposon activation tagging in poplar: a powerful tool for

gene discovery. BMC Genomics 13: 61.

- Fladung, M., Hoenicka, H. and Raj Ahuja, M. (2013) Genomic stability and long-term transgene expression in poplar. *Transgenic Res.* 22: 1167-1178.
- Fleck, O. and Nielsen, O. (2004) DNA repair. J. Cell Sci. 117: 515-517.
- Frame, B.R., Shou, H., Chikwamba, R.K., Zhang, Z., Xiang, C., Fonger, T.M., et al. (2002) Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated transformation of maize embryos using a standard binary vector system. Plant Physiol. 129: 13-22.
- Franke, R., McMichael, C.M., Meyer, K., Shirley, A.M., Cusumano, J.C. and Chapple, C. (2000) Modified lignin in tobacco and poplar plants over-expressing the *Arabidopsis* gene encoding ferulate 5-hydroxylase. *Plant J.* 22: 223-234.
- Fung, L.E., Wang, S.S., Altman, A. and Hütterman, A. (1998) Effect of NaCl on growth, photosynthesis, ion and water relations of four poplar genotypes. *For. Ecol. Manag.* 107: 135-146.
- Gallie, D.R. (1998) Controlling gene expression in transgenics. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 1: 166-172.
- Gao, M.J. and Murphy, T.M. (2001) Alternative forms of formamidopyrimidine-DNA glycosylase from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Photochem. Photobiol.* 73: 128-134.
- Gao, W., Bai, S., Li, Q., Gao, C., Liu, G., Li, G., et al. (2013) Overexpression of *TaLEA* gene from *Tamarix androssowii* improves salt and drought tolerance in transgenic poplar (*Populus simonii* × *P. nigra*). *PLoS ONE* 8: e67462.
- García-Lorenzo, M., Sjödin, A., Jansson, S. and Funk, C. (2006) Protease gene families in *Populus* and *Arabidopsis. BMC Plant Biol.* 6: 30.
- Garcia, S., Leitch, I.J., Anadon-Rosell, A., Canela, M.Á., Gálvez, F., Garnatje, T., et al. (2014) Recent updates and developments to plant genome size databases. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 42: D1159-D1166.
- Gelvin, S.B. (2003) Agrobacterium-mediated plant transformation: the biology behind the "gene-jockeying" tool. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 67: 16-37.
- Gichner, T., Ptáček, O., Stavreva, D.A., Wagner, E.D. and Plewa, M.J. (2000) A comparison of DNA repair using the comet assay in tobacco seedlings after exposure to alkylating agents or ionizing radiation. *Mutat. Res.* 470: 1-9.
- Goff, S.A., Ricke, D., Lan, T.H., Presting, G., Wang, R., Dunn, M., et al. (2002) A draft sequence of the rice genome (*Oryza sativa* L. ssp. *japonica*). *Science* 296: 92-100.
- Grisel, N., Zoller, S., Kunzli-Gontarczyk, M., Lampart, T., Munsterkotter, M., Brunner, I., et al. (2010) Transcriptome responses to aluminum stress in roots of aspen (*Populus tremula*). BMC Plant Biol. 10: 185.
- Groover, A., Fontana, J.R., Dupper, G., Ma, C., Martienssen, R., Strauss, S., et al. (2004) Gene and enhancer trap tagging of vascular-expressed genes in poplar trees. *Plant Physiol.* 134:

1742-1751.

- Gu, R., Fonseca, S., Puskás, L.G., Hackler, L., Jr., Zvara, A., Dudits, D., et al. (2004) Transcript identification and profiling during salt stress and recovery of *Populus euphratica*. *Tree Physiol.* 24: 265-276.
- Gullner, G., Komives, T. and Rennenberg, H. (2001) Enhanced tolerance of transgenic poplar plants overexpressing γ-glutamylcysteine synthetase towards chloroacetanilide herbicides. *J. Exp. Bot.* 52: 971-979.
- Gunckel, J.E. (1957) The effects of ionizing radiation on plants: morphological effects. *Q. Rev. Biol.* 32: 46-56.
- Gupta, A., Das, S.P., Ghosh, A., Choudhary, R., Das, D. and Goyal, A. (2014) Bioethanol production from hemicellulose rich *Populus nigra* involving recombinant hemicellulases from *Clostridium thermocellum. Bioresour. Technol.* 165: 205-213.
- Gupta, A.B. and Sankararamakrishnan, R. (2009) Genome-wide analysis of major intrinsic proteins in the tree plant *Populus trichocarpa*: characterization of XIP subfamily of aquaporins from evolutionary perspective. *BMC Plant Biol.* 9: 134.
- Gupta, D.K. and Walther, C., eds. (2014) Radionuclide Contamination and Remediation Through Plants. p. 314. Springer, Cham.
- Hamel, L.P., Miles, G.P., Samuel, M.A., Ellis, B.E., Séguin, A. and Beaudoin, N. (2005) Activation of stress-responsive mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways in hybrid poplar (*Populus* trichocarpa × Populus deltoides). Tree Physiol. 25: 277-288.
- Han, K.-H., Ma, C. and Strauss, S.H. (1997) Matrix attachment regions (MARs) enhance transformation frequency and transgene expression in poplar. *Transgenic Res.* 6: 415-420.
- Han, K.-H., Meilan, R., Ma, C. and Strauss, S.H. (2000) An Agrobacterium tumefaciens transformation protocol effective on a variety of cottonwood hybrids (genus Populus). Plant Cell Rep. 19: 315-320.
- Haq, S.K., Atif, S.M. and Khan, R.H. (2004) Protein proteinase inhibitor genes in combat against insects, pests, and pathogens: natural and engineered phytoprotection. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 431: 145-159.
- Harfouche, A., Meilan, R. and Altman, A. (2014) Molecular and physiological responses to abiotic stress in forest trees and their relevance to tree improvement. *Tree Physiol.* 34: 1181-1198.
- Hartmann, A., Agurell, E., Beevers, C., Brendler-Schwaab, S., Burlinson, B., Clay, P., et al. (2003) Recommendations for conducting the *in vivo* alkaline Comet assay. *Mutagenesis* 18: 45-51.
- Hartung, F. and Schiemann, J. (2014) Precise plant breeding using new genome editing techniques: opportunities, safety and regulation in the EU. *Plant J.* 78: 742-752.

Heap, B. (2013) Europe should rethink its stance on GM crops. Nature 498: 409.

Heilman, P.E. and Stettler, R.F. (1985) Genetic variation and productivity of Populus trichocarpa

and its hybrids. II. Biomass production in a 4-year plantation. Can. J. For. Res. 15: 384-388.

- Heuchelin, S.A., McNabb, H.S., Jr. and Klopfenstein, N.B. (1997) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of Populus × euramericana "Ogy" using the chimeric CaMV 35S - pin2 gene fusion. Can. J. For. Res. 27: 1041-1048.
- Hoenicka, H., Lehnhardt, D., Nilsson, O., Hanelt, D. and Fladung, M. (2014) Successful crossings with early flowering transgenic poplar: interspecific crossings, but not transgenesis, promoted aberrant phenotypes in offspring. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* 12: 1066-1074.
- Holst, R.W. and Nagel, D.J. (1997) Radiation effects on plants. In *Plants for Environmental Studies*.Edited by Wang, W., Gorsuch, J.W. and Hughes, J.S. pp. 37-79. CRC Press LLC, Boca Raton.
- Hood, E.E., Gelvin, S.B., Melchers, L.S. and Hoekema, A. (1993) New Agrobacterium helper plasmids for gene transfer to plants. *Transgenic Res.* 2: 208-218.
- Hu, J., Wang, L., Yan, D. and Lu, M.-Z. (2014) Research and application of transgenic poplar in China. In *Challenges and Opportunities for the World's Forests in the 21st Century*. Edited by Fenning, T. pp. 567-584. Springer, Dordrecht.
- Hu, R., Chi, X., Chai, G., Kong, Y., He, G., Wang, X., et al. (2012) Genome-wide identification, evolutionary expansion, and expression profile of homeodomain-leucine zipper gene family in poplar (*Populus trichocarpa*). *PLoS ONE* 7: e31149.
- Hu, W.-J., Harding, S.A., Lung, J., Popko, J.L., Ralph, J., Stokke, D.D., et al. (1999) Repression of lignin biosynthesis promotes cellulose accumulation and growth in transgenic trees. *Nature Biotech.* 17: 808-812.
- Huang, C.H., Mirabelli, C.K., Jan, Y. and Crooke, S.T. (1981) Single-strand and double-strand deoxyribonucleic acid breaks produced by several bleomycin analogues. *Biochemistry* 20: 233-238.
- Huang, H., Qi, S.D., Qi, F., Wu, C.A., Yang, G.D. and Zheng, C.C. (2010) NtKT11, a Kunitz trypsin inhibitor with antifungal activity from *Nicotiana tabacum*, plays an important role in tobacco's defense response. *FEBS J.* 277: 4076-4088.
- ICRP (2007) The 2007 Recommendations of the International Commission on Radiological Protection. ICRP publication 103. *Ann. ICRP* 37: 1-332.
- Igasaki, T., Watanabe, Y., Nishiguchi, M. and Kotoda, N. (2008) The *FLOWERING LOCUS T/TERMINAL FLOWER 1* family in Lombardy poplar. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 49: 291-300.
- Imbert, E. and Lefèvre, F. (2003) Dispersal and gene flow of *Populus nigra* (Salicaceae) along a dynamic river system. *J. Ecol.* 91: 447-456.
- ISAAA (2015) Biotech/GM Trees. p. 16. International Service for the Acquisition of Agri-biotech Applications (ISAAA), Metro Manila.
- Isebrands, J.G., Aronsson, P., Carlson, M., Ceulemans, R., Coleman, M., Dickinson, N., et al. (2014) Environmental applications of poplars and willows. In *Poplars and Willows: Trees for Society*

*and the Environment*. Edited by Isebrands, J.G. and Richardson, J. pp. 258-336. CAB International and FAO, Rome.

- James, C. (2014) Executive Summary. Global Status of Commercialized Biotech/GM Crops: 2014. ISAAA Brief No. 49. ISAAA, Ithaca, NY.
- Jansson, S. and Douglas, C.J. (2007) *Populus*: a model system for plant biology. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.* 58: 435-458.
- Jansson, S., Bhalerao, R.P. and Groover, A.T., eds. (2010) Genetics and Genomics of *Populus*. p. 381. Springer, New York.
- Janz, D., Lautner, S., Wildhagen, H., Behnke, K., Schnitzler, J.P., Rennenberg, H., et al. (2012) Salt stress induces the formation of a novel type of 'pressure wood' in two *Populus* species. *New Phytol.* 194: 129-141.
- Jefferson, R.A., Kavanagh, T.A. and Bevan, M.W. (1987) GUS fusions: β-glucuronidase as a sensitive and versatile gene fusion marker in higher plants. *EMBO J*. 6: 3901-3907.
- Jia, X., Ren, L., Chen, Q.-J., Li, R. and Tang, G. (2009) UV-B-responsive microRNAs in *Populus tremula*. J. Plant Physiol. 166: 2046-2057.
- Jiang, Y., Duan, Y., Yin, J., Ye, S., Zhu, J., Zhang, F., et al. (2014a) Genome-wide identification and characterization of the *Populus* WRKY transcription factor family and analysis of their expression in response to biotic and abiotic stresses. *J. Exp. Bot.* 65: 6629-6644.
- Jiang, Y., Ye, S., Wang, L., Duan, Y., Lu, W., Liu, H., et al. (2014b) Heterologous gene silencing induced by tobacco rattle virus (TRV) is efficient for pursuing functional genomics studies in woody plants. *Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult*. 116: 163-174.
- Jing, Z.P., Gallardo, F., Pascual, M.B., Sampalo, R., Romero, J., De Navarra, A.T., et al. (2004) Improved growth in a field trial of transgenic hybrid poplar overexpressing glutamine synthetase. *New Phytol.* 164: 137-145.
- Joshi, C.P., DiFazio, S.P. and Kole, C., eds. (2011) Genetics, Genomics and Breeding of Poplar. p. 390. CRC Press, Enfield, NH.
- Kadam, K.L. and Schmidt, S.L. (1997) Evaluation of *Candida acidothermophilum* in ethanol production from lignocellulosic biomass. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 48: 709-713.
- Kaida, R., Kaku, T., Baba, K., Oyadomari, M., Watanabe, T., Nishida, K., et al. (2009) Loosening xyloglucan accelerates the enzymatic degradation of cellulose in wood. *Mol. Plant* 2: 904-909.
- Kal'chenko, V.A. and Fedotov, I.S. (2001) Genetic effects of acute and chronic ionizing irradiation on *Pinus sylvestris* L. inhabiting the Chernobyl meltdown area. *Genetika* 37: 437-447.
- Kang, J.W., Khan, Z. and Doty, S.L. (2012) Biodegradation of trichloroethylene by an endophyte of hybrid poplar. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 78: 3504-3507.
- Kato, Y., Sakuma, Y., Azuma, T., Ando, A., Miura, K., Takabe, K., et al. (2001) Isolation and

characterization of a novel anionic peroxidase cDNA found in poplar (*Populus nigra*) suspension cultured cells. *J. Wood Sci.* 47: 165-170.

- Katoh, K. and Toh, H. (2008) Recent developments in the MAFFT multiple sequence alignment program. *Brief. Bioinform.* 9: 286-298.
- Kersten, B., Pakull, B., Groppe, K., Lueneburg, J. and Fladung, M. (2014) The sex-linked region in *Populus tremuloides* Turesson 141 corresponds to a pericentromeric region of about two million base pairs on *P. trichocarpa* chromosome 19. *Plant Biol. (Stuttg)* 16: 411-418.
- Kimura, S. and Sakaguchi, K. (2006) DNA repair in plants. Chem. Rev. 106: 753-766.
- Klopfenstein, N.B., Chun, Y.W., Kim, M.-S., Ahuja, M.R., Dillon, M.C., Carman, R.C., et al., eds.
  (1997) Micropropagation, Genetic Engineering, and Molecular Biology of *Populus*. p. 326.
  U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Fort Collins, CO.
- Kobayashi, J., Iwabuchi, K., Miyagawa, K., Sonoda, E., Suzuki, K., Takata, M., et al. (2008) Current topics in DNA double-strand break repair. *J. Radiat. Res. (Tokyo)* 49: 93-103.
- Kohler, A., Delaruelle, C., Martin, D., Encelot, N. and Martin, F. (2003) The poplar root transcriptome: analysis of 7000 expressed sequence tags. *FEBS Lett.* 542: 37-41.
- Koppen, G. and Angelis, K.J. (1998) Repair of X-ray induced DNA damage measured by the comet assay in roots of *Vicia faba. Environ. Mol. Mutagen.* 32: 281-285.
- Koprivova, A., Kopriva, S., Jäger, D., Will, B., Jouanin, L. and Rennenberg, H. (2002) Evaluation of transgenic poplars over-expressing enzymes of glutathione synthesis for phytoremediation of cadmium. *Plant Biol. (Stuttg)* 4: 664-670.
- Koskela, J., de Vries, S.M.G., Kajba, D., von Wühlisch, G. and compilers (2004) *Populus nigra* Network. Report of seventh (25–27 October 2001, Osijek, Croatia) and eighth meetings (22– 24 May 2003, Treppeln, Germany). International Plant Genetic Resources Institute, Rome.
- Kovalchuk, I., Kovalchuk, O., Arkhipov, A. and Hohn, B. (1998) Transgenic plants are sensitive bioindicators of nuclear pollution caused by the Chernobyl accident. *Nature Biotech.* 16: 1054-1059.
- Kovalchuk, O., Burke, P., Arkhipov, A., Kuchma, N., James, S.J., Kovalchuk, I., et al. (2003) Genome hypermethylation in *Pinus silvestris* of Chernobyl - a mechanism for radiation adaptation? *Mutat. Res.* 529: 13-20.
- Kuhn, T., Safford, H., Jones, B. and Tate, K. (2011) Aspen (*Populus tremuloides*) stands and their contribution to plant diversity in a semiarid coniferous landscape. *Plant Ecol.* 212: 1451-1463.
- Kuzovkina, Y.A. and Vietto, L. (2014) An update on the cultivar registration of *Populus* and *Salix* (Salicaceae). *Skvortsovia* 1: 133-148.
- Lan, T., Gao, J. and Zeng, Q.-Y. (2013) Genome-wide analysis of the LEA (late embryogenesis abundant) protein gene family in *Populus trichocarpa. Tree Genet. Genomes* 9: 253-264.

- Lapointe, G., Luckevich, M.D., Cloutier, M. and Séguin, A. (2001) 14-3-3 gene family in hybrid poplar and its involvement in tree defence against pathogens. *J. Exp. Bot.* 52: 1331-1338.
- Lefèvre, F., Légionnet, A., de Vries, S. and Turok, J. (1998) Strategies for the conservation of a pioneer tree species, *Populus nigra* L., in Europe. *Genet. Sel. Evol.* 30: S181-S196
- Lefèvre, F., Barsoum, N., Heinze, B., Kajba, D., Rotach, P., de Vries, S.M.G., et al. (2001) EUFORGEN Technical Bulletin: In situ conservation of *Populus nigra*. p. 58. International Plant Genetic Resources Institute, Rome.
- Li, B., Duan, H., Li, J., Deng, X.W., Yin, W. and Xia, X. (2013a) Global identification of miRNAs and targets in *Populus euphratica* under salt stress. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 81: 525-539.
- Li, J., Brunner, A.M., Meilan, R. and Strauss, S.H. (2009) Stability of transgenes in trees: expression of two reporter genes in poplar over three field seasons. *Tree Physiol.* 29: 299-312.
- Li, J.F., Norville, J.E., Aach, J., McCormack, M., Zhang, D., Bush, J., et al. (2013b) Multiplex and homologous recombination-mediated genome editing in *Arabidopsis* and *Nicotiana benthamiana* using guide RNA and Cas9. *Nature Biotech.* 31: 688-691.
- Li, L., Zhou, Y., Cheng, X., Sun, J., Marita, J.M., Ralph, J., et al. (2003) Combinatorial modification of multiple lignin traits in trees through multigene cotransformation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 100: 4939-4944.
- Liu, Q., Wang, Z., Xu, X., Zhang, H. and Li, C. (2015) Genome-wide analysis of C2H2 zinc-finger family transcription factors and their responses to abiotic stresses in poplar (*Populus trichocarpa*). *PLoS ONE* 10: e0134753.
- Lloyd, A., Plaisier, C.L., Carroll, D. and Drews, G.N. (2005) Targeted mutagenesis using zinc-finger nucleases in *Arabidopsis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 102: 2232-2237.
- Lu, N., Wei, B., Sun, Y., Liu, X., Chen, S., Zhang, W., et al. (2014) Field supervisory test of DREB-transgenic *Populus*: salt tolerance, long-term gene stability and horizontal gene transfer. *Forests* 5: 1106.
- Lu, S., Sun, Y.H., Shi, R., Clark, C., Li, L. and Chiang, V.L. (2005) Novel and mechanical stress-responsive microRNAs in *Populus trichocarpa* that are absent from *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Cell* 17: 2186-2203.
- Lu, S., Sun, Y.H. and Chiang, V.L. (2008) Stress-responsive microRNAs in *Populus*. *Plant J*. 55: 131-151.
- Lusser, M., Parisi, C., Plan, D. and Rodríguez-Cerezo, E. (2011) New plant breeding techniques. State-of-the-art and prospects for commercial development. p. 218. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.
- Lyyra, S., Meagher, R.B., Kim, T., Heaton, A., Montello, P., Balish, R.S., et al. (2007) Coupling two mercury resistance genes in Eastern cottonwood enhances the processing of organomercury. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* 5: 254-262.

- Ma, T., Wang, J., Zhou, G., Yue, Z., Hu, Q., Chen, Y., et al. (2013) Genomic insights into salt adaptation in a desert poplar. *Nat. Commun.* 4: 2797.
- Madejon, P., Maranon, T., Murillo, J.M. and Robinson, B. (2004) White poplar (*Populus alba*) as a biomonitor of trace elements in contaminated riparian forests. *Environ. Pollut.* 132: 145-155.
- Maga, G. and Hübscher, U. (2003) Proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA): a dancer with many partners. *J. Cell Sci.* 116: 3051-3060.
- Major, I., Nicole, M.-C., Duplessis, S. and Séguin, A. (2010) Photosynthetic and respiratory changes in leaves of poplar elicited by rust infection. *Photosynth. Res.* 104: 41-48.
- Maluszynski, M., Nichterlein, K., Van Zanten, L. and Ahloowalia, B.S. (2000) Officially released mutant varieties The FAO/IAEA database. *Mut. Breed. Rev.* 12: 1-84.
- Mansfield, S.D., Kang, K.Y. and Chapple, C. (2012) Designed for deconstruction poplar trees altered in cell wall lignification improve the efficacy of bioethanol production. *New Phytol.* 194: 91-101.
- Mao, H., Okada, Y., Michimata, S., Wang, W., Iwanaga, F., Yamanaka, N., et al. (2010) Responses to nonaeration and/or salinity stress in hydroponically cultured *Populus nigra* and *Populus alba* cuttings. *Landscape Ecol. Eng.* 6: 11-21.
- Marmiroli, M., Pietrini, F., Maestri, E., Zacchini, M., Marmiroli, N. and Massacci, A. (2011) Growth, physiological and molecular traits in Salicaceae trees investigated for phytoremediation of heavy metals and organics. *Tree Physiol.* 31: 1319-1334.
- Marmiroli, M., Imperiale, D., Maestri, E. and Marmiroli, N. (2013) The response of *Populus* spp. to cadmium stress: chemical, morphological and proteomics study. *Chemosphere* 93: 1333-1344.
- Marron, N., Gielen, B., Brignolas, F., Gao, J., Johnson, J.D., Karnosky, D.F., et al. (2014) Abiotic stresses. In *Poplars and Willows: Trees for Society and the Environment*. Edited by Isebrands, J.G. and Richardson, J. pp. 337-442. CAB International and FAO, Rome.
- Matzke, A.J. and Matzke, M.A. (1998) Position effects and epigenetic silencing of plant transgenes. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 1: 142-148.
- McCown, B.H., McCabe, D.E., Russell, D.R., Robison, D.J., Barton, K.A. and Raffa, K.F. (1991) Stable transformation of *Populus* and incorporation of pest resistance by electric discharge particle acceleration. *Plant Cell Rep.* 9: 590-594.
- Mentag, R., Luckevich, M., Morency, M.-J. and Séguin, A. (2003) Bacterial disease resistance of transgenic hybrid poplar expressing the synthetic antimicrobial peptide D4E1. *Tree Physiol.* 23: 405-411.
- Michalak, M., Plitta, B., Tylkowski, T., Chmielarz, P. and Suszka, J. (2015) Desiccation tolerance and cryopreservation of seeds of black poplar (*Populus nigra* L.), a disappearing tree species in Europe. *Eur. J. Forest Res.* 134: 53-60.
- Mock, K.E., Callahan, C.M., Islam-Faridi, M.N., Shaw, J.D., Rai, H.S., Sanderson, S.C., et al.

(2012) Widespread triploidy in Western North American aspen (*Populus tremuloides*). *PLoS ONE* 7: e48406.

- Mohri, T., Yamamoto, N. and Shinohara, K. (1996) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of Lombardy poplar (*Populus nigra* L. var. *italica* Koehne) using stem segments. J. For. Res. 1: 13-16.
- Mohri, T., Igasaki, T., Futamura, N. and Shinohara, K. (1999) Morphological changes in transgenic poplar induced by expression of the rice homeobox gene *OSH1*. *Plant Cell Rep.* 18: 816-819.
- Monclus, R., Dreyer, E., Villar, M., Delmotte, F.M., Delay, D., Petit, J.-M., et al. (2006) Impact of drought on productivity and water use efficiency in 29 genotypes of *Populus deltoides* × *Populus nigra. New Phytol.* 169: 765-777.
- Moore, F.P., Barac, T., Borremans, B., Oeyen, L., Vangronsveld, J., van der Lelie, D., et al. (2006) Endophytic bacterial diversity in poplar trees growing on a BTEX-contaminated site: the characterisation of isolates with potential to enhance phytoremediation. *Syst. Appl. Microbiol.* 29: 539-556.
- Moreno-Cortés, A., Hernández-Verdeja, T., Sánchez-Jiménez, P., González-Melendi, P., Aragoncillo,
  C. and Allona, I. (2012) CsRAV1 induces sylleptic branching in hybrid poplar. *New Phytol.* 194: 83-90.
- Murashige, T. and Skoog, F. (1962) A revised medium for rapid growth and bioassays with tobacco tissue cultures. *Physiol. Plant.* 15: 473-497.
- Nanjo, T., Futamura, N., Nishiguchi, M., Igasaki, T., Shinozaki, K. and Shinohara, K. (2004) Characterization of full-length enriched expressed sequence tags of stress-treated poplar leaves. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 45: 1738-1748.
- Nanjo, T., Sakurai, T., Totoki, Y., Toyoda, A., Nishiguchi, M., Kado, T., et al. (2007) Functional annotation of 19,841 *Populus nigra* full-length enriched cDNA clones. *BMC Genomics* 8: 448.
- Negro, M., Manzanares, P., Ballesteros, I., Oliva, J., Cabañas, A. and Ballesteros, M. (2003) Hydrothermal pretreatment conditions to enhance ethanol production from poplar biomass. *Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.* 105: 87-100.
- Nilsson, O., Aldén, T., Sitbon, F., Little, C.H.A., Chalupa, V., Sandberg, G., et al. (1992) Spatial pattern of cauliflower mosaic virus 35S promoter-luciferase expression in transgenic hybrid aspen trees monitored by enzymatic assay and non-destructive imaging. *Transgenic Res.* 1: 209-220.
- Nishiguchi, M., Yoshida, K., Sumizono, T. and Tazaki, K. (2002) A receptor-like protein kinase with a lectin-like domain from lombardy poplar: gene expression in response to wounding and characterization of phosphorylation activity. *Mol. Genet. Genomics* 267: 506-514.
- Ohba, K. and Murai, M. (1966) Studies on radiosensitivity of forest trees. II. Growth and somatic

mutations of *Alnus*, *Populus* and *Betula* species under chronic gamma irradiation in a gamma field. *J. Jap. Forest. Soc.* 48: 12-19 (in Japanese with English abstract).

- Ohta, S., Mita, S., Hattori, T. and Nakamura, K. (1990) Construction and expression in tobacco of a β-glucuronidase (GUS) reporter gene containing an intron within the coding sequence. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 31: 805-813.
- Ohtsubo, T., Matsuda, O., Iba, K., Terashima, I., Sekiguchi, M. and Nakabeppu, Y. (1998) Molecular cloning of *AtMMH*, an *Arabidopsis thaliana* ortholog of the *Escherichia coli mutM* gene, and analysis of functional domains of its product. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 259: 577-590.
- Okumura, S., Sawada, M., Park, Y.W., Hayashi, T., Shimamura, M., Takase, H., et al. (2006) Transformation of poplar (*Populus alba*) plastids and expression of foreign proteins in tree chloroplasts. *Transgenic Res.* 15: 637-646.
- Olhoft, P.M., Flagel, L.E., Donovan, C.M. and Somers, D.A. (2003) Efficient soybean transformation using hygromycin B selection in the cotyledonary-node method. *Planta* 216: 723-735.
- Osakabe, K., Abe, K., Yamanouchi, H., Takyuu, T., Yoshioka, T., Ito, Y., et al. (2005) *Arabidopsis* Rad51B is important for double-strand DNA breaks repair in somatic cells. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 57: 819-833.
- Ostry, M., Ramstedt, M., Newcombe, G. and Steenackers, M. (2014) Diseases of poplars and willows. In *Poplars and Willows: Trees for Society and the Environment*. Edited by Isebrands, J.G. and Richardson, J. pp. 443-458. CAB International and FAO, Rome.
- Pakull, B., Groppe, K., Meyer, M., Markussen, T. and Fladung, M. (2009) Genetic linkage mapping in aspen (*Populus tremula* L. and *Populus tremuloides* Michx.). *Tree Genet. Genomes* 5: 505-515.
- Pakull, B., Kersten, B., Lüneburg, J. and Fladung, M. (2015) A simple PCR-based marker to determine sex in aspen. *Plant Biol. (Stuttg)* 17: 256-261.
- Park, Y.W., Baba, K., Furuta, Y., Iida, I., Sameshima, K., Arai, M., et al. (2004) Enhancement of growth and cellulose accumulation by overexpression of xyloglucanase in poplar. *FEBS Lett.* 564: 183-187.
- Parsons, T.J., Sinkar, V.P., Stettler, R.F., Nester, E.W. and Gordon, M.P. (1986) Transformation of poplar by Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Nature Biotech. 4: 533-536.
- Parsons, T.J., Bradshaw, H.D., Jr. and Gordon, M.P. (1989) Systemic accumulation of specific mRNAs in response to wounding in poplar trees. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 86: 7895-7899.
- Peng, Y., Allen, S., Millwood, R.J. and Stewart, C.N., Jr. (2014) 'Fukusensor:' a genetically engineered plant for reporting DNA damage in response to gamma radiation. *Plant Biotechnol.* J. 12: 1329-1332.
- Perl, A., Lotan, O., Abu-Abied, M. and Holland, D. (1996) Establishment of an

*Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation system for grape (*Vitis vinifera* L.): the role of antioxidants during grape-*Agrobacterium* interactions. *Nature Biotech.* 14: 624-628.

- Peters, D.J. and Constabel, C.P. (2002) Molecular analysis of herbivore-induced condensed tannin synthesis: cloning and expression of dihydroflavonol reductase from trembling aspen (*Populus tremuloides*). *Plant J.* 32: 701-712.
- Petre, B., Morin, E., Tisserant, E., Hacquard, S., Da Silva, C., Poulain, J., et al. (2012) RNA-Seq of early-infected poplar leaves by the rust pathogen *Melampsora larici-populina* uncovers *PtSultr3;5*, a fungal-induced host sulfate transporter. *PLoS ONE* 7: e44408.
- Podevin, N., Devos, Y., Davies, H.V. and Nielsen, K.M. (2012) Transgenic or not? No simple answer! New biotechnology-based plant breeding techniques and the regulatory landscape. *EMBO Rep.* 13: 1057-1061.
- Polle, A., Janz, D., Teichmann, T. and Lipka, V. (2013) Poplar genetic engineering: promoting desirable wood characteristics and pest resistance. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 97: 5669-5679.
- Popova, E., Kim, D., Han, S., Moltchanova, E., Pritchard, H. and Hong, Y. (2013) Systematic overestimation of Salicaceae seed survival using radicle emergence in response to drying and storage: implications for ex situ seed banking. *Acta Physiol. Plant.* 35: 3015-3025.
- Ptáček, O., Stavreva, D.A., Kim, J.K. and Gichner, T. (2001) Induction and repair of DNA damage as measured by the Comet assay and the yield of somatic mutations in gamma-irradiated tobacco seedlings. *Mutat. Res.* 491: 17-23.
- Ptáček, O., Mühlfeldová, Z., Dostálek, J., Čechák, T. and Gichner, T. (2002) Monitoring DNA damage in wood small-reed (*Calamagrostis epigejos*) plants growing in a sediment reservoir with substrates from uranium mining. *J. Environ. Monit.* 4: 592-595.
- Pythoud, F., Sinkar, V.P., Nester, E.W. and Gordon, M.P. (1987) Increased virulence of Agrobacterium Rhizogenes conferred by the vir region of pTiBo542: application to genetic engineering of poplar. Nature Biotech. 5: 1323-1327.
- Qiao, J., Ishihara, Y., Kuroda, H., Sakai, F., Sakai, H. and Komano, T. (1997) Transient expression of goat growth hormone gene in poplar (*Populus alba L.*) protoplasts: a quick method for detection of foreign gene expression in mRNA level. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 61: 1580-1581.
- Qiu, Q., Ma, T., Hu, Q., Liu, B., Wu, Y., Zhou, H., et al. (2011) Genome-scale transcriptome analysis of the desert poplar, *Populus euphratica*. *Tree Physiol*. 31: 452-461.
- Quevillon, E., Silventoinen, V., Pillai, S., Harte, N., Mulder, N., Apweiler, R., et al. (2005) InterProScan: protein domains identifier. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 33: W116-W120.
- Rajeevkumar, S., Anunanthini, P. and Sathishkumar, R. (2015) Epigenetic silencing in transgenic plants. *Front. Plant Sci.* 6: 693.

- Ralph, S., Oddy, C., Cooper, D., Yueh, H., Jancsik, S., Kolosova, N., et al. (2006) Genomics of hybrid poplar (*Populus trichocarpa × deltoides*) interacting with forest tent caterpillars (*Malacosoma disstria*): normalized and full-length cDNA libraries, expressed sequence tags, and a cDNA microarray for the study of insect-induced defences in poplar. *Mol. Ecol.* 15: 1275-1297.
- Ralph, S.G., Chun, H.J., Cooper, D., Kirkpatrick, R., Kolosova, N., Gunter, L., et al. (2008) Analysis of 4,664 high-quality sequence-finished poplar full-length cDNA clones and their utility for the discovery of genes responding to insect feeding. *BMC Genomics* 9: 57.
- Rathmacher, G., Niggemann, M., Köhnen, M., Ziegenhagen, B. and Bialozyt, R. (2010) Short-distance gene flow in *Populus nigra* L. accounts for small-scale spatial genetic structures: implications for in situ conservation measures. *Conserv. Genet.* 11: 1327-1338.
- Regier, N., Streb, S., Cocozza, C., Schaub, M., Cherubini, P., Zeeman, S.C., et al. (2009) Drought tolerance of two black poplar (*Populus nigra* L.) clones: contribution of carbohydrates and oxidative stress defence. *Plant Cell Environ.* 32: 1724-1736.
- Renaut, J., Lutts, S., Hoffmann, L. and Hausman, J.-F. (2004) Responses of poplar to chilling temperatures: proteomic and physiological aspects. *Plant Biol. (Stuttg)* 6: 81-90.
- Rice, P., Longden, I. and Bleasby, A. (2000) EMBOSS: the European Molecular Biology Open Software Suite. *Trends Genet.* 16: 276-277.
- Richet, N., Afif, D., Tozo, K., Pollet, B., Maillard, P., Huber, F., et al. (2012) Elevated CO2 and/or ozone modify lignification in the wood of poplars (*Populus tremula* × *alba*). *J. Exp. Bot.* 63: 4291-4301.
- Riha, K., Watson, J.M., Parkey, J. and Shippen, D.E. (2002) Telomere length deregulation and enhanced sensitivity to genotoxic stress in *Arabidopsis* mutants deficient in Ku70. *EMBO J*. 21: 2819-2826.
- Rinaldi, C., Kohler, A., Frey, P., Duchaussoy, F., Ningre, N., Couloux, A., et al. (2007) Transcript profiling of poplar leaves upon infection with compatible and incompatible strains of the foliar rust *Melampsora larici-populina*. *Plant Physiol*. 144: 347-366.
- Robinson, K.M., Delhomme, N., Mähler, N., Schiffthaler, B., Önskog, J., Albrectsen, B.R., et al. (2014) *Populus tremula* (European aspen) shows no evidence of sexual dimorphism. *BMC Plant Biol.* 14: 276.
- Rotach, P. (2004) Poplars and biodiversity. In *Populus nigra Network. Report of seventh* (25–27 *October 2001, Osijek, Croatia) and eighth meetings* (22–24 May 2003, Treppeln, Germany).
  Edited by Koskela, J., de Vries, S.M.G., Kajba, D., von Wühlisch, G. and compilers pp. 79-100. International Plant Genetic Resources Institute, Rome.
- Rottmann, W.H., Meilan, R., Sheppard, L.A., Brunner, A.M., Skinner, J.S., Ma, C., et al. (2000) Diverse effects of overexpression of *LEAFY* and *PTLF*, a poplar (*Populus*) homolog of

LEAFY/FLORICAULA, in transgenic poplar and Arabidopsis. Plant J. 22: 235-245.

- Sambrook, J. and Russell, D.W. (2001) Molecular Cloning: A Laboratory Manual. 3rd ed. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, NY.
- Sancar, A., Lindsey-Boltz, L.A., Ünsal-Kaçmaz, K. and Linn, S. (2004) Molecular mechanisms of mammalian DNA repair and the DNA damage checkpoints. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 73: 39-85.
- Sannigrahi, P., Ragauskas, A.J. and Tuskan, G.A. (2010) Poplar as a feedstock for biofuels: a review of compositional characteristics. *Biofuels Bioprod. Biorefin.* 4: 209-226.
- Scandalios, J.G. (1964) Some effects of X-rays on root primordia in the poplar. *Radiat. Bot.* 4: 355-359.
- SCBD (2000) Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety to the Convention on Biological Diversity: text and annexes. Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (SCBD), Montreal.
- Sharma, S., Singh, B. and Manchanda, V.K. (2015) Phytoremediation: role of terrestrial plants and aquatic macrophytes in the remediation of radionuclides and heavy metal contaminated soil and water. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* 22: 946-962.
- Sheikholeslam, S.N. and Weeks, D.P. (1987) Acetosyringone promotes high efficiency transformation of Arabidopsis thaliana explants by Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Plant Mol. Biol. 8: 291-298.
- Shen, Z., Sun, J., Yao, J., Wang, S., Ding, M., Zhang, H., et al. (2015) High rates of virus-induced gene silencing by tobacco rattle virus in *Populus*. *Tree Physiol*. 35: 1016-1029.
- Shim, D., Kim, S., Choi, Y.I., Song, W.Y., Park, J., Youk, E.S., et al. (2013) Transgenic poplar trees expressing yeast cadmium factor 1 exhibit the characteristics necessary for the phytoremediation of mine tailing soil. *Chemosphere* 90: 1478-1486.
- Shinohara, A., Ogawa, H. and Ogawa, T. (1992) Rad51 protein involved in repair and recombination in *S. cerevisiae* is a RecA-like protein. *Cell* 69: 457-470.
- Shinohara, K. and Murakami, A. (1996) Changes in levels of thylakoid components in chloroplasts of pine needles of different ages. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 37: 1102-1107.
- Shuai, P., Liang, D., Zhang, Z., Yin, W. and Xia, X. (2013) Identification of drought-responsive and novel *Populus trichocarpa* microRNAs by high-throughput sequencing and their targets using degradome analysis. *BMC Genomics* 14: 233.
- Shuai, P., Liang, D., Tang, S., Zhang, Z., Ye, C.Y., Su, Y., et al. (2014) Genome-wide identification and functional prediction of novel and drought-responsive lincRNAs in *Populus trichocarpa*. *J. Exp. Bot.* 65: 4975-4983.
- Si, J., Zhou, T., Bo, W., Xu, F. and Wu, R. (2014) Genome-wide analysis of salt-responsive and novel microRNAs in *Populus euphratica* by deep sequencing. *BMC Genet.* 15 (Suppl 1): S6.
- Slavov, G.T., Leonardi, S., Burczyk, J., Adams, W.T., Strauss, S.H. and Difazio, S.P. (2009) Extensive pollen flow in two ecologically contrasting populations of *Populus trichocarpa*.

Mol. Ecol. 18: 357-373.

- Sluchyk, V., Sluchyk, I. and Shyichuk, A. (2014) Assessment of both environmental cytotoxicity and trace metal pollution using *Populus simonii* Carr. as a bioindicator. *Environ. Monit. Assess.* 186: 6645-6650.
- Smith, E.C. (1943) A study of cytology and speciation in the genus *Populus* L. J. Arnold Arbor. 24: 275-305.
- Smulders, M.J.M., Beringen, R., Volosyanchuk, R., Vanden Broeck, A., van der Schoot, J., Arens, P., et al. (2008) Natural hybridisation between *Populus nigra* L. and *P. × canadensis* Moench. Hybrid offspring competes for niches along the Rhine river in the Netherlands. *Tree Genet. Genomes* 4: 663-675.
- Sparrow, A.H. and Miksche, J.P. (1961) Correlation of nuclear volume and DNA content with higher plant tolerance to chronic radiation. *Science* 134: 282-283.
- Sparrow, A.H., Rogers, A.F. and Schwemmer, S.S. (1968) Radiosensitivity studies with woody plants. I. Acute gamma irradiation survival data for 28 species and predictions for 190 species. *Radiat. Bot.* 8: 149-186.
- Sparrow, A.H., Schwemmer, S.S., Klug, E.E. and Puglielli, L. (1970) Radiosensitivity studies with woody plants. II. Survival data for 13 species irradiated chronically for up to 8 years. *Radiat. Res.* 44: 154-177.
- Sparrow, A.H., Schwemmer, S.S. and Bottino, P.J. (1971) The effects of external gamma radiation from radioactive fallout on plants with special reference to crop production. *Radiat. Bot.* 11: 85-118.
- Sparrow, R.C. and Sparrow, A.H. (1965) Relative radiosensitivities of woody and herbaceous spermatophytes. *Science* 147: 1449-1451.
- Stanturf, J.A. and van Oosten, C. (2014) Operational poplar and willow culture. In *Poplars and Willows: Trees for Society and the Environment*. Edited by Isebrands, J.G. and Richardson, J. pp. 200-257. CAB International and FAO, Rome.
- Sterky, F., Regan, S., Karlsson, J., Hertzberg, M., Rohde, A., Holmberg, A., et al. (1998) Gene discovery in the wood-forming tissues of poplar: analysis of 5,692 expressed sequence tags. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 95: 13330-13335.
- Sterky, F., Bhalerao, R.R., Unneberg, P., Segerman, B., Nilsson, P., Brunner, A.M., et al. (2004) A *Populus* EST resource for plant functional genomics. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 101: 13951-13956.
- Stettler, R.F. and Guries, R.P. (1976) The mentor pollen phenomenon in black cottonwood. *Can. J. Bot.* 54: 820-830.
- Stout, A.T., Davis, A.A., Domec, J.-C., Yang, C., Shi, R. and King, J.S. (2014) Growth under field conditions affects lignin content and productivity in transgenic *Populus trichocarpa* with
altered lignin biosynthesis. Biomass Bioenerg. 68: 228-239.

- Street, N.R., Jansson, S. and Hvidsten, T.R. (2011) A systems biology model of the regulatory network in *Populus* leaves reveals interacting regulators and conserved regulation. *BMC Plant Biol.* 11: 13.
- Suszka, J., Plitta, B., Michalak, M., Bujarska-Borkowska, B., Tylkowski, T. and Chmielarz, P. (2014) Optimal seed water content and storage temperature for preservation of *Populus nigra* L. germplasm. *Ann. For. Sci* 71: 543-549.
- Taghavi, S., Barac, T., Greenberg, B., Borremans, B., Vangronsveld, J. and van der Lelie, D. (2005) Horizontal gene transfer to endogenous endophytic bacteria from poplar improves phytoremediation of toluene. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 71: 8500-8505.
- Taghavi, S., Weyens, N., Vangronsveld, J. and van der Lelie, D. (2011) Improved phytoremediation of organic contaminants through engineering of bacterial endophytes of trees. In *Endophytes* of Forest Trees. Biology and Applications. Edited by Pirttilä, A.M. and Frank, A.C. pp. 205-216. Springer, Dordrecht.
- Tamura, K., Adachi, Y., Chiba, K., Oguchi, K. and Takahashi, H. (2002) Identification of Ku70 and Ku80 homologues in *Arabidopsis thaliana*: evidence for a role in the repair of DNA double-strand breaks. *Plant J.* 29: 771-781.
- Taniguchi, T., Ohmiya, Y., Kurita, M., Tsubomura, M., Kondo, T., Park, Y.W., et al. (2008) Biosafety assessment of transgenic poplars overexpressing xyloglucanase (AaXEG2) prior to field trials. *J. Wood Sci.* 54: 408-413.
- Taniguchi, T., Konagaya, K.-i., Kurita, M., Takata, N., Ishii, K., Kondo, T., et al. (2012) Growth and root sucker ability of field-grown transgenic poplars overexpressing xyloglucanase. J. Wood Sci. 58: 550-556.
- Taylor, G. (2002) Populus: arabidopsis for forestry. Do we need a model tree? Ann. Bot. 90: 1-9.
- Tulik, M. and Rusin, A. (2005) Microfibril angle in wood of Scots pine trees (*Pinus sylvestris*) after irradiation from the Chernobyl nuclear reactor accident. *Environ. Pollut.* 134: 195-199.
- Tuskan, G.A., Difazio, S., Jansson, S., Bohlmann, J., Grigoriev, I., Hellsten, U., et al. (2006) The genome of black cottonwood, *Populus trichocarpa* (Torr. & Gray). *Science* 313: 1596-1604.
- Tzfira, T., Jensen, C.S., Vainstein, A. and Altman, A. (1997a) Transformation and regeneration of transgenic aspen plants via shoot formation from stem explants. *Physiol. Plant.* 99: 554-561.
- Tzfira, T., Jensen, C.S., Wang, W., Zuker, A., Vinocur, B., Altman, A., et al. (1997b) Transgenic Populus tremula: a step-by-step protocol for its Agrobacterium-mediated transformation. Plant Mol. Biol. Rep. 15: 219-235.
- UN (1992) Convention on Biological Diversity. United Nations, Rio de Janeiro.
- UNSCEAR (1996) Effects of radiation on the environment. In Sources and Effects of Ionizing Radiation. UNSCEAR 1996 Report to the General Assembly, with Scientific Annex pp. 7-86.

United Nations, New York.

- Ursic, D., Kemp, J.D. and Helgeson, J.P. (1981) A new antibiotic with known resistance factors, G418, inhibits plant cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 101: 1031-1037.
- Van Acker, R., Leplé, J.C., Aerts, D., Storme, V., Goeminne, G., Ivens, B., et al. (2014) Improved saccharification and ethanol yield from field-grown transgenic poplar deficient in cinnamoyl-CoA reductase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 111: 845-850.
- Van Aken, B., Tehrani, R. and Schnoor, J. (2011) Endophyte-assisted phytoremediation of explosives in poplar trees by *Methylobacterium populi* BJ001T. In *Endophytes of Forest Trees. Biology* and Applications. Edited by Pirttilä, A.M. and Frank, A.C. pp. 217-234. Springer, Dordrecht.
- Van Der Kemp, P.A., Thomas, D., Barbey, R., De Oliveira, R. and Boiteux, S. (1996) Cloning and expression in *Escherichia coli* of the OGG1 gene of Saccharomyces cerevisiae, which codes for a DNA glycosylase that excises 7,8-dihydro-8-oxoguanine and 2,6-diamino-4-hydroxy-5-N-methylformamidopyrimidine. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93: 5197-5202.
- Vanden Broeck, A. (2003) EUFORGEN technical guidelines for genetic conservation and use for European black poplar (*Populus nigra*). p. 6. International Plant Genetic Resources, Rome.
- Vanden Broeck, A., Villar, M., Van Bockstaele, E. and Van Slycken, J. (2005) Natural hybridization between cultivated poplars and their wild relatives: evidence and consequences for native poplar populations. *Ann. For. Sci* 62: 601-613.
- Vanden Broeck, A., Cox, K. and Villar, M. (2012) Natural hybridization and potential seed set of sympatric *Populus nigra* and *Populus × canadensis* along the river IJzer in Flanders (Belgium). *Plant Ecol. Evol.* 145: 341-349.
- Velikova, V., Tsonev, T., Loreto, F. and Centritto, M. (2011) Changes in photosynthesis, mesophyll conductance to CO<sub>2</sub>, and isoprenoid emissions in *Populus nigra* plants exposed to excess nickel. *Environ. Pollut.* 159: 1058-1066.
- Voelker, S.L., Lachenbruch, B., Meinzer, F.C., Jourdes, M., Ki, C., Patten, A.M., et al. (2010) Antisense down-regulation of 4CL expression alters lignification, tree growth, and saccharification potential of field-grown poplar. *Plant Physiol.* 154: 874-886.
- Wang, G., Castiglione, S., Chen, Y., Li, L., Han, Y., Tian, Y., et al. (1996) Poplar (*Populus nigra* L.) plants transformed with a *Bacillus thuringiensis* toxin gene: insecticidal activity and genomic analysis. *Transgenic Res.* 5: 289-301.
- Wang, J., Kang, X.Y. and Li, D.L. (2012a) High temperature-induced triploid production during embryo sac development in *Populus*. *Silvae Genet*. 61: 85-93.
- Wang, L., Yang, M., Akinnagbe, A., Liang, H., Wang, J. and Ewald, D. (2012b) Bacillus thuringiensis protein transfer between rootstock and scion of grafted poplar. Plant Biol. (Stuttg) 14: 745-750.

- Wang, S.-P., Xu, Z.-H. and Wei, Z.-M. (1990) Genetic transformation of leaf explants of *Populus tomentosa*. Acta Bot. Sin. 32: 172-177.
- Wang, W., Yuan, T., Cui, B. and Dai, Y. (2012c) Pretreatment of *Populus tomentosa* with *Trametes velutina* supplemented with inorganic salts enhances enzymatic hydrolysis for ethanol production. *Biotechnol. Lett.* 34: 2241-2246.
- Wei, H., Yordanov, Y.S., Georgieva, T., Li, X. and Busov, V. (2013) Nitrogen deprivation promotes *Populus* root growth through global transcriptome reprogramming and activation of hierarchical genetic networks. *New Phytol.* 200: 483-497.
- Weigel, D. and Nilsson, O. (1995) A developmental switch sufficient for flower initiation in diverse plants. *Nature* 377: 495-500.
- West, C.E., Waterworth, W.M., Jiang, Q. and Bray, C.M. (2000) Arabidopsis DNA ligase IV is induced by γ-irradiation and interacts with an Arabidopsis homologue of the double strand break repair protein XRCC4. *Plant J.* 24: 67-78.
- Wilkinson, A.G. (1999) Poplars and willows for soil erosion control in New Zealand. *Biomass Bioenerg*. 16: 263-274.
- Willing, R.R. and Pryor, L.D. (1976) Interspecific hybridisation in poplar. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 47: 141-151.
- Wilson, T.P., Canny, M.J. and McCully, M.E. (1991) Leaf teeth, transpiration and the retrieval of apoplastic solutes in balsam poplar. *Physiol. Plant.* 83: 225-232.
- Yadav, R., Arora, P., Kumar, S. and Chaudhury, A. (2010) Perspectives for genetic engineering of poplars for enhanced phytoremediation abilities. *Ecotoxicology* 19: 1574-1588.
- Yang, Y., Tang, R.J., Li, B., Wang, H.H., Jin, Y.L., Jiang, C.M., et al. (2015) Overexpression of a *Populus trichocarpa* H<sup>+</sup>-pyrophosphatase gene *PtVP1.1* confers salt tolerance on transgenic poplar. *Tree Physiol.* 35: 663-677.
- Ye, X., Busov, V., Zhao, N., Meilan, R., McDonnell, L.M., Coleman, H.D., et al. (2011) Transgenic *Populus* trees for forest products, bioenergy, and functional genomics. *Crit. Rev. Plant Sci.* 30: 415-434.
- Yenofsky, R.L., Fine, M. and Pellow, J.W. (1990) A mutant neomycin phosphotransferase II gene reduces the resistance of transformants to antibiotic selection pressure. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 87: 3435-3439.
- Yevtushenko, D. and Misra, S. (2010) Efficient Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of commercial hybrid poplar Populus nigra L. × P. maximowiczii A. Henry. Plant Cell Rep. 29: 211-221.
- Yin, T., Difazio, S.P., Gunter, L.E., Zhang, X., Sewell, M.M., Woolbright, S.A., et al. (2008) Genome structure and emerging evidence of an incipient sex chromosome in *Populus. Genome Res.* 18: 422-430.

- Yoon, S.-K., Park, E.-J., Choi, Y.-I., Bae, E.-K., Kim, J.-H., Park, S.-Y., et al. (2014) Response to drought and salt stress in leaves of poplar (*Populus alba* × *Populus glandulosa*): expression profiling by oligonucleotide microarray analysis. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.* 84: 158-168.
- Yu, J., Hu, S., Wang, J., Wong, G.K., Li, S., Liu, B., et al. (2002) A draft sequence of the rice genome (*Oryza sativa* L. ssp. *indica*). *Science* 296: 79-92.
- Yu, L.H., Wu, S.J., Peng, Y.S., Liu, R.N., Chen, X., Zhao, P., et al. (2015) Arabidopsis EDT1/HDG11 improves drought and salt tolerance in cotton and poplar and increases cotton yield in the field. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* 14: 72-84.
- Zan, Y., Ji, Y., Zhang, Y., Yang, S., Song, Y. and Wang, J. (2013) Genome-wide identification, characterization and expression analysis of *populus* leucine-rich repeat receptor-like protein kinase genes. *BMC Genomics* 14: 318.
- Zeng, F., Yan, H. and Arndt, S.K. (2009) Leaf and whole tree adaptations to mild salinity in field grown *Populus euphratica*. *Tree Physiol*. 29: 1237-1246.
- Zhang, B., Chen, M., Zhang, X., Luan, H., Diao, S., Tian, Y., et al. (2011a) Laboratory and field evaluation of the transgenic *Populus alba* × *Populus glandulosa* expressing double coleopteran-resistance genes. *Tree Physiol.* 31: 567-573.
- Zhang, B., Chen, M., Zhang, X., Luan, H., Tian, Y. and Su, X. (2011b) Expression of Bt-Cry3A in transgenic *Populus alba* × *P. glandulosa* and its effects on target and non-target pests and the arthropod community. *Transgenic Res.* 20: 523-532.
- Zhang, C., Hampp, R. and Nehls, U. (2005) Investigation of horizontal gene transfer in poplar/*Amanita muscaria* ectomycorrhizas. *Environ. Biosafety Res.* 4: 235-242.
- Zhang, S., Lu, S., Xu, X., Korpelainen, H. and Li, C. (2010) Changes in antioxidant enzyme activities and isozyme profiles in leaves of male and female *Populus cathayana* infected with *Melampsora larici-populina*. *Tree Physiol.* 30: 116-128.
- Zhou, X., Jacobs, T.B., Xue, L.J., Harding, S.A. and Tsai, C.J. (2015) Exploiting SNPs for biallelic CRISPR mutations in the outcrossing woody perennial *Populus* reveals 4-coumarate:CoA ligase specificity and redundancy. *New Phytol.* 208: 298-301.

## Publication lists

This thesis is based on the following papers.

- Mitsuru Nishiguchi, Kazumasa Yoshida, Takeshi Mohri, Tomohiro Igasaki and Kenji Shinohara (2006) An improved transformation system for Lombardy poplar (*Populus nigra* var. *italica*). Journal of Forest Research, 11: 175-180.
- Mitsuru Nishiguchi, Tokihiko Nanjo and Kazumasa Yoshida (2012) The effects of gamma irradiation on growth and expression of genes encoding DNA repair-related proteins in Lombardy poplar (*Populus nigra* var. *italica*). Journal of Environmental Radioactivity, 109: 19-28.

## Tables

Section	Species	Distribution
Abaso	P. mexicana Wesmael	Mexico
_		
Turanga	<i>P. euphratica</i> Olivier	North Africa and Asia
	<i>P. ilicifolia</i> (Engler) Rouleau	Kenya
	P. pruinosa Schrenk	China and Central Asia
Leucoides	P. glauca Haines	India and China
	P. heterophylla Linnaeus	Eastern North America
	P. lasiocarpa Oliver	China
Aigeiros	P deltoides Marshall	North America
ingenes	P fremontii S Watson	North America
	<i>P. nigra</i> Linnaeus	Europe, North Africa and West Asia
Tacamahaca	P. angustifolia James	North America
	P. balsamifera Linnaeus	North America
	P. cathayana Rehder	China
	P. ciliate Royle	Central Asia
	P. koreana Rehder	East Asia
	P. laurifolia Ledebour	Asia
	P. maximowiczii Henry	East Asia
	P. simonii Carrière	Asia
	P. suaveolens Fischer	Asia
	P. szechuanica Schneider	China
	P. trichocarpa Torrey & Gray	North America
	P. yunnanensis Dode	China
Populus	P adenopoda Maximowicz	China
1 optitus	<i>P alba</i> Linnaeus	Europe and North Africa
	P gamhlei Haines	Himalaya
	P arandidentata Michaux	Fastern North America
	P auzmanantlansis Vazauez & Cuevas	Mexico
	P monticola Brandegee	Mexico
	P sizholdii Miquel	Ianan
	P simaroa Rzedowski	Mexico
	P tremula Linnaeus	Furacia
	P tramulaidas Michaux	North America
	r. iremutotaes whichaux	norul Allenca

Table 1. Taxonomy and distribution of 32 species of the genus Populus.

(Eckenwalder 1996; Dickmann and Kuzovkina 2014)

Table 2. Area of poplar forests in 2011.

Category	Country	Area (thousand ha)
		20.207
Indigenous forests		30,296
	Russian Federation	24,757
	USA	17,653*
	China	2,530
	India	47
		42
	France	40"
	Other countries	99
	Subtotal	75,464
Planted forests	China	7,570
	France	236 <sup>a</sup>
	Iran	150
	Turkey	125
	Spain	105
	Italy	101
	Sweden	49
	Romania	48
	USA	$45^{\mathrm{a}}$
	Canada	44
	Argentina	41
	Other countries	132
	Subtotal	8,646
Agraforestry	China	2,800
refoloiestry	India	315
	Other countries	57
	Subtotal	3.172
	Succour	5,172
Total		87,282

<sup>a</sup> The data was reported in 2008. (FAO 2012) Table 3. Poplar wood production in 2011.

and m <sup>3</sup> )
1

NR, not reported.

<sup>a</sup> The data was estimated by the consumption. (FAO 2012) Table 4. Uses for poplar wood in 2011.

Use	Product (thousand m <sup>3</sup> )
Round timber (for logs or pulp)	3,415
Sawn timber	2,307
Veneer sheets	1,162
Plywood	42,919
Composites	2,190
Pulp	16,626
Fuelwood	1,734
Total	70,352

(FAO 2012)

Event/field of study	Biological property	Related issue
Growth	Fast growth	Productivity Costs of silviculture
	Wood production (lignification)	Suitable quality of wood for applications
	Susceptibility and tolerance to abiotic and biotic stresses	Productivity Conservation Improvement of stress tolerance
Ecology	Threat of extinction of some native species such as <i>P. nigra</i>	Conservation of genetic resources and biological diversity
Asexual (vegetative) reproduction	Root suckering Easy to root from cuttings (in mainly <i>Aigeiros</i> and <i>Tacamahaca</i> )	Natural regeneration Plantation Ecological invasion
Sexual reproduction	Dioecism	Difficulty of inbreeding
	Interspecific crossability	Crossbreeding
	Wind dispersal of pollen and seeds	Ecological invasion Gene flow from transgenic poplars Male or female sterility
	Long juvenile period of 5–10+ years	Long breeding period Flowering control
Genetics and genomics	Small genome size (485 MBp, 2C = 1.0 pg) Richest genetic and genomic information in woody plants (Genes, genome sequences, ESTs and molecular markers)	Extension of genetic and genomic resources Utilization for breeding and conservation
Biotechnology and genetic engineering	<i>In vitro</i> culture system Earliest and advanced transgenic technology in woody plants	Technological development Generation of excellent transgenic poplars Safety management of transgenic poplars

Table 5. Relationship between biological properties and applications of poplars.

Gene	Primer sets			
cDNA cloning				
PnRAD51	5'-GAGCTCAGTAGATCTCTGGAN-3'	5´-CAGGAGATGATAACTAAAATAGN-3´		
PnKU70	5´-ATCAACAAAGAAAGAAAGAAATG-3´	5'-CTCATGCCCTTGTGAAAACA-3'		
PnLIG4	5'-GAAAAAAAAAGCCCCCGAAAATG-3'	5′-GCAACAAAATACACTTAAGTTGCTA-3′		
Semi-quantitative R	Γ-PCR/Southern blot assay			
PnRAD51	5'-TGGTCAGAGGCAAGAGATAA-3'	5'-ACACCGAACTCATCTGCTAA-3'		
PnKU70	5´-TAGTGGTGGTGGTCAGGTTG-3´	5'-AGCTGCATTTTCGACAGCTG-3'		
PnLIG4	5'-CTAAATTCCGCAAATTCATCG-3'	5'-ATTCAGCTCCTCAATCGTCA-3'		
PnXRCC4	5'-AAGGCACTTGGTTTCCCTTT-3'	5'-TGTGCCAAACACTTCTCAGC-3'		
PnOGG1	5'-CTGCCAAATCAGCTCTCCTC-3'	5'-CAAGCCATTTCACACCTCCT-3'		
PnPCNA	5'-TCAAATCGGAGGGTTTTGAG-3'	5'-TTCTGGCTTGTCAACAGTGG-3'		
PnPGK	5'-TGCTCAGAGGCAAGAGATAA-3'	5'-AGGTCAACCTTCTCCAAGAG-3'		
RT-qPCR analysis				
PnRAD51	5´-CTGGACCTCAAATCAAGCCTA-3´	5'-GATCTGGAACCGTGCTTCA-3'		
PnKU70	5´-CCCTGGTTTGCAGAGACACTA-3´	5'-CTGCTTTAACAACTCCTGGTCTG-3'		
PnLIG4	5'-GGACATGCCGAGTGCTTC-3'	5'-TCTCCGTCCGATTACTTCTCC-3'		
PnXRCC4	5´-ACAGAGAGGCATGGTGAAGTG-3´	5'-CCTCGGGAGAAACTTGCAG-3'		
PnOGG1	5'-TGGCCGTAAATCTTCAAACTG-3'	5'-CTTCCAGACCAGAAAATGGTG-3'		
PnPCNA	5´-ACAAGCCAGAAGATGCAACAG-3´	5'-CAACCACAACAGGCAGGTC-3'		
PnUBQ5	5'-ACCTACACGAAGCCCAAGAAG-3'	5'-CATGAAAGTACCAGCACCACA-3'		

Table 6. PCR primers used for cDNA cloning, semi-quantitative RT-PCR/Southern blot assay and RT-qPCR analysis.

cDNA	Accession number	Length of the predicted protein (Amino acid residues)	Identity <sup>a</sup> (%) of amino acid residues to homologous proteins <sup>b</sup>			ogous
			P. trichocarpa	A. thaliana	humans	yeast
PnRAD51	AB269815	342	91.9 POPTR_0006s1 3750	90.4 U43528	68.9 D14134	53.5 D10023
PnLIG4	AB269887	1319	85.7 POPTR_0018s1 3870	58.7 AF233527	22.1 BC037491	17.2 Z74913
PnKU70	AB270699	627	98.7 POPTR_0011s1 0870	71.0 AF283759	31.7 AK055786	17.4 D15052
PnXRCC4	AB270700	255	84.0 POPTR_0010s0 8650	58.2 AF233528	19.9 U40622	10.9 Z72612
PnOGG1	AB270701	378	95.5 POPTR_0005s2 0290	58.7 AJ302082	32.4 U96710	27.4 U44855
PnPCNA	AB041506	264	99.6 POPTR_0009s0 4560	86.9 AF083220	64.8 M15796	35.2 X16676

Table 7. Properties of the predicted DNA repair-related proteins from P. nigra.

<sup>a</sup> The sequence identity was observed from the global alignment of the predicted amino acid sequence of the DNA repair protein between P. *nigra* and other organisms using the Needleman-Wunsch algorithm.

<sup>b</sup> Locus name of gene model in the *P. trichocarpa* genome assembly v2 (http://www.phytozome.net/poplar) and GenBank accession number of the homologous protein are represented under each amino acid sequence identity.

Duri			In vitro	Damage of nuclear DNA		
Dose of γ-rays (Gy)	Growth of plantlets	Morphogenesis	regeneration of shoot and root	Average tail DNA% <sup>a</sup>	% of a few damaged cells <sup>b</sup>	
0	NE	NE	NE	27.2 ± 14.6	35.8	
50	NE	Some transient mutations in leaves and stems	NE	24.3 ± 16.4	48.6	
100	Transient or completely growth arrest but no withering, and sprouting	Transient mutations in leaves and stems	Suppression of shoot regeneration, No roots	43.0 ± 15.7	6.6	
200	Completely growth arrest and withering after 4–10 weeks	Stopped	No shoots or roots	$38.6 \pm 14.9$	7.7	
300	Completely growth arrest and withering after 4–10 weeks	Stopped	ND	36.7 ± 12.0	4.9	

Table 8. Biological effects of γ-rays on *P. nigra*.

NE, no effect. ND, not determined. <sup>a</sup> Average percentage of DNA in the tail compared to the total DNA in the Comet assay. <sup>b</sup> The rate of cells of which tail DNA% was in the range of 0 to 20%.

Table 9. Composition of shoot-induction medium (SIM) for transformation of *P. nigra*.

Medium composition
$1 \times$ Murashige and Skoog basal salts
$1 \times Murashige and Skoog vitamin$
3% sucrose
20 mM MES-KOH (pH 5.8)
$0.5 \text{ mg l}^{-1}$ trans-zeatin
$0.1 \text{ mg l}^{-1}$ 6-benzylaminopurine
$50-100 \text{ mg l}^{-1}$ kanamycin
$500 \text{ mg l}^{-1}$ cefotaxime
0.8 % Bacto Agar

Table 10. Composition of root-induction medium (RIM) for transformation of *P. nigra*.

Medium composition			
$0.5 \times Murashige and Skoog basal salts$			
$1 \times Murashige and Skoog vitamin$			
3% sucrose			
20 mM MES-KOH (pH 5.8)			
$0.5 \text{ mg l}^{-1}$ indole-3-butyric acid			
$0.02 \text{ mg l}^{-1}$ 1-naphthaleneacetic acid			
$20 \text{ mg l}^{-1}$ kanamycin			
$250 \text{ mg l}^{-1}$ cefotaxime			
0.6 % Phytagar			

		Number				Frequency of	
Vector	DTT	Explants infected with <i>Agrobacterium</i>	Shoots transferred to RIM	Shoots rooted on RIM	<i>NPTII</i> positive shoots	Genetically independent transformants	trans- formation (%) <sup>a</sup>
pBF2::EGFP	_	111	94	20	18	13	11.7
pIG121Hm	_	106	61	12	8	7	6.6
pBF2::EGFP	+	93	115	28	25	18	19.4
pIG121Hm	+	98	151	41	39	21	21.4

Table 11. Frequency of the transformation of *P. nigra* with two types of binary vectors in the presence and absence of dithiothreitol (DTT).

<sup>a</sup> Transformation frequency was calculated from the number of genetically independent transgenic poplar plants divided by the number of *Agrobacterium*-infected explants.

Species	$LD_{100} \left( Gy \right)^{a}$	Nuclear DNA C-value (pg) <sup>b</sup>
Angiosperm		
Populus nigra	>100	0.54
Fraxinus americana	97	1.37 <sup>c</sup>
Acer saccharum	78	$0.7^{c}$
Prunus laurocerasus	58	3.65
Clematis virginiana	26	11.96 <sup>d</sup>
Sambucus canadensis	19	14.3 <sup>c</sup>
Paeonia suffruticosa	10	19.99 <sup>d</sup>
Gymnosperm		
Taxus canadensis	16	11.60
Abies balsamea	15	16.40
Sequoiadendron giganteum	15	9.93
Picea abies	13	20.01
Larix laricina	11	9.50
Tsuga canadensis	10	18.60
Pinus strobus	7	25.65

Table 12. Relationship between the radiation sensitivity and the nuclear DNA content of woody plant species.

<sup>a</sup> Radiation sensitivity of each woody plant species is shown as the dose of  $\gamma$ -rays that caused 100% mortality (LD<sub>100</sub>) (Sparrow et al. 1968). Although the original data had been measured in the unit of roentgen, they were converted to the unit of gray for comparison with *P. nigra*. One kiloroentgen was calculated as 9.747 Gy (based on absorbed dose to water).

<sup>b</sup> C-values of plant species are cited from the Plant DNA C-value Database (release 6.0, December 2012) (http://data.kew.org/cvalues/).

<sup>c</sup> Cited from Bai et al. (2012).

<sup>d</sup> C-value has not been reported. The mean C-value of the same genus species is shown on the Plant DNA C-value Database.

## Figures



Figure 1. Utilization and applications of poplars. Poplars are versatile and their usage is mainly divided into three groups, industrial application (pink), environmental application (green), and the overlap between them (yellow). In addition to traditional applications such as timber and landscaping, new fields of use have recently been exploited, including, for example, bioplastics, phytochemicals, biofuels and biomonitoring.





17-year-old *P. nigra* (Photograph on June 1, 2015 in Forestry and Forest Products Research Institute)

Figure 2. Biological properties of *Populus nigra*. As well as some other *Populus* species, *P. nigra* (black poplar) is considered to be one of the important woody plant model species for scientific research and applications.

Poplars have been recognized as a woody plant model species.

- Importance of poplars in industrial and other applications
- Development of biology and biotechnology of poplars



Figure 3. Flow of the research in this thesis. The pioneering of new fields of study and the development of technology are important in poplars as a woody plant model species. Therefore, this study aimed to elucidate the biological response to ionizing radiation in *Populus nigra* and improve its genetic transformation system.



Figure 4. Exposure of trees to natural background radiation. External radiation consists of cosmic rays from space and terrestrial rays from radionuclides in the soil. Internal radiation is emitted from absorbed radionuclides. The total dose to the leaves of trees are estimated to be 0.6–7 mGy per year.



Figure 5. The transformation process of *P. nigra* as reported previously. Using *Agrobacterium*, *P. nigra* can be transformed. The *Agrobacterium*-infected explants (leaves or stems) are regenerated to produce transgenic poplar plants under antibiotic selective pressure. However, the transformation of *P. nigra* was not optimal.



Figure 6. The effect of  $\gamma$ -irradiation on the growth of *P. nigra*. The poplar plantlets were exposed to 0, 50, 100, 200, and 300 Gy of  $\gamma$ -rays (left to right) for 20 h and were then grown under normal conditions. Photographs were taken immediately (A), and 2 weeks (B), 4 weeks (C), 6 weeks (D), 8 weeks (E), and 10 weeks (F) after  $\gamma$ -irradiation. The pot of the 300 Gy of  $\gamma$ -irradiated poplar plant was moved after 8 weeks (E and F). (Continued on next page)





Figure 6. (Continued from previous page)



Figure 7. The effect of  $\gamma$ -irradiation on the tree growth of *P. nigra*. Plant height (A) and stem diameter at the ground level (B) of each main stem directly exposed to  $\gamma$ -rays were measured. Closed circles (•), 0 Gy; open circles (•), 50 Gy; closed squares (**n**), 100 Gy-A group; open squares (**n**), 100 Gy-B group; closed triangles (**A**), 200 Gy; open triangles ( $\Delta$ ), 300 Gy. (C) Dry weight 10 weeks after  $\gamma$ -irradiation or at the time when the entire plant turned brown. Dry weight of leaves and stems includes not only each main stem directly exposed to  $\gamma$ -rays but also axillary branches that sprouted and elongated after  $\gamma$ -irradiation. The number of plantlets was initially eight (n = 8) in each  $\gamma$ -rays group. The plantlets exposed to 100 Gy of  $\gamma$ -rays were separated into two groups, the 100 Gy-A group (n = 3) and the 100 Gy-B group (n = 5) according to their growth. At 200 and 300 Gy, the number of plantlets gradually decreased for 10 weeks ( $0 \le n \le 8$ ). The data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD) of the indicated measurements.



Figure 8. Morphological effects of  $\gamma$ -irradiation on *P. nigra*. (A) A normal deltoid leaf of a non-irradiated poplar plantlet. (B) An oblanceolate and cleft leaf of a  $\gamma$ -irradiated poplar plantlet. (C–D) Two leaf blades with a petiole. (E) An asymmetric leaf with a bent petiole. (F) A mosaic pale green leaf. (G) Severely shortened internodes. (H) A stem branched off and partly fascinated in an internode. (I) Arrest of apical growth and elongated lateral shoots. (B–D) and (H–I) were exposed to 100 Gy of  $\gamma$ -rays. (E–G) were exposed to 50 Gy of  $\gamma$ -rays.



Figure 9. Inhibition of shoot regeneration by  $\gamma$ -irradiation. Stems and petioles were cut off from aseptic poplar plants and exposed to the indicated dose of  $\gamma$ -rays on the shoot-induction medium (SIM). After exposure, they were transferred onto a new SIM and cultivated. Photographs were taken 4 weeks after  $\gamma$ -irradiation.







Figure 10. Inhibition of root regeneration by  $\gamma$ -irradiation. Apical stems of aseptic poplar plants (approximately 1 cm in length) were put into root-induction medium (RIM) and exposed to the indicated dose of  $\gamma$ -rays. After exposure, the stems were transferred into a new RIM and cultivated. Photographs were taken 4 weeks after  $\gamma$ -irradiation.



Figure 11. Nuclear DNA damage caused by  $\gamma$ -irradiation in suspension-cultured poplar cells. (A) Photographs of the electrophoresis of nuclear DNA damaged by  $\gamma$ -irradiation. Mid-log phase suspension-cultured cells were exposed to  $\gamma$ -rays at the indicated dose and were subjected to a Comet assay. Scale bar = 50 µm. (B) Comparison of the degree of DNA damage among cells irradiated with  $\gamma$ -rays at doses from 0 to 300 Gy. DNA damage is expressed as %T, which is a percentage of the amount of DNA in the tail divided by the total amount of DNA in the head and the tail. *n* represents the number of nuclei examined by the Comet assay.



Figure 12. DNA damage and repair system in eukaryotes. Ionizing radiation (IR) induces oxidative DNA damage via reactive oxygen species. IR also directly cleaves DNA strands. Oxidative DNA damage is repaired by the base excision repair system (BER). DNA double-strand breaks are repaired by homologous recombinational repair (HR) or non-homologous end joining (NHEJ). Each repair system consists of various DNA-repair related proteins as shown in the lower part of the figure.



Figure 13. Schematic models of the DNA repair-related proteins predicted from the cDNA of *P. nigra*. The number of amino acid residues of each protein is indicated under the gene/protein name. The predicted functional domains and motifs are shown in each protein model.

PnRAD51 PtRAD51 AtRAD51 HsRAD51 ScRAD51	1 1 1 1	MEQQR MEQQR MTTMEQRR MA-MQMQL MSQVQEQHISESQLQYGNGSLMSTVPADLSQSVVDGNGNGSSEDIEATNG
PnRAD51 PtRAD51 AtRAD51 HsRAD51 ScRAD51	6 6 9 8 51	NQKAVNQQQHEDHEEVQHGPF-PVEQLQASGIASLDVKKLK NQKAVNQQQHEDHEEVQHGPF-PVEQLQASGIASLDVKKLK NQNAVQQQDDEETQHGPF-PVEQLQAAGIASVDVKKLR EANADTSVEEESFGPQ-PISRLEQCGINANDVKKLE SGDGGGLQEQAEAQGEMEDEAYDEAALGSFVPIEKLQVNGITMADVKKLR
		Helix-hairpin helix motif
PnRAD51 PtRAD51 AtRAD51 HsRAD51 ScRAD51 ScRAD51	46 46 43 101	DAGLCTVESVAFSPRKELLQIKGISEAKVDKIIEAASKLVPLGFTSASQL DAGLCTVESVAFSPRKELLQIKGISEAKVDKIIEAGIASQL DAGLCTVEGVAYTPRKDLLQIKGISDAKVDKIVEAASKLVPLGFTSASQL EAGFHTVEAVAYAPKKELINIKGISEAKADKILAEAAKLVPMGFTTATEF ESGLHTAEAVAYAPRKDLLEIKGISEAKADKLLNEAARLVPMGFVTAADF
PnRAD51 PtRAD51 AtRAD51 HsRAD51 ScRAD51	96 87 96 93 151	HAQRQEIIQITSGSRELDKILEGGVE HAQRQEIIQITSGSRELDKILEGKYQRFLSTLNNDPITLDSTGSITEMYG HAQRQEIIQITSGSRELDKILEGKYQRFLSTLNNDPITLDSTGSITEMYG HQRRSEIIQITTGSKELDKLLQGGIE HQRRSEIIQITTGSKELDKLLQGGIE HMRRSELICTTGSKNLDTLLGGGVE
		Core domain of AAA+ ATPase
PnRAD51 PtRAD51 AtRAD51 HsRAD51 ScRAD51	131 137 131 128 186	EFRSGKTQLCHTLCVTCQLPLDQGGGEGKAMYIDAEGTFRPQRLLQIADR EFRSGKTQLCHTLCVTCQLPLDQGGGEGKAMYIDAEGTFRPQRLLQIADR EFRSGKTQLCHTLCVTCQLPMDQGGGEGKAMYIDAEGTFRPQRLLQIADR EFRTGKTQICHTLAVTCQLPIDRGGGEGKAMYIDTEGTFRPERLLAVAER EFRTGKSQLCHTLAVTCQIPLDIGGGEGKCLYIDTEGTFRPVRLVSIAQR
PnRAD51 PtRAD51 AtRAD51 HsRAD51 ScRAD51 ScRAD51	181 187 181 178 236	FGLNGADVLENVAYARAYNTDHQSRLLLEAASMMVETRFALMIVDSATAL FGLNGADVLENVAYARAYNTDHQSRLLLEAASMMVETRFALMIVDSATAL FGLNGADVLENVAYARAYNTDHQSRLLLEAASMMIETRFALLIVDSATAL YGLSGSDVLDNVAYARAFNTDHQTQLLYQASAMMVESRYALLIVDSATAL FGLDPDDALNNVAYARAYNADHQLRLLDAAAQMMSESRFSLIVVDSVMAL
PnRAD51 PtRAD51 AtRAD51 HsRAD51 ScRAD51	231 237 231 228 286	YRTDFSGRGELSARQMHLAKFLRSLQKLADEFGVAVVITNQVVAQVDGSA YRTDFSGRGELSARQMHLAKFLRSLQKLADEFGVAVVITNQVVAQVDGSA YRTDFSGRGELSARQMHLAKFLRSLQKLADEFGVAVVITNQVVAQVDGSA YRTD <mark>M</mark> SGRGELSARQMHLAKFIRMLLRLADEFGVAVVITNQVVAQVDG <mark>A</mark> A YRTDFSGRGELSARQMHLAKF <mark>MRALQRLADQFGVAVVV</mark> TNQVVAQVDGGM
PnRAD51 PtRAD51 AtRAD51 HsRAD51 ScRAD51	281 287 281 278 336	I IFAGPQIKPIGGNIMAHASTTRLALRKGRGEERICKVISSPCLAEAEARF IFAGPQIKPIGGNIMAHASTTRLALRKGRGEERICKVISSPCLAEAEARF IFAGPQFKPIGGNIMAHATTRLALRKGRGEERICKVISSPCLPEAEARF MFAADPKKPIGGNITAHASTTRLYLRKGRGEETRICKIYDSPCLPEAEAMF AFNPDPKKPIGGNIMAHSSTTRLGFKKGKGCQRLCKVVDSPCLPEAECVF
PnRAD51 PtRAD51 AtRAD51 HsRAD51 ScRAD51	331 337 331 328 386	QISAEGVTDVKD QISAEGVTDVKD QISTEGVTDCKD AINADGVGDAKD AIYEDGVGDPREEDE

Figure 14. Comparison of the deduced amino acid sequence of PnRAD51 with related sequences. The amino acid identities to PnRAD51 are boxed in black, and gaps in the alignment are denoted by dashes. PtRAD51, a hypothetical protein from *P. trichocarpa* (JGI v2 gene model name: POPTR\_0006s13750); AtRAD51, *A. thaliana* RAD51 homolog (GenBank ID: U43528); HsRAD51, human RAD51 homolog (D14134); ScRAD51, budding yeast RAD51 (D10023). The lines indicate the helix-hairpin-helix motif (InterPro ID: IPR000445) and the core domain of AAA+ ATPase (IPR003593).

PnLIG4 PtLIG4 AtLIG4 HsLIG4 DNL4	1 1 1 1	MASSSTSSSTE-HTKFSILV-SLFNWISKTKTSSRKRSKFRKFIDT TA-HTKFSILV-SLFNWISKTKTSSRKRSKFRKFIDT MTE-EIKFSVLV-SLFNWIQKSKTSSOKRSKFRKFIDT MAASQTSQTVASHVFFADLC-STLERIQKSKGRAEKIRHFREELDS MISALDSIPEPQNFAPSPDEKWLCEELFVKLHEVQINGTAGTGKSRSFKY
PnLIG4	45	FCSPSDYFSAVRLILPNLDRERGTYGLKESVLAVSLIE
PtLIG4	36	FCSPSDYFSAVRLILPNLDRERGTYGLKESVLAVSLIE
AtLIG4	37	YCKPSDYFVAVRLIEPGLDRERGSYGLKESVLAVSLIE
HsLIG4	46	WRKFHDALHKNHKDVTDSFVPAMRLILPOLEREMAYGIKETMLAKLYLE
DNL4	51	YEIISNFVEMWRKTVGNNIYPALVLALPYRDRRIYNIKDYVLIRTICS
PnLIG4	83	ALGMSRDSPDALKLINWRKGGANATGANAGNFSLVAAEVLQRRQGTVSGG
PtLIG4	74	ALGMSRDSPDALKLINWRKGGANATGANAGNFSLVAAEVLQRRQGTVSGG
AtLIG4	75	ALGISRDÅPDAVRLINWRKGGTAKAGANAGNFSLIAAEVLQRRQGMASGG
HsLIG4	96	LLNLPRDGKDALKLINYRTPTGTHGDAGDFAMIAYFVLKPR-CLQKGS
DNL4	99	YLKLPKNSATEQRLKDWKQRVGKGGNLSSLLVEBIAKRRAEPSSKA
PnLIG4	133	LTIEELNGLLDKLASSENRGDKTAVLAALINKTNTQEMKWIIM
PtLIG4	124	LTIEELNGLLDKLASSENRGEKTAVLAALINKTNTQEMKWIIM
AtLIG4	125	LTIKELNDLLDRLASSENRAEKTLVLSTLIQKTNAQEMKWVIR
HsLIG4	143	LTIQQVNDLLDSIASNNSAKRKDLIK-KSLLQLITQSSALEQKWLIR
DNL4	145	ITIDNVNHYLDSISGDRFASGRGFKSLVKSKPFLHCVENMSFVELKYFFD
PnLIG4 PtLIG4 AtLIG4 HsLIG4 DNL4	176 167 168 189 195	IILKDLKLGMSEKSVFHEFHPDAEDLFNVTCDLKLVCEKLRDRNQRHKRQ IILKDLKLGMSEKSVFHEFHPDAEDLFNVTCDLKLVCEKLRDRNQRHKRQ MIIKDLKLGWSEKSIFQEFHPDAEDLFNVTCDLKLVCEKLRDRHQRHKRQ MIIKDLKLGVSQQTIFSVFHNDAAELHNVTTDLEKVCRQLHDPSVGLSDI IVLKNRVIGQEHKLLNCWHPDAQDYLSVISDLKVVTSKLYDPKVRLKDD Ceptral domain of ATP dependent
PnLIG4	226	DIEVGKAVRPQLAMRVSDAHAAWKKLHGKEVVVECKFDGDRIQIHK
PtLIG4	217	DIEVGKAVRPQLAMRVSDAHAAWKKLHGKEVVVECKFDGDRIQIHK
AtLIG4	218	DIEVGKAVRPQLAMRIGDVNAAWKKLHGKDVVAECKFDGDRIQIHK
HsLIG4	239	SITLFSAFKPMLAA-IADIEHIEKDMKHQSFYIETKIDGERMOMHK
DNL4	245	DLSIKVGFAFAPQLAKKVNLSYEKICRTLHDDFLVEEKMDGERIQVHYMN
PnLIG4 PtLIG4 AtLIG4 HsLIG4 DNL4	272 263 264 284 295	DNA ligase NGAEVHYFSRNFLDHSEYAHGMSDIIVQNVLDERCILDGEML NGAEVHYFSRNFLDHSEYAHGMSDIIVQNVLDERCILDGEML NGTDIHYFSRNFLDHSEYAHAMSDLIVQNILVDKCILDGEML DGDVYKYFSRNGYNYTQQFGASPTEGSITPFIHNAFKADIQICILDGEMM YGESIKFFSRRGIDYTYLYGASLSSGTISQHLRFTDSVKECVLDGEMV
PnLIG4	314	VWDTSLNRFAEFGSNQEIAKAARDGLDSDRQLCYVAFDILYVGD
PtLIG4	305	VWDTSLNRFAEFGSNQEIAKAARDGLDSDRQLCYVAFDILYVGD
AtLIG4	306	VWDTSLNRFAEFGSNQEIAKAAREGLDSHKQLCYVAFDVLYVGD
HsLIG4	334	AYNPNTQTEMQKGTKFDIKRMVEDSDLQTCYCVFDVLMVNN
DNL4	343	TFDAKRRVILPFGLVKGSAKEALSFNSINNVDFHPLYMVFDLLYLNG
PnLIG4 PtLIG4 AtLIG4 HsLIG4 DNL4	358 349 350 375 390	TSVIHQTLKERHELLRKVVKPVKGRLEILVPNGGLNAHRLPGEPYCSLIA TSVIHQTLKERHELLRKVVKPVKGRLEILVPNGGLNAHRLPGEPYCSLIA TSVIHQSLKERHELLKKVVKPLKGRLEULVPEGGLNVHRPSGEPSWGIVV KKLGHETLRKRYEILSSIFTPIPGRIEIVQ
PnLIG4 PtLIG4 AtLIG4 HsLIG4 DNL4	408 399 400 409 424	I YNVDDIEKFFKETIENRDEGIVLKDLGSKWEPSDRSGKWLKLKPEYIRAG YNVDDIEKFFKETIENRDEGIVLKDLGSKWEPSDRSGKWLKLKPEYIRAG HAAADVERFFKETVENRDEGIVLKDLESKWEPGDRSGKWMLKLKPEYIRAG HTKNEVIDALNEATDKREEGIMVKOPLSIYKPDKRGEGWLKIKPEYDEEF GOVESIKKSLEVAISLGSEGVVLKYYNSSYNVASRNNNMIKVKPEYDEEF

Figure 15. Comparison of the deduced amino acid sequence of PnLIG4 with related sequences. The amino acid identities to PnLIG4 are boxed in black, and gaps in the alignment are denoted by dashes. PtLIG4, a hypothetical protein from *P. trichocarpa* (JGI v2 gene model name: POPTR\_0018s13870); AtLIG4, *A. thaliana* DNA ligase IV homolog (GenBank ID: AF233527); HsLIG4, human DNA ligase IV (BC037491); DNL4, budding yeast DNA ligase IV (Z74913). The lines indicate the central domain of ATP dependent DNA ligase (InterPro ID: IPR012310) and two BRCT domains (IPR001357). (Continued on next page)

PnLIG4	458	SD-LDVLIIGGYYGSGRRGGEVAQFLLGL
PtLIG4	449	SD-LDVLIIGGYYGSGRRGGEVAQFLLGL
AtLIG4	450	AD-LDVLIIGGYYGSGRRGGEVAQFLVAL
HsLIG4	459	MDELDILIVGGYYGKGSRGGEWAQFLVAL
DNL4	474	GENLDLIVIGRDSGKKDSFMLGLVLDEEEYKKHQGDSSEIVDH
PnLIG4	486	AECPASNTYPRRFISFCRVGNGLSNEELDTVVSKLKPYFRKNEYPK
PtLIG4	477	AERPASNTYPRRFISFCRVGNGLSDELDTVVSKLKPYFRKNEYPK
AtLIG4	478	ADRAEANVYPRRFMSFCRVGTGLSDDLNTVVSKLKPYFRKNEHPK
HsLIG4	488	APKPPGEKPSVEHTLSRVGSCTMKELVDLGLKLAKYWKPFHR
DNL4	518	SSQEKHIQNSRRVKKILSFCSIANGISQEEFKEIDRKTRGHWKRTSE
PnLIG4	532	NSPPSFYQVTNNSKERPDVWIENPDKSIILSITSDIRTISSEVFSAP
PtLIG4	523	NSPPSFYQVTNNSKERPDVWIENPDKSIILSITSDIRTISSEVFSAP
AtLIG4	524	KAPPSFYQVTNHSKERPDVWIDSPEKSIILSITSDIRTIRSEVFØAP
HsLIG4	532	KAPPSSILCGTEKPEVYIE-PCNSVIVQIKAAEIVPSDMYKTG
DNL4	566	VAPPASILEFGSKIPAEWID-PSESIVELKSRSLDNTETNMQKYATN
PnLIG4 PtLIG4 AtLIG4 HsLIG4 DNL4	579 570 571 574 613	YSLRFPRIDRVRYDKPWHECLDVQSFVELVHSSNGTTQKGKGYGDVQDSK YSLRFPRIDRVRYDKPWHECLDVQSFVELVHSSNGTTQKGKGYGYVQDSK YSLRFPRIDRVRYDKPWHECLDVQAFVELVNSSNGTTQKGKESSTQDA- CTLRFPRIDKVRYDKPWHECLDVQAFVELVNSSNGTTQKGKESSTQDA- CTLRFPRIDKWHECLDVQAFVELVNSSNGTQKGKESTQDD- CTLYGGYCKRIRYDKEWTDGYTLNDLYESRTVKSNPSYQAERSQL BRCT domain
PnLIG4	629	PTHIKSSRKGEKKSVSVVPSHLIQTDISDIKGETLIFSNMMFYVVVVPPS
PtLIG4	620	PTHIKSSRKGEKKSVSVVPSHLIQTDISDIKGETLIFSNMMFYFVVVPPS
AtLIG4	620	PKVNKSSRKGEKKNVSLVPSOFIQTDVSDIKGKTSIFSNMFYFVVVPRS
HsLIG4	623	PQEKKRKAAPKMKKVIGIIEHLKAPNLTNVNKISNIFEDVEFQVMSGTDS
DNL4	658	GLIRKKRKRVLIEDSFHQNRKQLP-ISNIFAGLLFVVLSDYVT
PnLIG4	679	NSLESLHKMVAENGGTFSMNLNNSVTHCIAAESKGIKYQAA
PtLIG4	670	NSLESLHKMVAENGGTFSMNLNNSVTHCIAAESKGIKYQAA
AtLIG4	670	HSLETFHKMVVENGGKPSMNLNNSVTHCIAAESSGIKYQAA
HsLIG4	673	QPKPDLENRIAEFGGYIVQNPGPD-TYCVIAGSENIRVKNI
DNL4	700	EDTGIRITRAELEKTIVEHGGKLIYNVILKRHSIGDVRLISCKTTTECKA
PnLIG4	720	KLHGDIIHYSWVLDCCLQKKLLPLQPKSFLFLSDGSKKKLHEEIDEFS
PtLIG4	711	KLHGDIIHYSWVLDCCLQKKLLPLQPKSFLFLSDGSKKKLHEEIDEFS
AtLIG4	711	KRQRDVIHFSWVLDCCSRNKMLPLLPKMDIHLTDASRTKLQDDIDEFS
HsLIG4	713	ILSNKHDVVKPAWLLECFKTKSFVPWQPRFMIHMCPSTKEHFAREYDCYG
DNL4	750	LIDRGYDILHPNWVLDCIAYKRLILIEPNYCFNVSQKMRAVAEKRVDCLG
PnLIG4 PtLIG4 AtLIG4 HsLIG4 DNL4	768 759 763 800	DSYYWDLDLSDIKQLLSNINASEDGKAIDDLKQKYCPE-EKWSL DSYYWDLDLSDIKQLLSNINASEDGKAIDDLKQKYCPE-EKWSL DSYYWDLDLEGIKQVLSNAKQSEDSKSIDYYKKKLOPE-KRWSC DSYFIDTDLNQLKEVFSGIKNSNEQTPEBMASLIADLEYRWSWDCSPLSM DSFENDISETKLSSLYKSQLSLPPMGELEIDSEVRRFPLFL
PnLIG4	811	FHGCCVYFHISRESLTPDWESLLGLAFRRIKLEIFMGGCKVSNIIAH-
PtLIG4	802	FHGCCVYFHISRESLTPDWESLLGLAFRRIKLEIFMGGCKVSNIIAH-
AtLIG4	802	LLSCCVYFYPYSQTLSTEEBALLGIMAKRLMLEVLMAGGKVSNILAH-
HsLIG4	813	FRHTVYLDSVAVINDLSTKNBGTRLAIKALELRFHGAKVVSCLAEG
DNL4	841	FSNRIAYVPRKKISTEDDIIEMKLKLFGGKITDQQS
PnLIG4 PtLIG4 AtLIG4 HsLIG4 DNL4	858 849 849 860 877	domain ATHLVVLNVPASDVDFGSLVKSFTTAEKHFLLNKRLYVIGSQWLED ATHLVVLIVPASDVDFGSLVKSFTTAEKHFLLNKRLYVIGSQWLED ASHLVVLAMAEEPLDFTLVSKSFSEMEKRLLLKKRLHVVSSHWLEE VSHVIIGEDHSRVADFKAFRRTEKRKFKILKESWVTD LCNLIIIPYTDFILRKDCMMEVHEKIKEQIKASDTIPKIARVAPEWVDH

Figure 15. (Continued on next page)

PnLIG4	904	SLERGOKLLEDTYNLKPSGLEESNCKEIVCDLDMEEATPISDGAKNERLP
PtLIG4	895	SLERGOKLLEDTYNLKPSGLEESNCKEVLP
AtLIG4	895	SLQREEKLCEDVYTLRPKYMEESDTEES
HsLIG4	897	SIDKCELQEENQYLI
DNL4	927	SINENCQVPEEDFPV
PnLIG4	954	SVTDSEAKEKGSKAALKDSNKLGSLEKETTRKRGRPAGGSTKKGKIGAGO
PtLIG4	925	SVTDSEAKEKGSKAALKDSNKLGSLEKETTRKRGRPAGGSTKKGKIGAGQ
AtLIG4	923	DKSEHDTTEVASQGSAQ-TKEPASSKIAITSS <mark>RGR</mark> SNTRAVK <mark>RG</mark> RSSTNS
HsLIG4		
DNL4	942	
PnLIG4	1004	AORTRARIVNKPAKISVEKSDESCSODDKNEENDMSDGNEEIHGGKPAGG
PtLIG4	975	ARTRARIVNKPAKISVEKSDESCSHDDKNEENDMSDGNEEIHGGKPA
AtLIG4	972	LQRVQRRRGKQPSKISGDETEESDASEEKVSTR-LSDIAEETDSFGEA
HsLIG4		
DNL4	942	
PnLIG4	1054	ITKKRKMGAGLARRTRACIVNKPAKTSEEKPDESCCHDEKSEENEMSEGS
PtLIG4	1023	
AtLIG4	1019	
HSLIG4	942	
DNL4	942	
PnLIG4	1104	YEIHGGRPAGGSTRKGKIGAGQARRT-RTRIANKPAKILEEKSEESCLHD
PtLIG4	1023	GRPAGGSTKKGKIGAGQALRT-RTRIANKPAKILEEKSEESCLHD
HeLIG4	1019	QRNSSRERCARRENSRVEQTQRVQRSRRGRAAM
DNL4	942	
Ppt TG4	1153	DETEENEMSEGNEETHGDDSKYNIDIOOTKMUEDSESSDDGKAKEATAEE
PtLIG4	1067	DEIEENEMSEGNEEIHGPWSKYNLDIOOTKWVEDSESSRRDKAKEFTAEE
AtLIG4	1056	DESDENDELDGNNNVSADAEEGNAAGRSVENEETREPDIAKYTESQQ
HsLIG4		
DNL4	942	
PnLIG4	1203	NRHEEWLDKAPDVEMSGRYYDQVTEKPEKLEVMVDPVHAILMDMIPSLGM
PtLIG4	1117	NRHEEWLDKAPDVEMSERYYDQVTEKPEKLEVMVDPVHAILMDMIPSLGM
AtLIG4	1103	RDNTVAVEEMLQDSENAKTEMDMKEKLQIHEDPLQAMIMKMFPIPSQ
HsLIG4	040	
DNL4	942	
PnLIG4	1253	KKGETTNPTIDNEKQAEGPYAQSSLSMKKVENTTPTLDTEKPAENPSLLP
PtLIG4	1167	KKGPTTNPT IGNEKQAEGPYAQPSISMKKVENWPTIDTEKPSENPSILP
HSLTG4	1120	MIIMESNAMIGLIKKMAVSGECESSEKKMEDAEMDATSVAGADSDVVPP
DNL4	942	
Dettod	1 2 0 2	
PRLIG4	1217	
AtLIG4	1200	LVKKKKVSYRDVAGELLKDW
HsLIG4		
DNL4	942	V <u>N</u> Y

Figure 15. (Continued from previous page)

			N-terminal alpha/beta domain
PnKU70 PtKU70 AtKU70 HsKU70 YKU70	1 1 1 1	MELDPDDIFKDDEDDPDSEFYQQRESSKEF- MELDPDDIFKDDEDDPDSEFYQQRESSKEF- MELDPDDVFRDEDEDPENDFFQEKEASKEF- MSGWESYYKTEGDEEAEEBQEENLEASGDYK MRSVTNAFGNSGELNDQVDETGYRK	
		of Ku70/Ku80	
PnKU70	44	STCPS-EDGKEETHFQIAISCIAQSLKTQII	NRSYDEVAICFFNTREK
PtKU70	44	STCPS-EDGKEETHFHIAISCIAQSLKTQII	NRSYDEVAICFFNTREK
AtKU70	44	STCPSEEEDKQESHFHIAVSCIAQSLKAHII	NRSNDEIAICFFNTREK
HsKU70	51	SQSEDELTPFDMSIQCIQSVYISKII	SSDRDLLAVVFYGTEKD
YKU70	45	ESSDLEYKSPLLEILESLDELMSQLVI	TRPGTAIGCYFYYCNREDA
PnKU70	91	KNLQDLNGAFVFNVAEREYLDRPT	ARLIKDFDCIEESFTKDIG
PtKU70	91	KNLQDLNGAFVFNVAEREYLDRPT	ARLIKDFDCIEESFTKDIG
AtKU70	92	KNLQDLNGVYVFNVPERDSIDRPT	ARLIKEFDIIEESFDKEIG
HsKU70	94	KNSVNFKNIYVLQELDNPG	AKRILELDQFKGQQG
YKU70	91	KEGIYELFPLRDINATFMKKLNDLLEDLS	SGRISLYDYFMFQQTGSEK
PnKU70	134	SQYGIVSGSRENSLYNALWIAQALLRKGS	AKTADKRILLFTNEDDPFG
PtKU70	134	SQYGIVSGSRENSLYNALWIAQALLRKGS	AKTADKRILLFTNEDDPFG
AtKU70	135	SQTGIVSDSRENSLYSALWVAQALLRKGS	LKTADKRMFLFTNEDDPFG
HsKU70	128	QKRFQDMMGHGSDYSLSEVLWVCANLFSDVQ	FKMSHKRIMLFTNEDNPHG
YKU70	139	QVRLSVLFTFMLDTFLEEIPGQ	KQLSNKRVFLFTDIDKPOE
PnKU70	182	SIKGVAKADMTRTTLQRAKDAQDLGISIELL	PLSQPDEEFNVSLFYSDLI
PtKU70	182	SIKGVAKADMTRTTLQRAKDAQDLGISIELI	PLSQPDEEFNVSLFYSDLI
AtKU70	183	SMRISVKEDMTRTTLQRAKDAQDLGISIELI	PLSQPDKQFNITLFYKDLI
HsKU70	178	NDSAKASRART <mark>KA</mark> GDLRDTGIFLDLM	HLKKPGG-FDISLFYRDI
YKU70	180	AQDIDER <u>A</u> RLR <mark>R</mark> LTIDLFDNKVNFATF	FIGYADKPFD-NEFYSDIL
PnKU70	232	GLEGDELAQFMPSAGQKLQDMKDQLR	KRMFTKRIVRRITLSI
PtKU70	232	GLEGDELAQFMPSAGQKLQDMKDQLR	KRMFTKRIVRRITLSI
AtKU70	233	GLNSDELTEFMPSVGQKLEDMKDQLK	KRVLAKRIAKRITFVI
HsKU70	222	SIAEDEDLRVHFEESSKLEDLLRKVR	AKETRKRALSRLKLKL
YKU70	225	QLGSHTNENTGLDSEFDGPSTKPIDAK-YIK	SRILRKKEVKRIMFQCPLI
		Ku type ATP-dependent DNA he	elicase domain
PnKU70	274	ANGLSIELNTYALIRPTLPGAITWI	DSVTNRPLKTE-RSFICAD
PtKU70	274	ANGLSIELNTYALIRPTLPGAITWI	DSV <mark>S</mark> NRPLKTE-RSFICAD
AtKU70	275	CDGLSIELNGYALLRPAIPGSITWI	DSTTNIPVKVE-RSYICTD
HsKU70	264	NKDIVISVGIYNLVQKALKPPPIKI	YRETNEPVKVKTRTFNTST
YKU70	274	LDEKTNFIVGVKGYTMYTHEKAGVRYKLVYE	HEDIRQEAYSK-RKFLNPI
PnKU70	317	TGALMQEPAKRYQPYKNDNIMLSVEELS	EIKRVSMGHLHLLGFKPLS
PtKU70	317	TGALMQEPAKRYQPYKNDNIMLSVEELS	EIKRVSTGHLHLLGFKPLS
AtKU70	318	TGAIMQDPIQRIQPYKNQNIMFTVEELS	OVKRISTGHLRLLGFKPLS
HsKU70	308	GGLLLPSDTKRSQIYGSRQIILEKEETE	ELKRFDDPGLMLMGFKPLV
YKU70	323	TGEDVTGKTVKVYPYGDLDINLSDSQDQIVM	EAYTQKDAFLKIIGFRSSS

Figure 16. Comparison of the deduced amino acid sequence of PnKU70 with related sequences. The amino acid identities to PnKU70 are boxed in black, and gaps in the alignment are denoted by dashes. PtKU70, a hypothetical protein from *P. trichocarpa* (JGI v2 gene model name, POPTR\_0011s10870); AtKU70, *A. thaliana* KU70 homolog (GenBank ID: AF283759); HsKU70, human KU70 subunit (XRCC6) (AK055786); YKU70, YKU70 Subunit in budding yeast (D15052). The lines indicate the N-terminal alpha/beta domain of Ku70/Ku80 (InterPro ID: IPR005161), the Ku type ATP-dependent DNA helicase domain (IPR006164), the C-terminal arm domain of Ku70/Ku80 (IPR005160) and the SAP DNA binding domain (IPR003034). (Continued on next page)
		Ku type ATP-dependent DNA helicase domain
PnKU70	364	-CLKDYHNLRPSTFIFPSDKEVIGSTCIFIALLRSMVNLKRFAVAFYG
PtKU70	364	-CLKDYHNLRPSTFIFPSDKEVIGSTCIFIALLRSMVNLKRFAVAFYG
AtKU70	365	-CLKDYHNLKPSTFLYPSDKEVIGSTRAFIALHRSMIQLERFAVAFYG
HsKU70	355	-LLKKHHYLRPSLFVYPEESLVIGSSTLFSALLIKCLEKEVAALCRYTPR
YKU70	373	KSIHYFNNIDKSSFIVPDEAKYEGSIRTLASLLKILRKKDKIAILWGKLK
PnKU70	411	SSSRPQLVALVAQDEIISAGG-QVEPPGMHMIYLPYSDD-VRHVEEIHSD
PtKU70	411	SSSRPQLVALVAQDEIISAGG-QVEPPGMHMIYLPYSDDGMVDLLQIHSD
AtKU70	412	GTTPPRLVALVAQDEIESDGG-QVEPPGINMIYLPYAND-IRDIDELHSK
HsKU70	404	RNIPPYFVALVPQEEELDDQKIQVTPPGFQLVFLPFADDKRKM
YKU70	423	SNSHPSLYTLSPSSVKDYNEGFYLYRVPFLDE-IRKFPSLLSY
		C-terminal arm domain of
PnKU70	459	TNAGAPRATDEQIKKA-AALIKRIDLKD-FSVFQFANPGLQRHYAVLQAL
PtKU70	460	TNAGAPRATDEQIKKA-AALIKRIDLKD-FSVFQFANPGLQRHYAVLQAL
AtKU70	460	PGVAAPRASDDQLKKA-SALMRRLELKD-FSVCQFANPALQRHYAILQAI
HsKU70	447	PFTEKIMATPEQVGKM-KAIVEKLRFTYRSDSFENPVLQQHFRNLEAL
YKU70	465	DDGSEHKLDYDNMKKVTQSIMGYFNLRDGYNPSDFKNPLLQKHYKVLHDY
		Ku70/Ku80
PnKU70	507	ALDEDDMPEINDETLPDEEGMARPGVVKAVEEFKLSVYGENYDEESDMGN
PtKU70	508	ALDEDDMPEINDETLPDEEGMARPGVVKAVEEFKLSVYGENYDEESDMGS
AtKU70	508	ALDENELRETRDETLPDEEGMNRPAVVKAIEOFKQSIYGDDPDEESDSG-
HsKU70	494	ALDLMEPEQAVDLTLPKVEAMNK-RLGSLVDEFKELVYPPDYNPEGKVT-
YKU70	515	LLQIETTFDENETPNTKKDRMMREDDSLRKLYYIRNKILESEKS-
PnKU70	557	GKASDASKKRKTAVENAAKESANYNWPDLADNGQLKDLTVTELKY
PtKU70	558	GKASDASKKRKTAAENAAKESANYNWPDLADNGQLKDLTVTELKY
AtKU70	557	AKEKSKKRKAGDADDGKYDYIELAKTGKLKDLTVVELKT
HsKU70	542	KRKHDNEGSGSKRPKVEYSEEELKTHISKGTLGKFTVPMLKE
YKU70	559	EDPIIQRLNK
		binding domain
PnKU70	602	YLTAHNLPVTGKKEVLISRILTHLGK
PtKU70	603	YLTAHNLPVTGKKEVLISRILTHLGK
AtKU70	596	YLTANNLUVSGKKEVLINRILTHIGK
HsKU70	584	ACRAYGLKSGLKKQELLEALTKHFQD
YKU70	569	YVKIWNMFYKKFNDDNISIKEEKKPFDKKPKFNI

Figure 16. (Continued from previous page)

N-terminal domain of DNA double-

PnXRCC4 PtXRCC4 AtXRCC4 HsXRCC4 LIF1	1 1 1 1	MBSTMARHTC
PnXRCC4 PtXRCC4 AtXRCC4 HsXRCC4 LIF1	14 14 31 11 51	
PnXRCC4 PtXRCC4 AtXRCC4 HsXRCC4 LIF1	40 40 59 42 95	SWFCNATEEEVRGRAAQWDQPVSTYI-QLAE SWFCNATEEEVRDRAAQWDQPVSTYI-QLAE SWICNATEEEVAERAAQWDQPVSFYI-QLAE SWICNATEEEVAERAAQWDQPVSFYI-KLAE 
PnXRCC4 PtXRCC4 AtXRCC4 HsXRCC4 LIF1	70 70 89 73 143	KHLGFQIPGSVYKFTDAGEGNKRLSWTFEK KHLGFQIPGSVYKFTDAGEGNKRLSWTFEK QYLGFQQPNSVYSFSDALEGSKRLSWTFEK ALLSGAGPADVYTFNFSKESCYFFEKNLKDVSFRLGSFNL LTLHPVKKGEIDLFEMADKLYKDICCVNDSYRNIKESDSSNRNRVEQLAR
PnXRCC4 PtXRCC4 AtXRCC4 HsXRCC4 LIF1	100 100 119 114 193	I EGTKLEWRWKCQPSPDTKKTTTLILDFLMDANIRLSEEVV EGTKLEWRWKCQPSPDTKKTTTLILDFLMDANIRLSEEVV EGTKLEWRWKCKPSDDSKKIIVGILDFLMBANIRLSEEVV EKVIABNQA ERELIDKLLETRDERTRAMMVTLLNEKKKIRELHEIGRQNNIKUSDDDV
PnXRCC4 PtXRCC4 AtXRCC4 HsXRCC4 LIF1	140 140 159 140 243	
PnXRCC4 PtXRCC4 AtXRCC4 HsXRCC4 LIF1	160 160 179 163 293	EKFNSQKMEFEAAVYAKFLGVLNSKKRKLRELRDQL
PnXRCC4 PtXRCC4 AtXRCC4 HsXRCC4 LIF1	196 196 213 213 328	SKKEISGESAQEGEDSDKTESFDRG SKKEISGESAQEEEDSDKTESFDRG KEDSVRVVEEEBSTDKAESFESG GETAICSEMTADRDPVYDESTDEESENQTDISGLASAAVSKDDSIISSLD SEKYDDITSFGDDTQSISFESDSSSDVQKHLVSLEDNGIQISAG
PnXRCC4 PtXRCC4 AtXRCC4 HsXRCC4 LIF1	221 221 236 263 372	-SDDEKSVEKPREKLAGTSKDPPPRRGY -SDDEKSVEKPRE RSDDEKSEEEASKKATSSKARGGKRAAR VTDIAPSRKRRQRMQRNLGTEPKMAPQENQLQEKEKPDSSLPETSKKEHI RSDEDYGDISGSESETDASAGEKKSSNH
PnXRCC4 PtXRCC4 AtXRCC4 HsXRCC4 LIF1	248 233 264 313 400	VRKKITHK K

Figure 17. Comparison of the deduced amino acid sequence of PnXRCC4 with related sequences. The amino acid identities to PnXRCC4 are boxed in black, and gaps in the alignment are denoted by dashes. PtXRCC4, a hypothetical protein from *P. trichocarpa* (JGI v2 gene model name, POPTR\_0010s08650); AtXRCC4, *A. thaliana* XRCC4 homolog (GenBank ID: AF233528); HsXRCC4, human XRCC4 (U40622); LIF1, budding yeast XRCC4 homolog (Z72612). The line indicates the N-terminal domain of DNA double-strand break repair and VJ recombination XRCC4 (InterPro ID: IPR009089).

PnOGG1 PtOGG1 AtOGG1 hOGG1 ScOGG1	1 1 1 1	MKRARPTPPPATPTTSRSSPIPPLPTPPQPRHSSKKHQKIIFQPTNWAPV MKRARPTPPPATPTTSRSSPIPPLPTPPQPRHSSKKHQKIIFK MKRPRPTSQPSISSTVKPPLSPPVTPILKQKLHRTGTFKMEPL MPARALLPRRMGHRTLASTPALWASI MSYKFGKL
		N-terminal domain of 8-oxoguanine DNA glycosylase
PnOGG1 PtOGG1 AtOGG1 hOGG1 ScOGG1	51 51 44 27 9	NLTQSELSLPLTFPTGQTFRWKQTGPL-QYTGSLGRHLISLKHH NLTQSELSLPLTFPTGQTFRWKQTGPL-QYTGSLGRHLISLKHH KLTHTELTLPLTFPTGQTFRWKKTGAI-QYSGTIGPHLVSLRQR PCPRSELRIDLVLPSGQSFRWREQSPA-HWSGVLADQVWTUTQT AINKSELCLANVLQAGQSFRWIWDEKLNQYSTTMKIGQQEKYSVVILRQD
PnOGG1 PtOGG1 AtOGG1 hOGG1 ScOGG1	94 94 87 70 59	KNGD-VYY-QIHHSPSQPAAKSALLSFLNTNISLTEMWHG-FAA QNGD-VYY-QIHHSPSQSAAKSALLSFLNTNISLTEMWHG-FAA PGDDAVSY-CVHCSTSPKSAELALLDFLNAEISJAELWSD-FSK EEQLHC-TVYRGDKSQASRPTPDELEAVRKYFQLDVTLAQIYHH-WGS EENEILEFVAVGDCGNQDALKTHLMKYFRLDVSLKHLFDNVWIP
		HhH-GPD domain
PnOGG1 PtOGG1 AtOGG1 hOGG1 ScOGG1	135 135 129 116 103	ADSRFAELAQHFKGARVLRQDPLECLIQFLCSSNNNISRITKMVD ADSRFAELAQHFKGARVLRQDPLECLIQFLCSSNNNISRITKMVD FVSS KDERFGELARHLRGARVLRQDPLECLIQFLCSSNNNIARITKMVD FVSS VDSHFQEVAQKFQGVRLLRQDPIECLFSFICSSNNNIARITGMVERLCQA SDKAFAKLSPQGIRILAQEPWETLISFICSSNNNISRITRMCNSLCSN
PnOGG1 PtOGG1 AtOGG1 hOGG1 ScOGG1	184 184 178 166 151	LGDHLGNVEGFEFHAFPSLERLA-LVTEQQLREAGFGYRAKYVTGTVNAL LGDHLGNVEGFEFHAFPSLERLA-LVTEQQLREAGFGYRAKYVTGTVNAL LGLHLGDIDGFEFHOFPSLDRLS-RVSEEEFRKAGFGYRAKY <mark>I</mark> TGTVNAL FGPRLIQLDDVTYHGFPSLQALAGPEVEAHLRKLGLGYRARYVSASARAI FGNLITTIDGVAYHSFPTSEELTSRATEAKLRELGFGYRAKYIIETARKL
PnOGG1 PtOGG1 AtOGG1 hOGG1 ScOGG1	233 233 227 216 201	QSKPEGGVKWLESL-RKLQLQMVIDSLCTLPGIGLKVASCIALFS QSKPEGGVKWLESL-RKLQLQMVIDSLCTLPGIGLKVASCIALFS QAKEGGGNEWLLSL-RKVELQEAVAALCTLPGVGPKVAACIALFS QELQGGLAWLQQL-RESSYEEAHKALCILPGVGFKVADCICLMA VNDKAEANITSDTTYLQSICKDAQYEDVREHLMSYNGVGPKVADCVCLMG
PnOGG1 PtOGG1 AtOGG1 hOGG1 ScOGG1	277 277 271 259 251	LDQHHAIPVDTHVWRIATTHLVPELAGAS-LTPKLCG
PnOGG1 PtOGG1 AtOGG1 hOGG1 ScOGG1	313 313 307 298 301	
PnOGG1 PtOGG1 AtOGG1 hOGG1 ScOGG1	361 348 346 351	SKNQHGPSNTEEGGQQAD KLDESAEVNETSCDTLKP TENIVTKQMKLKVELSDLHIKEAKID

Figure 18. Comparison of the deduced amino acid sequence of PnOGG1 with related sequences. The amino acid identities to PnOGG1 are boxed in black, and gaps in the alignment are denoted by dashes. PtOGG1, a hypothetical protein from *P. trichocarpa* (JGI v2 gene model name, POPTR\_0005s20290); AtOGG1, *A. thaliana* OGG1 homolog (GenBank ID: AJ302082); hOGG1, human OGG1 (U96710); ScOGG1, budding yeast OGG1 (U44855). The lines indicate the N-terminal domain of 8-oxoguanine DNA glycosylase (InterPro ID: IPR012904) and the HhH-GPD domain (IPR003265).

		N-terminal domain of PCNA
PnPCNA PtPCNA AtPCNA HsPCNA POL30	1 1 1 1	MLELRLVQGSLLKKVLESIKDLVNDANFDFSSSGFSLQSMDSSHVALVAL MLELRLVQGSLLKKVLESIKDLVNDANFDFSSSGFSLQSMDSSHVALVAL MLELRLVQGSLLKKVLESIKDLVNDANFDCSSTGFSLQAMDSSHVALVSL MFEARLVQGSTLKKVLEALKDLINEACWDISSSGVNLQSMDSSHVSLVOL MLEAKFEEASLFKRIIDGFKDCVQLVNFQCKEDGIIAQAVDDSRVLLVSL
PnPCNA	51	LLKSEGFEHYRCDRNTSMGMNLGNMSKMLKCAGNDDIITIKGDDGSDTVT
PtPCNA	51	LLKSEGFEHYRCDRNTSMGMNLGNMSKMLKCAGNDDIITIKGDDGSDTVT
AtPCNA	51	LLRSEGFEHYRCDRNLSMGMNLGNMSKMLKCAGNDDIITIKADDGGDTVT
HsPCNA	51	TLRSEGFDTYRCDRNLAMGVNLTSMSKILKCAGNEDIITIKADDGGDTVT
POL30	51	EIGVEAFQEYRCDHPVTLGMDLTSLSKILRCGNNTDTLTLIADNTPDSII
PnPCNA	101	FMFESPTQDKIADFEMKLMDIDSEHLGIPEAEYHAIVKMPSAEFARICKD
PtPCNA	101	FMFESPTQDKIADFEMKLMDIDSEHLGIPEAEYHAIVKMPSAEFARICKD
AtPCNA	101	FMFESPTQDKIADFEMKLMDIDSEHLGIPEAEYHSIVRMPSNEFSRICKD
HsPCNA	101	IVFEAPNQEKVSDYEMKLMDIDVEQLGIPEQEYSCVVKMPSGEFARICRD
POL30	101	LLFEDTKKDRIAEYSLKLMDIDADFLKIEELQYDSTLSLPSSEFSKIVRD
PnPCNA	151	LASIGDTVVISVTKEGVKFSTRGDIGTANIVLRQNTTVDKPEDATVIEMN
PtPCNA	151	LASIGDTVVISVTKEGVKFSTRGDIGTANIVLRQKTTVDKPEDATVIEMN
AtPCNA	151	LSSIGDTVVISVTKEGVKFSTAGDIGTANIVLRQNTTVDKPEDATVIEMK
HsPCNA	151	LSHIGDAVVISCAKDGVKFSASGELGNGNIKLSQTSNVDKEEAVTIEMN
POL30	151	LSQLSDSINIMITKETIKFVADGDIGSGSVIIKPFVDMEHPETSIKLEMD
PnPCNA	201	EPVSMTFALRYMNSFTKATPLSNTVTISMSPDLPVVVEYKIAEMGYVRFY
PtPCNA	201	EPVSMTFALRYMNSFTKATPLSNTVTISMSPDLPVVVEYKIAEMGYVRFY
AtPCNA	201	EPVSLSFALRYMNSFTKATPLSDTVTISMSADVPLVVEYKVAEMGYIRYY
HsPCNA	201	EPVQLTFALRYLNFFTKATPLSSTVTLSMSADVPLVVEYKIADMGHLKYY
POL30	201	QPVDLTFGAKYLLDIIKGSSLSDRVGIRLSSEAPALFQFDLKS-GFLQFF
PnPCNA PtPCNA AtPCNA HsPCNA POL30	251 251 251 251 251 250	LAPKMEEDEPEPGA LAPKMEEDEPEPGA LAPKIEDEEGS LAPKFNDEE

Figure 19. Comparison of the deduced amino acid sequence of PnPCNA with related sequences. The amino acid identities to PnPCNA are boxed in black, and gaps in the alignment are denoted by dashes. PtPCNA, a hypothetical protein from *P. trichocarpa* (JGI v2 gene model name, POPTR\_0009s04560); AtPCNA, *A. thaliana* PCNA homolog (GenBank ID: AF083220); HsPCNA, human PCNA (M15796); POL30, budding yeast POL30 protein homologous to PCNA (X16676). The lines indicate the typical N-terminal and C-terminal domains which exist in the proliferating cell nuclear antigen family (InterPro ID: IPR000730).



Figure 20. Expression of DNA repair-related genes in different organs and cells of *P. nigra*. The leaves are numbered from the most apical unfolded but not yet expanded leaf to the bottom. S.C.cells, suspension-cultured cells. One microgram of RNA was used for RT-PCR/Southern blotting. The gene-specific RT-PCR products were separated by a 1% agarose gel, blotted, and hybridized with each gene-specific DIG-labeled probe. The *PnPGK* (cytosolic phosphoglycerate kinase 1) gene was used as a control (Nishiguchi et al. 2002).



Figure 21. The effect of  $\gamma$ -irradiation on the gene expression of DNA repair-related proteins. *P. nigra* plantlets were exposed to the indicated doses of  $\gamma$ -rays for 20 h. For RNA preparation, the irradiated shoots were collected 1 h (black), 6 h (dark gray), and 24 h (light gray) after the end of  $\gamma$ -exposure. Total RNA was used for RT-qPCR as described in the Materials and Methods. Relative mRNA levels were normalized to the ubiquitin mRNA. The mRNA level of each gene in the non-irradiated plantlets (0 Gy) sampled at 1 h was defined as 1.0. Error bars represent  $\pm$  SD (n = 3).



Figure 22. Effects of Zeocin treatment on DNA damage and gene expression in suspension-cultured poplar cells. (A) DNA damage of poplar nuclei induced by Zeocin treatment. The indicated concentration of Zeocin was added to the medium of mid-log phase suspension-cultured cells. A Comet assay was performed 6 h after the addition of Zeocin. As the control, sterile water was added to the medium. Scale bar = 50  $\mu$ m. (B) The gene expression of DNA repair-related proteins in the Zeocin-treated cells. Sterile water or Zeocin solution was added to the suspension-cultured cells, which were incubated at 25°C with rotary shaking. For RNA preparation, the cells were collected before (white) and after incubation for 1 h (light gray), 6 h (dark gray), and 24 h (black). RT-qPCR were performed as described in Fig. 21. The mRNA level of each gene in the cells before the treatment was defined as 1.0. Error bars represent  $\pm$  SD (n = 3).



Figure 23. Schematic representation of the T-DNA regions of pBI121 (upper) and pBF2 (lower) binary vectors. Restriction enzyme sites are indicated by lines and arrow heads. The amino acid residue at position 182 of NPTII in pBI121 is aspartic acid, while the aspartic acid is replaced with glutamic acid in pBF2. Abbreviations: RB, right border of T-DNA; LB, left border of T-DNA; PNOS, promoter of the gene for nopaline synthase; NPTII, neomycin phosphotransferase II; TNOS, terminator of the gene for nopaline synthase; P35S, promoter of the gene for the 35S RNA of cauliflower mosaic virus; GUS,  $\beta$ -glucuronidase.



Figure 24. Examples of the cloning of foreign DNAs into pBF2. pBF2 possesses 11 restriction enzyme sites downstream of the promoter (P35S) of the gene for the 35S RNA of cauliflower mosaic virus. (Ex. 1) Insertion of the *SalI-BlnI* fragment into *SalI-BlnI* sites. (Ex. 2) Opposite insertion of the same *SalI-BlnI* fragment as Ex. 1 into *XbaI-SalI* sites. (Ex. 3) Opposite and right insertions of two *XbaI-XhoI* fragments into different sites. (Ex.4) Insertion of the *Eco*RV (blunt end)-*SpeI* fragment into *SmaI-BlnI* sites. (Ex. 5) Opposite insertion of the same *Eco*RV-*SpeI* fragment as Ex. 4 into *SpeI-Bst*1107I sites.



Figure 25. Improved resistance to antibiotics by a reverse mutation of the *NPTII* gene. *Escherichia coli* JM109 was transformed with pBI121 or pBF2. Bacteria harboring the indicated plasmid were streaked onto LB agar medium containing 50 mg  $l^{-1}$  kanamycin (upper) or 20 mg  $l^{-1}$  G418 (lower). The culture media were incubated at 37°C overnight.



Figure 26. Strategy for the improvement of the transformation process of *P. nigra*. To shorten the time for transformation, the transgenic shoots were directly regenerated from the *Agrobacterium*-infected stems and not via calli. Moreover, the use of dithiothreitol (DTT), a reducing agent, at the infection and bactericidal steps of *Agrobacterium* was expected to increase the transformation efficiency.



Figure 27. Schematic representation of the T-DNA regions of pBF2::EGFP (upper) and pIG121Hm (lower) binary vectors for the transformation experiments. Restriction enzyme sites are indicated by lines and arrow heads. RB, right border of T-DNA; LB, left border of T-DNA; PNOS, promoter of the gene for nopaline synthase; TNOS, terminator of the gene for nopaline synthase; NPTII, neomycin phosphotransferase II; P35S, promoter of the gene for the 35S RNA of cauliflower mosaic virus; EGFP, enhanced green fluorescent protein; GUS,  $\beta$ -glucuronidase; HPT, hygromycin phosphotransferase.



Figure 28. The regeneration process for transgenic *P. nigra*. (A) Regeneration of adventitious shoots 8 weeks after transfer into SIM containing kanamycin. (B) Rooting of the transgenic shoots 4 weeks after transfer into RIM containing kanamycin. (C) An EGFP-expressed transgenic plantlet. (D) A control non-transgenic plantlet. All scale bars represent 1 cm.



Figure 29. Confirmation of the introduced *NPTII* gene in the transgenic poplar plants. The PCR-amplified DNA fragments of the *NPTII* gene were separated by electrophoresis on 0.7% agarose gels (arrow). The lines of the transgenic poplar plants are indicated above. Marker, *Hind*III-digested  $\lambda$ DNA.



Figure 30. Fluorescent microscopy of the EGFP-expressed transgenic (pBF2::EGFP) and non-transgenic (WT) poplar plants. All scale bars represent 1 mm.



Figure 31. Analysis of the foreign proteins in the transgenic poplars by SDS-PAGE. The crude proteins (50 µg) extracted from non-transgenic (WT) and transgenic poplar plants were subjected to SDS-PAGE and analyzed. The lines of the transgenic poplar plants are indicated above. (A) The poplars transformed with pIG121Hm. The gel was stained with Coomassie blue R-350 (upper). Immunoblotting was performed using rabbit IgG against GUS (lower). (B) The poplars transformed with pBF2::EGFP. Coomassie blue staining (upper) and immunoblot analysis using rabbit antibody against synthetic peptides of GFP (lower) are shown.



Figure 32. Southern analysis of the transgenic poplar plants. The genomic DNAs from the transgenic and non-transgenic (WT) poplars were digested with *Hin*dIII, electrophoresed, and blotted on Hybond-N+. The lines of the transgenic poplar plants are indicated above. (A) The poplars transformed with pIG121Hm. The DNA-bearing membranes were hybridized with the <sup>32</sup>P-labeled *GUS* gene, washed, and autoradiographed (upper). After the *GUS* probe had been removed, the same membranes were rehybridized with the <sup>32</sup>P-labeled *NPTII* gene (lower). (B) The poplars transformed with pBF2::EGFP. The membranes were hybridized with the <sup>32</sup>P-labeled *EGFP* gene, washed, and autoradiographed (upper). After the *EGFP* probe had been removed, the same membranes were rehybridized with the <sup>32</sup>P-labeled *NPTII* gene (lower).



Figure 33. Antibiotic resistance of the transgenic *P. nigra* plants. Explants of the transgenic poplars with the pBF2::EGFP (top) and pIG121Hm (middle) vectors, and of the control non-transgenic poplar (WT, bottom) were placed on the growth medium in a petri dish. Callus-induction medium (CIM) containing 20 mM MES-KOH (pH 5.8),  $1 \times$  Murashige and Skoog basal salts (MSBS),  $1 \times$  Murashige and Skoog vitamin (MSV), 3% sucrose, 2 mg l<sup>-1</sup> 2,4-D, and 0.8% Bacto Agar was used for callus formation from the petioles (left). SIM was used for the regeneration of adventitious shoots from the stem segments (right). Each medium contained 50 mg l<sup>-1</sup> G418 (upper) or 100 mg l<sup>-1</sup> kanamycin (lower). Photographs were taken 4 weeks after the start of this experiment. All scale bars represent 1 cm.



Figure 34. Biological effects of  $\gamma$ -rays on *P. nigra*. The plantlets of *P. nigra* were able to survive in 50–100 Gy of  $\gamma$ -irradiation, though a growth abnormality was caused. The genes of DNA-repair related proteins were upregulated or downregulated by  $\gamma$ -rays and were probably involved in the repair of the damaged DNA. At the higher dose of  $\gamma$ -irradiation, however, almost all poplars died. This result may be due to unknown harmful effects of  $\gamma$ -rays in addition to DNA damage.



Figure 35. Improved transformation system for *P. nigra*. A new binary vector, pBF2, was constructed (upper). The transformation process was examined, and consequently the transformation efficiency was increased (lower).



Figure 36. Summary of the research in this thesis. The elucidation of biological responses to ionizing radiation (IR) and the improvement of the transformation system for *P. nigra* enhance the value of *P. nigra* as a woody plant model species. A greater understandings of IR stress physiology and improved genetic engineering techniques increase the possibility of developing new applications for poplars.